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Results for Announcement to the Market 

Results for announcement to the market 

Name of issuer Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited 

Reporting Period 12 months to 31 July 2022 

Previous Reporting Period 12 months to 31 July 2021 

Currency NZD 

 Amount (000s) Percentage change 

Revenue from continuing operations $22,953,000 12% 

Total Revenue $23,425,000 11% 

Net profit from continuing operations  $661,000 24% 

Total net profit $583,000 (3%) 

Final Dividend 

Amount per Quoted Equity Security $0.15 

Imputed amount per Quoted Equity Security Not Applicable 

Record Date 29 September 2022 

Dividend Payment Date 14 October 2022 

 Current period Prior comparable period 

Net tangible assets per Quoted Equity 
Security 

$2.86 $2.87 

A brief explanation of any of the figures 
above necessary to enable the figures to be 
understood 

Please refer to the audited financial statements for further 
explanation.    

Authority for this announcement 

Name of person authorised to make this 
announcement 

Anya Wicks 

Contact person for this announcement Anya Wicks 

Contact phone number (09) 374 9341 

Contact email address anya.wicks@fonterra.com 

Date of release through MAP 22/09/2022 

Audited financial statements accompany this announcement. 



 

22 September 2022  
 

 Fonterra announces FY22 Annual Results 

 
 

• Total Group Revenue: NZ$23.4 billion, up 11% 

• Reported Profit After Tax: NZ$583 million, down 3% 

• Normalised Profit After Tax: NZ$591 million, up 1% 

• Total Group normalised EBIT: NZ$991 million, up 4% 

• Net Debt: NZ$5.3 billion, up NZ$1 billion 

• Normalised earnings per share: 35 cents per share, up 1 cent  

• Final 2021/22 Farmgate Milk Price: NZ$9.30 per kgMS 

• FY22 Total Dividend: 20 cents per share (interim: 5 cents; final: 15 cents) 

• Milk collections: 1,478 million kgMS, down 4%   

• NZ$13.7 billion delivered to the New Zealand economy through the Farmgate Milk Price pay-out to 
farmers 

• FY23 Outlook: Forecast 2022/23 Farmgate Milk Price range of NZ$8.50–$10.00 per kgMS, with a 
midpoint of NZ$9.25 per kgMS. Forecast 2022/23 normalised earnings guidance range of 45-60 
cents per share. 

  
Fonterra today announced a strong set of results for the financial year ending 31 July 2022, reflecting a 
2021/22 Farmgate Milk Price of NZ$9.30 per kgMS and normalised profit after tax of NZ$591 million.  
 
With a total dividend of 20 cents per share to our fully shared-up farmers – comprising of an interim 
dividend of 5 cents per share and a final dividend of 15 cents per share – the final cash pay-out for 
farmers is $9.50. 
 
Total Group normalised Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (EBIT) was NZ$991 million, up NZ$39 million 
or 4% on the prior year.  
 
Chief Executive Miles Hurrell says despite the challenges including increased costs associated with 
supply chain volatility, 2021/22 was a good year for the Co-op. 
 
“These results demonstrate that our decisions relating to product mix, market diversification, quality 
products and resilient supply chain, mean the Co-op is able to deliver both a strong milk price and robust 
financial performance in a tough global operating environment. 
 
“The Co-op is pleased to be able to pay a total dividend of 20 cents per share for our farmer owners and 
unit holders. And this year’s higher Farmgate Milk Price is the strongest it has ever been, which is great 
news for our farmers. New Zealand also benefits from this, with $13.7 billion returned into the economy in 
milk price payments alone this year. 
 
“Importantly, one year on, the Co-op is making tangible progress against our strategy – namely to focus 
on New Zealand milk, be a leader in sustainability and a leader in dairy innovation and science. 
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“As part of the strategic review of the ownership of our milk pools outside New Zealand, we continue to 
make progress, with the sales process for the Soprole business progressing. Meanwhile, we’ve looked at 
a number of options for our Australian business and have decided that it’s in the Co-op’s best interests to 
maintain full ownership. 
 
“Australia plays an important role in our consumer strategy with a number of common and complementary 
brands and products and as a destination for our New Zealand milk solids. The business is going well, 
and it will play a key role in helping us get to our 2030 strategic targets.  
 
“As part of our strategy to 2030, we set a goal of a return of about $1 billion to shareholders and 
unitholders which anticipated divestments including Soprole and a stake in our Australian business. Even 
though we have decided not to sell a stake in our Australian business, we are still committed to targeting a 
significant capital return to our shareholders and unitholders. The amount of any capital return will 
ultimately be determined on a number of factors including the successful completion of the divestment 
programme as well as our ongoing debt and earnings levels.  
 
“Our positive performance in 2021/22 would not have been possible without the continuing hard work of 
employees and our farmer owners, and I want to thank every one of them for their commitment and 
support.” 
 
Performance 
 
Mr Hurrell says despite tight supply there was robust demand from global customers for dairy, which has 
helped Fonterra deliver a strong milk price and financial performance.  
 
“Total Group Revenue increased $2.3 billion to $23.4 billion due to higher product prices, but sales 
volumes decreased in FY22 due to short-term shifts in demand and ongoing shipping and supply 
disruptions. 
 
“Strong margins in the Ingredients channel, particularly in the final quarter, resulted in an increase in our 
gross profit. However, total gross margin was down due to the higher cost of milk on our Foodservice and 
Consumer channels during the year. 
 
“Our Total Group normalised EBIT of NZ$991 million, up 4%, reflects improved margins in our Ingredients 
channel but is partially offset by the higher milk price which placed pressure on margins in our Consumer 
and Foodservice channels. 
 
“A series of geopolitical and economic events also impacted our performance – including a NZ$80 million 
adverse revaluation of the Co-op’s Sri Lankan business payables, due to the devaluation of the rupee.  
 
“Total Group operating expenses were up in FY22, by 7% to NZ$2.4 billion, with underlying operating 
expenses increasing due in part to inflationary pressures and supply costs. 
 
“Our normalised profit after tax of NZ$591 million was up 1% on last year, due to higher earnings. 
 
“We have higher inventory than usual at the end of the 2022 financial year due to stronger milk collections 
towards the end of the season coinciding with factory constraints, short-term impacts on demand and 
shipping disruptions. 88% of our year inventory is contracted, which means the sale price has been 
agreed and the product contracted, however the inventory had not been shipped at the balance date. The 
first six weeks of the new financial year have showed good progress with shipment of this inventory. We 
have flexibility in relation to inventory levels due to the strength of our balance sheet. 
 
“The increased inventory, coupled with the higher milk price, has also increased our working capital 
throughout the year, and our net debt position at year end. Our net debt was NZ$5.3 billion, up NZ$1 
billion, and as a result our Debt/EBITDA ratio increased to 3.2x from 2.7x and our gearing ratio increased 
from 38.5% to 42.4%. We expect these measures to improve as our working capital returns to normal 
levels. Even with the higher working capital, our return on capital has increased from 6.6% to 6.8%, as a 
result of the improvement in our EBIT. 
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Mr Hurrell says FY22 saw a mixed performance across Fonterra’s three regional markets. 
 
“Africa, Middle East, Europe, North Asia, Americas (AMENA) normalised EBIT was NZ$527 million, up 
57%, due to the improved gross margin in its Ingredients channel. Asia Pacific (APAC) normalised EBIT 
was NZ$237 million, down 22%, with the improved performance in APAC’s Ingredients channel more than 
offset by the somewhat weaker Consumer and Foodservice channels. Greater China normalised EBIT 
was NZ$432 million, up 7%, with an improved performance in its Ingredients channel partially offset by 
lower margins in the Foodservice and Consumer channels, as a result of the higher cost of milk. 
 
Strategy 
 
Mr Hurrell says it’s been a year since the Co-op announced its long-term strategy.  
 
“While it’s still early days and the shift from reset to growth continues, I am pleased with the progress we 
are making driving greater customer value and meeting the increasing demand for sustainable dairy and 
innovative nutrition and science solutions.  
 
“Over the past 12 months we have been working through how we adapt our organisational structure to 
accelerate progress against our strategy. To grow the value we derive from our New Zealand milk through 
our sustainability credentials, innovation, and nutrition science, we have established two new Fonterra 
Management Team (FMT) roles. These two roles and the subsequent structural realignment serve to 
increase visibility and focus on innovation and strategic implementation – and drive performance in these 
areas. 
 
“We continue to believe that New Zealand milk is the highest quality and most sought-after milk in the 
world. Our milk has a carbon footprint, one third the global average for milk production due to our grass-
fed farming model. Pleasingly, the Co-op has maintained its share of the New Zealand milk supply market 
in a very competitive market. 
 
“We’ve also made progress with our capital restructure and will continue to engage with Government. We 
believe a globally competitive farmer owned Co-op is in the best interests of the dairy industry, rural 
communities and New Zealand. 
 
“Equally in the 12 months to 31 July 2022, Fonterra has continued to strive for a better future for the 
environment upon which we depend and has made solid progress against some of our key sustainability 
targets. Water use by manufacturing sites in water-constrained regions reduced, now 6.6% below FY18 
baseline, and around 71% of shareholder farms now have a Farm Environment Plan – a substantial 
undertaking by our Farmer Shareholders and the Farm Source team. 
 
“To respond to the ongoing expectations of customers and communities for more sustainable products, 
we have continued to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions, and transition away from the use of coal. 
We continue to progress the decarbonisation of our light and heavy vehicle fleets, and we have 
progressed the on-farm trial of Asparagopsis seaweed as supplemental feed for dairy cows. We are also 
working in partnership with the New Zealand Government on an agricultural emissions partnership. 
 
“The Co-op is absolutely committed to taking a leadership position in sustainability right across our value 
chain, investing significantly to provide leadership against global competitors and to build long-term 
resilience.  
 
“In 2021/22 Fonterra continued its long and proud heritage of dairy innovation, to solve problems our 
customers face in their operations and to help people around the world live healthier and longer lives. 
 
“We have continued to lead the way in dairy science and innovation, both in the products we’re innovating 
and the way in which we innovate. Two examples of this innovation are the MinION genome sequencing 
device, which provides dairy DNA results at pace and at a quarter of the previous cost, and the launch of 
an exciting new Whey Protein Concentrate (WPC) which can be used to create different textures in high 
protein yoghurt. 
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“In summary, in 2021/22 we have made good progress in the implementation of our strategy to increase 
the value of every drop of milk and deliver higher returns. We look forward to reporting further progress 
updates in the future, and we remain committed to delivering our 10-year aspirations,” says Mr Hurrell. 
 
FY23 Outlook 
 
Fonterra has announced a forecast 2022/23 Farmgate Milk Price range of NZ$8.50–$10.00 per kgMS, 
with a midpoint of NZ$9.25 per kgMS. The Co-op also forecasts 2023 normalised earnings guidance of 
45-60 cents per share. 
 
“The longer-term outlook for dairy remains positive. And in the medium-term, we expect to see an easing 
in some of the geopolitical events, namely the COVID-19 lockdowns in China and the economic 
challenges in Sri Lanka. This has been reflected in our earnings guidance and forecast Farmgate Milk 
Price for the 2022/23 season. 
 
“We continue to monitor a number of risks. The strength of our balance sheet means we remain in a 
strong position to weather uncertainty and market volatility. Our ability to refocus our product mix through 
our diverse and flexible operations footprint, means the Co-op’s milk will continue to be delivered to 
wherever the most value can be obtained for our farmer owners. 
 
“The future for our Co-op is exciting,” says Mr Hurrell. 
 
ENDS 

 

Non-GAAP financial information 
Fonterra uses several non-GAAP measures when discussing financial performance. Non-GAAP measures are not defined or 
specified by NZ IFRS. 
 
Management believes that these measures provide useful information as they provide valuable insight on the underlying 
performance of the business. They may be used internally to evaluate the underlying performance of business units and to 
analyse trends. These measures are not uniformly defined or utilised by all companies. Accordingly, these measures may not be 
comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be viewed in 
isolation nor considered as a substitute for measures reported in accordance with NZ IFRS. Non-GAAP measures are not subject 
to audit unless they are included in Fonterra’s audited annual financial statements. 
 
Please refer to the non-GAAP measures section in Fonterra’s 2022 Annual Review for reconciliation of NZ IFRS to non-GAAP 
measures, and the Glossary for definitions of non-GAAP measures referred to by Fonterra. 
  

For further information contact: 
 
Fonterra Communications  
24-hour media line  
Phone: +64 21 507 072 

 
About Fonterra  
  
Fonterra is a co-operative owned and supplied by about 9,000 farming families in Aotearoa New Zealand. Through the 
spirit of co-operation and a can-do attitude, Fonterra’s farmers and employees share the goodness of our milk through 
innovative consumer, foodservice and ingredients brands. Sustainability is at the heart of everything we do, and we’re 
committed to leaving things in a better way than we found them. We are passionate about supporting our communities 
by Doing Good Together.  

 

https://www.fonterra.com/nz/en.html
https://www.fonterra.com/nz/en/our-co-operative/the-way-we-farm/fonterra-farmers.html
https://www.fonterra.com/nz/en/goodness-of-nz-milk/what-makes-nz-milk-good.html
https://www.fonterra.com/nz/en/our-co-operative/brands-and-markets.html
https://www.anchorfoodprofessionals.com/global/en.html
https://www.nzmp.com/global/en.html
https://www.fonterra.com/nz/en/embracing-sustainability.html
https://www.fonterra.com/nz/en/in-the-community.html


Confidential to Fonterra Co-operative Group



2

Farmgate Milk Price

Dividend

Reported profit after tax¹

Normalised profit after tax¹

²

Note: Figures are Total Group, which includes continuing and discontinued operations 
1. Includes amounts attributable to non-controlling interests 
2. Attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative, excludes $23 million of normalised profit after tax

attributable to non-controlling interests
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Monthly Milk Price 2020/2021 Season

Monthly Milk Price 2021/2022 Season

Reference product shipment price² ³

Non-reference product shipment price² ⁴

1. Source: GlobalDairyTrade
2. The shipment price is a weighted average price of GDT contracts struck 1 to 5 months prior to the agreed shipment month. Shipment month is the month in which the sale would be deemed for financial reporting purposes to have been 

completed, and will normally be the month in which the sale is invoiced and the product is shipped
3. Reference product shipment price is represented by a weighted average of the WMP, SMP, AMF and Butter prices achieved on GDT 
4. Non-reference product shipment price is represented by the cheddar prices achieved on GDT

31 May 31 Aug 30 Nov 28 Feb

(US$/MT)

31 Jul 21 31 Jan 22

¹

31 Jul 22

H1 FY22 H2 FY22

31 May

(NZ$)
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Lower milk 

volume to convert 

into product

Increased costs 

mainly due to 

inflationary pressure 

on cash costs
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Asia Pacific AMENA Greater China

2021 2022

% of milk solids% of milk solids

GDT Core Active Living Foodservice Consumer

Note: The tables are prepared on a continuing operations basis.
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¹

¹ ²

³

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July
1. Prepared on a normalised continuing operations basis. Normalised EBIT contributions sum to $1,196 million, and does not align to reported continuing operations due to excluding unallocated costs and eliminations. Comparative 

information includes re-presentations for consistency with the current period
2. Inclusive of Group Operations’ EBIT attribution
3. Includes $(80) million adverse revaluation of payables in Sri Lanka
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million 2021¹ %Δ²

Sales volume (‘000 MT) 4,102 (4)%

Revenue ($) 21,124 11%

Cost of goods sold ($) (18,010) (12)%

Gross profit ($) 3,114 7%

Gross margin (%) 14.7%

Operating expenses ($) (2,242) (7)%

Other³ ($) 80 (40)%

Normalised EBIT ($) 952 4%

Normalised profit after tax⁴ ($) 588 1%

Normalised EPS⁵ (cents) 34 3%

Note: Total Group figures are for the year ended 31 July. This includes continuing and discontinued 
operations and are on a normalised basis unless otherwise stated
1. 2021 performance includes Ying and Yutian China Farming hubs and China Farms joint venture, 

which were sold during FY21
2. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers 

in the table due to rounding of figures

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss on equity 
accounted investees

4. Includes amounts attributable to non-controlling interests 
5. Attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative, excludes $23 million of normalised profit after tax attributable to 

non-controlling interests



9

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Net Debt ($ billion)

-1

0

1

2

3

4

5

0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Gearing Ratio² (%) Debt to EBITDA (x)

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Working Capital Days

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Return on Capital (%)

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July except where otherwise stated
1. As at 31 July. Refer to Glossary for definition
2. Comparative figures are shown on a consistent basis with current year
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NEXT

5 YEARS

NEXT

10 YEARS

NEXT

15 YEARS
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EBIT increase 

from FY21
Return on capital

in sustainability  moving more milk to    

higher value products 

Intended to be distributed to shareholders after asset sales

Increase dividends to

cents per share

per annum in 

R&D

for mix of 

investment in 

further growth and 

return to 

shareholders

Aspiration to be

Note: These targets are based on assumptions and risks that are set out in the Appendix to the booklet Our Path to 2030, including the assumption of an average Farmgate Milk Price for the decade of $6.50 - $7.50 per kgMS.
We are aiming to achieve these targets and they should not be taken as forecasts or guarantees of returns. They are subject to successfully completing a number of business initiatives. 
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FY20

Actual

FY21

Actual

FY22

Forecast

FY24

Year 3 Target

FY27

Year 6 Target

Improved performance

Milk Price per kgMS ($) $7.14 $7.54

Normalised EBIT ($m) $879m $952m $875-$975m $1,025-$1,125m $1,150-$1,250m

Earnings per share (CPS)                                      24c 34c 25-40c 45-55c 50-60c

Return on capital 6.6% 6.6% 6.5-7.0% 7.0-8.0% 7.5-8.5%

Financial position

Capital investment ($m) $525m $608m $650m $980m $980m

Debt to EBITDA ratio 3.3x 2.7x 2.4x¹ <2.5x <2.5x

Gearing ratio 44% 39% 35%¹ <35% <35%

Dividend to shareholders

Dividends (CPS) 5c 20c 15-20c 22-27c 30-35c

1. Calculated using an EPS of 35 cents

Note: The figures in this table which relate to dates in the future are targets we are aiming to achieve only. They should not be taken as forecasts or as a guarantee of returns to shareholders. The target years assume long-term 

average levels of price relativity and lag pricing impacts, and individual years are likely to vary from this assumption. Please refer to the important cautions and disclaimer at the beginning of this document and the key assumptions and 

risks in the Appendix of the booklet titled Our Path to 2030 for further details.
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Full and accurate Farm Dairy 

Records kept and submitted 

by 30 June 2022

Have and implement an Animal 

Wellbeing Plan developed on 

farm with your vet

Farm Environment Plan in 

place with three out of five 

key practices being achieved

Complete the DairyNZ 

Workplace 360 Assessment 

and achieve 100% on Part 1
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2022/23 Forecast Farmgate Milk Price

per kgMS

Midpoint of per kgMS

Forecast Earnings

per share





2022 Annual Results



21

• Fonterra has delivered a higher Farmgate Milk Price and strong 

earnings, total pay-out of $9.50 per kgMS

• Diversified and resilient earnings – top end of guidance

• Good progress on key drivers of our strategy, focusing on New 

Zealand milk, sustainability, and dairy innovation and science

• Increased working capital has driven higher debt levels but will 

improve as working capital returns to normal levels in FY23

• Continued strong dairy industry fundamentals

¹

¹

²

Note: Figures are Total Group, which includes continuing and discontinued operations 
1. Includes amounts attributable to non-controlling interests 
2. Attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative, excludes $23 million of normalised profit after tax

attributable to non-controlling interests



Reference product shipment price² ³
Non-reference product shipment price² ⁴

Monthly Milk Price 2020/2021 Season

Monthly Milk Price 2021/2022 Season

1. Source: GlobalDairyTrade
2. The shipment price is a weighted average price of GDT contracts struck 1 to 5 months prior to the agreed shipment month. Shipment month is the month in which the sale would be deemed for financial reporting purposes to have been 

completed, and will normally be the month in which the sale is invoiced and the product is shipped
3. Reference product shipment price is represented by a weighted average of the WMP, SMP, AMF and butter prices achieved on GDT 
4. Non-reference product shipment price is represented by the cheddar prices achieved on GDT

• Consistently higher monthly milk price across 

the 2021/22 season compared to prior season

• The average of the monthly milk prices are 

equivalent to $7.54 and $9.30 for 2020/21 and the 

2021/22 seasons, respectively 

• Narrow price relativities in the first half; strong 

increase in non-reference product prices improving 

price relativities in second half

• More favourable than expected price relativities 

contributed to stronger fourth quarter earnings

6.00

10.00

(NZ$)

31 May 31 Aug 30 Nov 28 Feb

8.00

Monthly Milk Prices

22

3,000

4,000

31 Jul 21 31 Jan 22

Reference and non-reference 

price relativities on GDT¹(US$/MT)

31 Jul 22

,

,

H1 FY22 H2 FY22

5,000

6,000

31 May



FY21 

Farmgate 

Milk Price

FY22 

Farmgate 

Milk Price

Volume Product 

prices 

Revenue

Foreign 

exchange

Net 

costs1

• Lower milk volume to convert into product

• Product prices increased, with the average WMP 

price in the 2022 season 20.9% higher at 

US$4,019 per metric tonne compared to US$3,323 

per metric tonne in the prior year

• Impact of foreign exchange increased as a result 

of the higher hedged rate due to the NZ dollar 

strengthening over the prior seasons 

• Increased costs mainly due to 

inflationary pressure on cash costs

1. Net costs include capital costs and cash costs



• Increased revenue from higher product prices, partially offset by 

lower sales volumes reflecting lower milk collections in the first 

nine months of the year and shipping disruptions

• Higher gross profit despite increased cost of milk, driven by 

gross margin achieved in Ingredients, particularly in the 

protein portfolio 

• Operating expenses up due to inflationary pressures, supply 

chain disruption and impairment of some of our Asia brands⁶

• ‘Other’ includes $(80) million adverse revaluation of the 

Sri Lankan business payables due to devaluation of the rupee

• Normalised profit after tax is up $3 million, due to higher 

earnings and favourable interest expense

million ¹ ∆²

Sales volume (‘000 MT)

Revenue ($)

Cost of goods sold ($)

Gross profit ($)

Gross margin (%)

Operating expenses ($)

Other³ ($)

Normalised EBIT ($)

Normalised profit after 

tax⁴ ($) 

Normalised EPS⁵ (cents)

24

Note: Total Group figures are for the year ended 31 July. This includes continuing and discontinued 
operations and are on a normalised basis unless otherwise stated
1. 2021 performance includes Ying and Yutian China Farming hubs and China Farms joint venture, 

which were sold during FY21
2. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers 

in the table due to rounding of figures

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss on equity 
accounted investees

4. Includes amounts attributable to non-controlling interests 
5. Attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative, excludes $23 million of normalised profit after tax 

attributable to non-controlling interests
6. The impairment includes a $22 million impairment of Anlene, an $11 million impairment of Anmum and a $1 

million impairment of Chesdale, with the carrying amount of these brands now at $336 million as at 31 July 
2022. Our Asia brands also include Anchor which was not impaired



GDT Core Active Living Foodservice Consumer

2021 2022

25

Ingredients

• A key driver of our strategy and earnings growth is 

shifting milk into higher margin products

• Active Living allocation increased as demand for 

milk protein concentrate, casein and caseinate 

products grew

• Foodservice allocation has continued to grow as 

innovation enabled us to expand the uses of 

UHT cream

• Percentage of milk solids in our Consumer channel 

reduced due to limiting sales volumes in Sri Lanka 

while the crisis unfolds
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¹

¹ ²

³

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July
1. Prepared on a normalised continuing operations basis. Normalised EBIT contributions sum to $1,196 million, and does not align to reported continuing operations due to excluding unallocated costs and eliminations. Comparative 

information includes re-presentations for consistency with the current period
2. Inclusive of Group Operations’ EBIT attribution
3. Includes $(80) million adverse revaluation of payables in Sri Lanka

¹ ²



¹

²

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and prepared on a normalised continuing operations basis. Comparative information includes re-presentations for consistency with the current period
1. Eliminations and unallocated costs
2. Includes $(80) million adverse revaluation of payables in Sri Lanka 27



91.4% 91.9%

94.0%
95.0% 94.5%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

$95m $90m 

$58m $58m 
$72m 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

• As we shift our product mix towards 

higher value products manufacturing 

complexity increases. We expect to 

return to our underlying upward trend

• Higher value of milk per tonne, two 

specific bacterial issues in NZ and an 

ingredient formulation issue 

contributed to higher cost of quality. 

The cost is equivalent to 0.4% of NZ

cost of goods sold

96.2%

96.4% 96.4% 96.4%

96.5%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

28Note: Metrics are for the year ended 31 July

• Increased utilisation of milk solids 

while manufacturing a more complex 

product mix as we shift volume to our 

Active Living portfolio, including 

manufacturing 8% less WMP



6.6
6.0

5.2

4.3

5.3

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Net Debt ($ billion)

50% 50% 44% 39% 42%

4.6 4.3
3.3

2.7
3.2

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Gearing Ratio² (%)

Debt to EBITDA (x)
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• Our ‘A band’ credit rating and key metrics 

demonstrate our strong balance sheet position

• These metrics have increased but will improve as 

working capital returns to normal levels 

throughout FY23

o FY23 sales and shipping profile supports 

inventory levels returning to normal 

• Improved return on capital due to higher earnings 

offsetting the impact of additional working capital on 

our capital employed

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July except where otherwise stated
1. As at 31 July. Refer to Glossary for definition
2. Comparative figures are shown on a consistent basis with current year

82.7 82.8 84.8 90.6
95.7

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Working Capital Days

6.2%
5.6%

6.6% 6.6% 6.8%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Return on Capital (%)



1. Excluding working capital
2. Includes supplier payables and other movements  30

FY21 

net debt

Increase in 

working 

capital

Operating 

cashflows1

Interest, 

dividend & 

other

Net capex & 

investments

FY22 

net debt

Increase in working capital

Receivables
Payables 

& other2Inventory

• Strong balance sheet enabled us to hold higher 

working capital through year end

• Increase of $1.6 billion in working capital resulted in 

an increase in year end net debt of $1.0 billion

o 88% of total inventory was priced and 

contracted but not shipped at year end

• Net debt position will improve as working capital 

returns to normal levels throughout the year

o FY23 sales and shipping profile supports 

inventory levels returning to normal 



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Other capital invested Business growth capital expenditure

Essential capital expenditure

• Total capital invested was $617 million, comprised of 

capital expenditure of $587 million and other capital 

invested of $30 million

• Of the $587 million capital expenditure:

o $534 million was allocated to essential projects 

to maintain and improve existing assets

o $53 million was allocated to business growth 

projects to drive future earnings growth

• The $30 million of other investments mainly 

comprised of right-of-use assets and equity 

investments, including investment in new 

innovation opportunities

Note: Refer to Glossary for definition of capital invested and capital expenditure 31
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• The majority of our capital invested is allocated to 

Group Operations to ensure our processing sites 

are fit for purpose

• Key projects for FY22 include: 

o wastewater upgrades at our Te Awamutu and 

Tirau site

o biomass boiler installation to replace coal at 

several sites

o improving refrigerant technology at Whareroa

• Asia Pacific’s capital spend included acquiring a 

secondary cheese processing site in Australia to 

further expand our cheese manufacturing lines



• Reducing annual manufacturing emissions by 

converting coal boilers to wood biomass: 

o completion of Te Awamutu in FY21 reduced 

our emissions from coal by more than 9%3. 

The project cost $11 million

o Stirling to be completed during FY23 will 

reduce our emissions from coal by about 2%3. 

The project is expected to cost $30 million 

o one boiler at Waitoa to be completed in FY24. 

Expected to reduce our emissions from coal 

by more than 5%3. The project is expected to 

cost $102 million

24,456 23,622 23,328 22,353

2,201 2,115 2,043 1,944

FY18 - baseline FY20 FY21 FY22

Farming Manufacturing Distribution and other

891 894 795 766

1,310 1,221 1,248 1,178

FY18 - baseline FY20 FY21 FY22

Coal Other

²

¹ ²

2,115 2,043 1,944
2,201

1. Farming and Manufacturing emissions do not add to Total GHG emissions. Distribution and other emissions are not displayed, these are less than 1% of our total emissions
2. Measured in 000’s tC02-e
3. Relative to FY18, the baseline year

26,867 25,931 25,572

33

24,480



• Return on capital improved from 6.6% to 

6.8%, reflecting:

o increase in normalised EBIT, partially 

offset by; 

o additional working capital increasing 

our average capital employed

• The impact on the average capital 

employed from the higher working capital 

in the second half was largely offset by 

lower net debt in the first half 

34



EBIT increase 

from FY21
Return on capital

PERFORMANCE TARGETS 

in sustainability  

invested in moving more 

milk to higher value 

products 

INVESTMENT

DISTRIBUTION 

OF FUNDS
Intended to be distributed to shareholders 

after asset sales

Increase dividends to

cents per share

per annum in 

R&D

for mix of investment in 

further growth and return 

to shareholders

Aspiration to be

Note: These targets are based on assumptions and risks that are set out in the Appendix to the booklet Our Path to 2030, including the assumption of an average Farmgate Milk Price for the decade of $6.50 - $7.50 per kgMS.
We are aiming to achieve these targets and they should not be taken as forecasts or guarantees of returns. They are subject to successfully completing a number of business initiatives. 35

OUR STRATEGIC CHOICES
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30 Nov 22

per kgMS

2021/2022 

Season

2020/2021

Season

2022/2023

Season 

Forecast(US$/MT)

Source: GlobalDairyTrade. Data is up to GDT event 315 on 6 September 2022
1. Reference product shipment price is represented by a weighted average of the WMP, SMP, AMF and butter prices 
2. The shipment price is a weighted average price of GDT contracts struck 1 to 5 months prior to the agreed shipment month. Shipment month is the month in which the sale would be deemed for financial reporting purposes to have been 

completed, and will normally be the month in which the sale is invoiced and the product is shipped
3. The contracted shipment price is the weighted average shipment price of GDT contracts won 1 to 5 months prior on the GDT platform. These contracts are yet to be shipped or invoiced and the weighted average price will change closer to 

the actual shipment date as new contracts are written 

• Midpoint of $9.25 per kgMS reflects:

o constrained supply as growth from key milk 

producing regions expected to remain low

o continuing strong underlying demand

• The wide range reflects several risks, such as 

COVID-19 and macroeconomic factors, including 

global inflation, global economic growth and volatility 

in foreign exchange markets

3,000

4,000
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,

,

31 May 20 31 May 21 31 May 22

Reference product shipment price¹ ²

Reference contract product shipment price¹ ³

Average reference product shipment price for the season



per share

Source: GlobalDairyTrade. Data is up to GDT event 315 on 6 September 2022
1. The shipment price is a weighted average price of GDT contracts struck 1 to 5 months prior to the agreed shipment month. Shipment month is the month in which the sale would be deemed for financial reporting purposes to have been 

completed, and will normally be the month in which the sale is invoiced and the product is shipped
2. The contracted shipment price is the weighted average shipment price of GDT contracts won 1 to 5 months prior on the GlobalDairyTrade platform. These contracts are yet to be shipped or invoiced and the weighted average price will 

change closer to the actual shipment date as new contracts are written
3. Reference product shipment price is represented by a weighted average of the WMP, SMP, AMF and butter prices achieved on GDT 
4. Non-reference product shipment price is represented by the cheddar prices achieved on GDT

4,000

5,000

FY22

H1

FY23

H1

• The range reflects:

o continuing strong underlying demand

o sustained favourable price relativities between 

our reference and non-reference portfolios

o protein portfolio contract rate well positioned for 

this stage of the season

(US$/MT)

,

,

,

,

FY22

H2
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31 Jul 21 31 Jan 22 31 Jul 22 31 Jan 23

Reference product shipment price¹ ³
Non-reference product shipment price¹ ⁴
Reference product contract shipment price² ³
Non-reference product contract shipment price² ⁴

31 Jan 23
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¹

1. Total Group figures for the year ended 31 July. This includes continuing and discontinued operations, and are on a normalised basis unless stated otherwise

1,505 1,523 1,517 1,539 1,478

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

NZ Milk Collection (million kgMS)

2,496
2,282 2,323 2,242

2,397

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Opex ($ million)

3,152 3,008 3,208 3,114
3,340 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Gross Profit ($ million)

20.4 19.9 21.0 21.1
23.4

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Revenue ($ billion)

4,123 4,152 4,069 4,102 3,924

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Sales Volume ('000 MT)

$6.69 $6.35 $7.14 $7.54 $9.30

$0.10 $0.00
$0.05 $0.20

$0.20

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Milk Price ($) Dividend ($)

$6.79 $6.35
$7.19 $7.74

$9. 50
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1. Total Group figures for the year ended 31 July. This includes continuing and discontinued operations, and are on a normalised basis unless stated otherwise
2. Includes amounts attributable to non-controlling interests
3. Refer to Glossary for definition
4. Comparative figures are shown on a consistent basis with current year

²

³
²

¹

50.1% 49.5% 44.2% 38.5% 42.4%

4.6 4.3

3.3
2.7

3.2

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Gearing Ratio⁴ (%)

Debt to EBITDA (x)

861
600

419 545 587

161

124

106
63 30

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Capex Other

(196)

(610)

659 599 583

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Reported NPAT ($ million)

407

275

398

588 591

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Normalised NPAT ($ million)

262

(17)

1,147 
959 976

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Reported EBIT ($ million)

902 812 879 952 991 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

EBIT ($ million)

1,022

724

525
608 617

41



²

²

1. Total Group figures for the year ended 31 July. This includes continuing and discontinued operations, and are on a normalised basis unless stated otherwise 
2. Refer to Glossary for definition

¹
6.2%

5.6%
6.6% 6.6% 6.8%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Return on Capital (%)

24
16

24

34 35

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Normalised EPS (cents)

83 83 85
91

96

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Working Capital Days

600 

1,095 

1,828 
1,417 

(324)

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Free Cash Flow ($ million)

42
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Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

Season Total Milk Solids 

(kgMS)

Peak Day 

Milk

2019/20 1,517m (down 0.4%) 83m litres

2020/21 1,539m (up 1.5%) 83m litres

2021/22 1,478m (down 4.0%) 80m litres

Volume (m litres/day) • Fonterra’s NZ milk collection for the 2021/22 

season reached 1,478 million kgMS, a 4.0% 

decrease on last season

• Cold and wet spring with limited sunshine 

affected pasture growth and collections early 

in the season 

• Improved North Island collections later in the 

season due to favourable growing 

conditions, offset by hot and dry conditions 

in lower South Island

• Rain at the very end of the season allowed 

for pasture covers to recover, ahead of the 

new season

• Maintained NZ milk market share at 79.1%

43



¹ ¹ ¹ ¹

²

1. Refer to Note 1a and 2b of the FY22 Annual Financial Statements
2. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss on equity accounted investees accounted investees 44
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¹

²

¹

²

1. Includes amount attributable to non-controlling interests
2. Attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative 46



¹

¹

²

³

• Total dividend of 20 cents per share

o Interim dividend of 5 cents

o Final dividend of 15 cents 

• Final dividend of 15 cents per share will be paid on 

14 October, with interim dividend of 5 cents per 

share having been paid on 14 April

• Total dividend represents 59% of 

attributable earnings 

1. Attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative, excludes non-controlling interest

2. Represents net earnings as specified in the Dividend Policy and is calculated as reported profit after tax less abnormal gains

3. FY21 includes the reversal of previous impairment of our China Farms
47



Increase in 

working capital
Inventory Receivables

Payables & 

other¹

FY21 inventory 

value

FY22 inventory 

value
Cost Volume 

599

(‘000 MT)

725

(‘000 MT)

481. Includes supplier payables and other movements 

• Significantly higher working capital throughout the year 

and year end, up $1.6 billion, reflecting:

o higher milk price – impacts both receivables and 

inventory 

o higher levels of inventory throughout second half and 

year end

• Higher year end inventory reflects late season milk 

production coinciding with shipping constraints 

o 88% of total inventory was priced and contracted but 

not shipped at year end

o FY23 sales profile and shipping schedule supports 

inventory levels returning to normal levels 



¹

²

³

Note: Comparative figures are shown on a consistent basis with current year

1. Includes EBIT, non-cash and non-operating adjustments made to EBIT to determine cash generated from operations

2. Capital expenditure presented in this table is different to capital expenditure on the Capital Invested page primarily due to treatment of livestock and accruals

3. Net debt includes amounts attributable to disposal groups held for sale 

• Increase in net debt of $1 billion mainly due to 

higher working capital and lower proceeds from 

asset sales

• Free cash flow of $(324) million was $1.7 billion 

lower than last year, which reflects:

o cash generated from operations increased 

$479 million due to strong underlying 

performance, offset by;

o increase in working capital $(1.6) billion due 

to the higher milk price and inventory levels

o net cash flows from investing activities down 

by $740 million, with prior year benefiting from 

asset sales

49



²

1. Includes undrawn facilities and 

commercial paper. DCM is debt capital 

markets

2. Excluding commercial paper

3. Undrawn facilities includes $0.4bn stepped 

down during the year, reinstated from 

1 Sept 2022

4. WATM is weighted average term to maturity

Note: As at 31 July 2022 and excludes 

amounts attributable to disposal groups 

held for sale

0.0 1.0 2.0 3.0

FY23

FY24

FY25

FY26

FY27

FY28

FY29

FY30

FY31

0.0 1.0 2.0 3.0

FY23

FY24

FY25

FY26

FY27

FY28

FY29

FY30

FY31

$ billion

WATM4: 3.5 years

$ billion

WATM4: 3.6 years

Undrawn 

Facilities3

$2.7bn

73%

Drawn Facilities 

$1.0bn

27%

EUR/GBP 

15%

AUD DCM 

10%

CNY DCM 

2%

NZD DCM 

7%

USD DCM 

16%

Bank 

Facilities 

50%

¹

5050



1. Normalised basis. Does not align to FY22 Annual Financial Statements, predominately due to 

additional categories

2. $59 million of ‘Other’ expenses have been reclassified to Administration expenses for consistency with the 

current period

¹ ²

51

• Total Group operating expenses increased $155 million 

reflecting:

o inflationary pressure and supply chain disruptions 

increased distribution & storage, and administration 

expenses by $81 million

o increased ‘Other’ expenses of $56 million reflects Asia 

brands impairment and costs associated with discontinuing 

some products that are not aligned with our strategy

• Unallocated costs decreased $18 million due to releasing a 

provision held at Group level

• Increased costs in discontinued operations due to higher 

distribution and storage costs in DPA Brazil



¹

1. Refer to Glossary for definition

2. Normalised basis

²

1. Refer to Glossary for definition

2. Normalised basis
52

• Unallocated costs are favourable $18 million largely due 

to ‘Other’

• ‘Other’ is favourable due to release of a provision at Group level 

following a final judicial interpretation on the application of the 

Holidays Act 2003 in New Zealand to certain discretionary 

incentive payments



Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July. Does not add to Total Group as shown on a normalised continuing operations basis and excludes unallocated costs and eliminations. Comparative information includes re-presentations for 
consistency with the current period 

$ million 2021 2022

Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBITGross profit EBIT

53



Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 

Comparative information includes re-presentations for consistency with the current period 

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in 

the table due to rounding of figures
2. Includes sales to other channels
3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss 

on equity accounted investees

4. Includes EBIT attribution from Group Operations

5. Included in Ingredients’ EBIT. Refer to Glossary for explanation of Group Operations
54

∆¹

²

³

⁴

Includes EBIT attribution 

from Group Operations⁵ ($)
(109) 260 -

• Strong performance in the Ingredients channel across multiple 

markets and products at a time of constrained milk supply

• Gross profit and margins improved reflecting:

o higher product prices, particularly in our protein portfolio 

o improved product mix, including increased allocation to 

our higher value Active Living products, partially offset by;

o reduced sales volumes due to lower milk collections and 

shipping disruptions

• ‘Other’ up due to higher other operating income and favourable

foreign exchange movements 

• Favourable allocation from Group Operations reflects improved 

margins, particularly in casein



• The average reference product sales price per 

metric tonne has increased 23%, driven by all products:

o in particular, AMF and butter, fat-based products 

increased 31% and 29%, respectively

• The average non-reference product sales price per 

metric tonne has increased 20%: 

o strong performance from individual products such 

as casein and whey protein concentrate (WPC)

o other products, such as cheese, have had more 

modest prices increases

• Cost of milk increased 25% and 22% for reference 

products and non-reference products, respectively, with 

fat-based products getting higher allocation of milk cost 

relative to protein products  

¹

¹

55

1. Excludes bulk liquid milk. Bulk liquid milk for the year ended 31 July 2022 was 68,000 MT of kgMS equivalent (the year ended July 2021 was 72,000 MT of kgMS equivalent)

Note: Figures represent Fonterra-sourced New Zealand milk only. Reference products are products used in the calculation of the Farmgate Milk Price – WMP, SMP, BMP, Butter and AMF. Milk solids used in the products sold were 919 million 
kgMS in reference products and 424 million kgMS non-reference products (previous comparative period 1,019 million kgMS reference products and 442 million non-reference products)
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Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis 

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in the

table due to rounding of figures
2. Includes sales to other channels

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss 

on equity accounted investees

4. Includes EBIT attribution from Group Operations

5. Included in Foodservice’s EBIT. Refer to Glossary for explanation of Group Operations

∆¹

²

³

⁴

Includes EBIT attribution 

from Group Operations⁵ ($)
4 (71) -

• Sales volumes up due to COVID-19 restrictions relaxing in key 

markets and growth of our Quick Service Restaurant portfolio

• Gross profit down, particularly in Greater China and South East 

Asia, due to:

o in-market sales pricing unable to adjust at the same rate 

as rising cost of milk

o weaker market conditions including COVID-19 restrictions 

and weather events

• Unfavourable allocation from Group Operations reflects lower 

margins on products such as mozzarella 
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Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 

Comparative information includes re-presentations for consistency with the current period

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in the

table due to rounding of figures
2. Includes sales to other channels

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss 

on equity accounted investees

4. Includes EBIT attribution from Group Operations

5. Included in normalised Consumer’s EBIT. Refer to Glossary for explanation of Group Operations

6. The impairment includes a $22 million impairment of Anlene, an $11 million impairment of Anmum and a $1 

million impairment of Chesdale, with the carrying amount of these brands now at $336 million as at 31 July 

2022. Our Asia brands also include Anchor which was not impaired

∆¹

²

³

⁴

Includes EBIT attribution 

from Group Operations⁵ ($)
(13) - -

• Strong performance in our consumer business in Chile, 

offset by;

o in-market sales pricing unable to adjust at the same rate 

as rising cost of milk in other markets 

o weaker market conditions, particularly in South East Asia 

and Sri Lanka

• Operating expenses up due to impairment of some of our 

Asia brands⁶

• ‘Other’ includes $(80) million adverse revaluation of the Sri 

Lankan business payables due to devaluation of the rupee

• Favourable change in Group Operations attribution due to 

improved margins in our protein portfolio, such as skim 

milk powder



Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July. Does not add to Total Group as shown on a normalised continuing operations basis and excludes unallocated costs and eliminations. 

$ million 2021 2022

Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBITGross profit EBIT
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∆¹

²

³

⁴

Includes EBIT attribution 

from Group Operations⁵ ($)
(3) 67 -

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021 2022

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in the table due to rounding 

of figures
2. Includes sales to other segments

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss on equity accounted investees

4. Includes EBIT attribution from Group Operations

5. Included in Asia Pacific’s normalised EBIT. Refer to Glossary for explanation of Group Operations 59

• Improved Ingredients gross margin more than offset by lower 

Foodservice and Consumer gross margins: 

o Ingredients channel benefited from higher product prices 

improving gross profit

o lower gross margins in Foodservice and Consumer 

channels due to higher cost of milk

• Other’ includes $(80) million adverse revaluation of the Sri 

Lankan business payables due to devaluation of the rupee

• Increased EBIT attribution from Group Operations mainly driven 

by improved margin in our protein portfolio and bulk liquids



$ million

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July. Does not add to Total Group as shown on a normalised continuing operations basis and excludes unallocated costs and eliminations. Comparative information includes re-presentations for 
consistency with the current period 

2021 2022

Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBIT

60

Gross profit EBIT



∆¹

²

³

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 

This table was prepared exclusive of Group Operations attribution

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in 

the table due to rounding of figures
2. Includes sales to other segments

3. Consists of other operating income and net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
61

• Milk collections were stable, with improved market share offset

by labour shortages, and on-farm input costs and availability

• Improved gross profit due to:

o Ingredients channel benefited from the broad 

strengthening of product prices and a weaker Australian 

dollar, partially offset by;

o higher input costs impacted gross margins in Consumer 

and Foodservice channels

• EBIT increased $32 million to $106 million, mainly due to an 

increase in gross profit



∆¹

²

³

⁴

Includes EBIT attribution 

from Group Operations⁵ ($)
(99) 70

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021 2022

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in the table due to 

rounding of figures
2. Includes sales to other segments

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share profit or loss on of equity accounted 

investees

4. Includes EBIT attribution from Group Operations

5. Included in AMENA’s normalised EBIT. Refer to Glossary for explanation of Group Operations 62

• Increased gross profit due to 

o improved pricing and product mix in the Ingredients 

channel, particularly in our protein portfolio, partially 

offset by;

o tighter margins in Foodservice and Consumer channels

• Operating expenses up, impacted by increased storage and 

distribution costs

• Increased EBIT attribution from Group Operations driven mainly 

by strong casein, milk protein concentrate and whey protein 

concentrate margins



$ million

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July. Does not add to Total Group as shown on a normalised continuing operations basis and excludes unallocated costs and eliminations

2021 2022

Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBIT
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∆¹

²

³

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 

This table was prepared exclusive of Group Operations attribution

1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in 

the table due to rounding of figures
2. Includes sales to other segments

3. Consists of other operating income and net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
64

• Sales volumes growth mainly driven by Chilean 

government stimulus  

• Improved gross profit driven by our consumer business in Chile, 

due to:

o sales volume growth of higher margin products – such as 

yoghurt and desserts 

o ability to leverage our number one market share position 

and lift in-market prices 

• Operating expenses increased to support higher sales volumes 

and higher supply chain costs



∆¹

²

³

⁴

Includes EBIT attribution 

from Group Operations⁵ ($)
(16) 52 -

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021 2022
Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are on a normalised continuing operations basis. 
1. Percentages as shown in the table may not align to the calculation of percentages based on numbers in the table due to 

rounding of figures

2. Includes sales to other segments

3. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss on equity accounted 

investees

4. Includes EBIT attribution from Group Operations

5. Included in Greater China’s normalised EBIT. Refer to Glossary for explanation of Group Operations 65

• Lower sales volumes impacted by lower milk collections over 

the first nine months of FY22 and shipping disruptions 

• Increased gross profit driven by:

o strong Ingredients performance, due to improved pricing, 

particularly in our protein portfolio, partially offset by;

o higher input costs  and lower sales volumes in 

Foodservice and Consumer

• Increased EBIT attribution from Group Operations due to 

strong protein portfolio margins



$ million

Note: Figures are for the year ended 31 July. Does not add to Total Group as shown on a normalised continuing operations basis and excludes unallocated costs and eliminations. 

2021 2022

Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBIT Gross profit EBIT
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1. Figures are for the year ended 31 July and are prepared on a normalised continuing operations basis

2. Consists of other operating income, net foreign exchange gains/(losses) and share of profit or loss on equity accounted investees

¹

²

67



• Higher allocation of milk solids to:

o Foodservice through innovation of our UHT cream portfolio 

o Active Living through partnership with key medical nutrition customers 

12.0%

5.3%

13.0%¹

5.9%¹

• Increased R&D expenditure

• Entered into a strategic partnership with VitaKey

$110m $115m²

• Reduced water use at manufacturing sites in water constrained regions
• Made progress toward exiting coal

2.6% 6.6%³

68

1. As a percentage of our total New Zealand milk solids (kgMS)
2. Research and development costs 
3. Reduction in water usage relative to FY18



69

FY20

Actual

FY21

Actual

FY22

Forecast

FY22

Actual

FY24

Year 3 Target

FY27

Year 6 Target

FY30

Year 9 Target

Improved performance

Milk Price per kgMS $7.14 $7.54 $9.30

Normalised EBIT $879m $952m
$875-

$975m
$991m $1,025- $1,125m

$1,150-

$1,250m

$1,325-

$1,425m

Earnings per share                                      24c 34c 25-40c 35c 45-55c 50-60c 55-65c

Return on capital 6.6% 6.6% 6.5-7.0% 6.8% 7.0-8.0% 7.5-8.5% 9.0-10.0%

Financial position

Capital investment $525m $608m $650m $617m $980m $980m $980m

Debt to EBITDA ratio 3.3x 2.7x 2.4x* 3.2x <2.5x <2.5x <2.5x

Gearing ratio 44% 39% 35%* 42% <35% <35% <35%

Dividend to shareholders

Dividends per share 5c 20c 15-20c 20c 22-27c 30-35c 40-45c

*Calculated using an EPS of 35 cents

Note: The figures in this table which relate to dates in the future are targets we are aiming to achieve only. They should not be taken as forecasts or as a guarantee of returns to shareholders. The target years assume long-term 

average levels of price relativity and lag pricing impacts, and individual years are likely to vary from this assumption. Please refer to the important cautions and disclaimer at the back of this document and the key assumptions and 

risks in the Appendix of the booklet titled Our Path to 2030 for further details.



FY21 FY22 SOI FY22

Total recordable injury frequency rate (TRIFR) per million work hours¹ 5.7 5.6 6.7

Female representation in senior leadership² 32.4% 35.8% 34.8%

Employee engagement 4.09 Top Quartile³ –³

Farmer sentiment (Net Promoter Score for Fonterra in New Zealand) 23 30 25

Number of farms with Farm Environment Plans (New Zealand) 53% 67% 71%

Reduction in water used at sites in water-constrained regions versus FY18 (2.6)% (8.0)% (6.6)%

Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from manufacturing versus FY18 (6.5)% (6.6)% (11.2)%

Fonterra % kgMS of New Zealand milk collected for the season ended 31 May 79.0% 79.3% 79.1%⁴

New Zealand Farmgate Milk Price (per kgMS) $7.54 $7.25-$8.75 $9.30

Return on capital 6.6% 6.5% to 7.0% 6.8%

Debt/EBITDA 2.7x 2.4x 3.2x⁵

Adjusted Net Debt Gearing Ratio 38.5% 34.5% 42.4%⁵

Normalised earnings per share 34c 25c to 40c 35c

1. Part of zero harm philosophy which also includes target 0 serious harm/0 fatalities

2. Senior leadership defined as Band 14+

3. Due to management review of the provider and means of determining engagement, measurement of this metric was 

not completed during the FY22 financial year.

4. F22 Season to 31 May 2022. Prior comparable season to 31 May 2021: 79.0%.

5. Colour reflects performance relative to target and prior year. Both metrics remain below the maximum ratio of 3.75x 

and 45%.

In accordance with the Constitution of Fonterra, the Board Statement of Intentions sets out the 

Board’s intentions for the performance and operations of Fonterra. The table below provides an 

update of Fonterra’s performance against these targets for the year ended 31 July 2022.



Providing a safe, healthy and inclusive place to work.

Able to attract and retain the best talent in the world.

Continuously developing people’s skills for meaningful 

careers within the ever-changing nature of work.

Leading the transition to net-zero GHG emissions for 

dairy nutrition.

Demonstrating that dairy can be a net-positive 

contributor to nature. 

(Farmers, customers, New Zealand, consumer, 

government etc.)

Strong relationships with customers and consumers 

through the provision of high-quality, innovative 

products and services and sustainability credentials.

Processor of choice for farmers through competitive 

returns on their investment and value-adding support 

and services.  

Trusted relationships with stakeholders, playing our 

part for positive social, environmental and economic 

outcomes that are recognised by New Zealanders.

(What we know)

Leveraging our IP to deliver extra value for the Co-op.

(How we do dairy)

Operational assets are resilient and can efficiently 

deliver our most valuable portfolio of products and 

services, with an ever-decreasing 

environmental footprint.

(Our Performance)

Consistently attractive for farmers to be members of 

the Co-op, both as suppliers and shareholders.

Key Metrics FY21 FY22 FY23 Scorecard

Serious harm 9 8 5

Gender diversity 

(Band 12+)
36.3% 37.6% 38.8%

GHG emissions 

(Scope 1,2)¹
(6.6)% (11.2)% (10.6)%

FEP adoption 

(New Zealand)
53% 71% 84%

Water Improvement Plans in place – – 37.5% (18 sites)

Share of New Zealand milk collected 79.0% 79.1% 79.0%

EBIT from New Zealand value-add 

businesses ($ million)²
616 307 388

Cost of quality 

(% of cost of goods sold)
0.45% 0.44% 0.35%

Return on capital 6.6% 6.8% 7.0% to 7.5%

Farmgate Milk Price ($) 7.54 9.30 $9.50³

1. Relative to FY18 Baseline. Long-term will include Scope 3 but for now Scope 1&2 

including farms under our operational control

2. EBIT consists of Consumer, Foodservice, Active Living excluding Brazil, Australia 

and Chile

3. The latest announced Forecast Farmgate Milk Price range is $8.50-$10.00 per kgMS, 

with a mid-point of $9.25 per kgMS (26 August 2022)



Represents ingredients & solutions sold to businesses who cater to

consumers’ health and wellness needs. It addresses three dimensions of wellbeing

(Physical, Mental, Inner), extending to meet the nutrition needs of medical patients

through to everyday people pursuing active lifestyles. This portfolio includes

proteins, specialty ingredients such as probiotics, lactoferrin & lipids, and

patented formulations

Represents the Ingredients, Foodservice and Consumer channels in New Zealand, 

Australia, Pacific Islands, South East Asia and South Asia

Represents the Ingredients, Foodservice and Consumer channels in Africa, Middle 

East, Europe, North Asia and Americas

Capital expenditure comprises purchases of property (less specific disposals where 

there is an obligation to repurchase), plant and equipment and intangible assets 

(excluding purchases of emissions units), net purchases of livestock, and includes 

amounts relating to disposal groups held for sale

Comprises capital expenditure plus right-of-use asset additions and business 

acquisitions, including equity contributions, long-term advances, and investments

Represents the channel of branded consumer products, such as powders, yoghurts, 

milk, butter and cheese

Is adjusted net debt divided by Total Group normalised earnings before 

interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (Total Group normalised 

EBITDA) excluding share of profit/loss of equity accounted investees and 

net foreign exchange gains/losses

Is profit before net finance costs and tax

Means the average price paid by Fonterra for each kilogram of milk solids 

(kgMS) supplied by Fonterra’s farmer shareholders under Fonterra’s standard 

terms of supply. The season refers to the 12-month milk season of 1 June to 

31 May. The Farmgate Milk Price is set by the Board, based on the 

recommendation of the Milk Price Panel. In making that recommendation, the 

Panel provides assurance to the Board that the Farmgate Milk Price has been 

calculated in accordance with the Farmgate Milk Price Manual

Represents the channel selling to businesses that cater for out-of-home 

consumption; restaurants, hotels, cafes, airports, catering companies etc. The 

focus is on customers such as; bakeries, cafes, Italian restaurants, and global 

quick-service restaurant chains. High performance dairy ingredients including 

whipping creams, mozzarella, cream cheese and butter sheets, are sold in 

alongside our business solutions under the Anchor Food Professionals brand

Is the total of net cash flows from operating activities and net cash flows from 

investing activities
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Is calculated as total borrowings, plus bank overdraft, less cash and cash 

equivalents, plus a cash adjustment for 25% of cash and cash equivalents 

held by the Group’s subsidiaries, adjusted for derivatives used to manage 

changes in hedged risks on debt instruments. Amounts relating to disposal 

groups held for sale are included in the calculation

Normalised earnings per share is calculated as normalised profit after tax 

attributed to equity holders of the Co-operative divided by the weighted 

average number of shares on issue for the period

Is Total Group normalised EBIT including finance income on long-term 

advances less a notional tax charge, divided by average capital employed 

New Zealand: A period of 12 months from 1 June to 31 May

Australia: A period of 12 months from 1 July to 30 June

Chile: A period of 12 months from 1 August to 31 July

Represents corporate costs including Co-operative Affairs and Group 

Functions; and any other costs that are not directly associated to the 

reporting segments; and eliminations of inter-segment transactions 

Is adjusted net debt divided by total capital. Total capital is equity excluding hedge 

reserves, plus adjusted net debt

Represents the Ingredients, Foodservice and Consumer channels in Greater 

China, and the Falcon China Farms JV

Comprises functions under the Chief Operating Office (COO) including New 

Zealand milk collection and processing operations and assets, supply chain, 

Group IT, Sustainability and Innovation; Fonterra Farm Source™ retail stores; and 

the Central Portfolio Management function (CPM)

Represents the channel comprising bulk and specialty dairy products such as milk 

powders, dairy fats, cheese and proteins manufactured in New Zealand, Australia, 

Europe and Latin America, or sourced through our global network, and sold to 

food producers and distributors 

Means kilograms of milk solids, the measure of the amount of fat and 

protein in the milk supplied to Fonterra
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This presentation may contain forward-looking statements, financial targets and ambitions (“Forward Statements”), each of which is based on a range of 
assumptions, including (in the case of our 2030 strategy) the assumptions noted in the Appendix of the booklet titled Our Path to 2030 which is available on our 
website. None of the Forward Statements is intended as a forecast, estimate or projection of the outcome that will, or is likely to, eventuate. They should not 
be taken as forecasts or a guarantee of returns to shareholders.

There can be no certainty of outcome in relation to the matters to which the Forward Statements relate. Our ability to achieve the outcomes described in the 
Forward Statements is subject to a number of assumptions, each of which could cause the actual outcomes to be materially different from the events or results 
expressed or implied by such Forward Statements.

The Forward Statements also involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual outcomes to be 
materially different from the events or results expressed or implied by such Forward Statements. Those risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important 
factors are not all within the control of Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited (“Fonterra”) and its subsidiaries (the “Fonterra Group”) and cannot be predicted by 
the Fonterra Group. The Forward Statements in this presentation reflect views held only at the date of this presentation.

While all reasonable care has been taken in the preparation of this presentation, none of Fonterra, the Fonterra Group, or any of their respective subsidiaries, 
affiliates and associated companies (or any of their respective officers, employees or agents) (together “Relevant Persons”) makes any representation or gives 
any assurance or guarantee as to the accuracy or completeness of any information in this presentation or the likelihood of fulfilment of any Forward Statement 
or any outcomes expressed or implied in any Forward Statement. Accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted by law, none of the Relevant Persons accepts 
any liability whether direct or indirect, express or implied, contractual, tortious, statutory or otherwise, in respect of any Forward Statements or for any loss, 
howsoever arising, from the use of this presentation.

Statements about past performance are not necessarily indicative of future performance.

Except to the extent (if any) as required by applicable law or any applicable Listing Rules (including the Fonterra Shareholders’ Market Rules), the Relevant 
Persons disclaim any obligation or undertaking to update any information in this presentation.

This presentation does not constitute investment advice or opinions, or an inducement, recommendation or offer to buy or sell any securities in Fonterra or the 
Fonterra Shareholders’ Fund.​
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Fonterra uses several non-GAAP measures when discussing financial performance. Non-GAAP measures are not defined or specified by NZ IFRS.

Management believes that these measures provide useful information as they provide valuable insight on the underlying performance of the business. They 
may be used internally to evaluate the underlying performance of business units and to analyse trends. These measures are not uniformly defined or utilised by 
all companies. Accordingly, these measures may not be comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies. 

Non-GAAP financial measures should not be viewed in isolation nor considered as a substitute for measures reported in accordance with NZ IFRS. Non-GAAP 
measures are not subject to audit unless they are included in Fonterra’s audited annual financial statements.

Please refer to the Non-GAAP Measures section in Fonterra’s 2022 Annual Review for further information about non-GAAP measures used by Fonterra, 
including reconciliations back to NZ IFRS measures. Definitions of non-GAAP measures used by Fonterra can be found in the Glossary.
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We’re a co-operative formed and owned 
by Aotearoa New Zealand dairy farmers. 
Fonterra farmers sit at the very heart 
of our Co-op, producing the high quality, 
sustainable milk sought out by our 
customers around the world.

About us

Manufacturing 
sites

48 
28

8

8

4

Revenue1  
($ Million)

22,953 
FY21: 20,565

2,140  

1,726  
4,827 

6,244  

8,016  

Employees  
(FTE)

19,608 
FY21: 19,354

11,992

3,300 

2,225 

654

1,437  

Raw milk collected2  
(million litres)

18,455* 
FY21: 19,295

1,356 

16,402 

661
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Solid progress
towards our 2030 
performance targets

Kia ora farmers and unitholders,

Our Co-op has continued to make good progress towards becoming 
an innovative and customer-led organisation over the past 
12 months, while delivering another year of strong performance 
under challenging circumstances.

1. Progress on Innovation and R&D

2. Co-op’s debt levels

Peter McBride – Chairman

“The outlook for our Co-op remains strong 
and we are committed to achieving our 
long-term performance targets.”
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3. Implementing our Flexible Shareholding Capital Structure

Peter 

Final Farmgate Milk Price 

$9.30
per kgMS

Total dividend  

20c 
per share

Share of NZ milk   

79.1% 

The Board is pleased to present Fonterra’s 2022 Suite of Reports. 
Fonterra’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 July 2022 comprises 
this Annual Review, the Business Performance Report, the Financial 
Statements, and the Corporate Governance Statement and 
Statutory Information. The Annual Report was approved by the 
Board on 21 September 2022 and is signed on its behalf by:

Peter McBride, Chairman Bruce Hassall, Director
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Faced with global 
challenges, our 
teams stepped up
FY22 has been a year like no other, but once again our Co-op 
has shown that these challenges make us stronger. In the face of 
unprecedented macroeconomic events, we have continued to 
deliver for our farmer owners and New Zealand, delivering $13.7bn 
to the domestic economy in milk price payments alone. Combined 
with a total dividend of 20 cents per share, we’ve delivered a total 
payout of $9.50 to our farmer owners. 

COVID-19

Geopolitical events

We’re focused on what makes a difference

Collecting and processing milk

Miles Hurrell – CEO
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Delivering excellence to customers

We continue to innovate, despite challenges

Looking to the year ahead

Delivering our 2030 targets
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OUR PURPOSE:

Our Co-operative,
Empowering people
To create goodness 
for generations.
You, me, us together
Tātou, tātou

OUR VALUES:

Co-operative spirit

Do what’s right

Make it happen

Challenge 
boundaries

OUR PRINCIPLES:

Our principles are 
aligned with the 
Māori world view. 
Manaakitanga  

Kaitiakitanga  
 
 

Whanaungatanga  
 

WE’VE MADE KEY 
STRATEGIC CHOICES:

Focus on Aotearoa 
New Zealand Milk

Be a leader in  
dairy Innovation 
& Science

Be a leader in 
Sustainability

KEY ASPIRATIONS FOR 2030:

Group ROC

~9-10%
Operating Profit

40-50% 
increase from FY21

Strong progress towards  
2050 aspiration to be

Net Zero 
Carbon

Our purpose, values and goals
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Trusted relationships 
through high-quality, 
innovative products and 
services and playing our 
part for positive social, 
environmental and 
economic outcomes

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES
– Understanding the needs 

of our customers and 
being responsive to these

– Partnering with others 
to help unlock the 
full potential of dairy 
and deliver improved 
sustainability outcomes

– Being clear on what 
we stand for and 
demonstrating the 
value we bring to 
specific relationships 
and more broadly

Relationships

Consistently attractive 
performance for 
providers of funding, 
including our farmer 
shareholders

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Using science 
and innovation to 
improve efficiency 
and grow value

– Sustainability credentials 
are valued building 
preference and premium 
for our dairy

– Target to return 
~$1 billion to 
shareholders through 
planned divestments

Financial

Demonstrating that dairy 
can be a net-positive 
contributor to nature

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Leading the transition to 
net-zero GHG emissions 
for dairy nutrition

– Farmers are adopting 
and investing in leading 
on-farm practices

– Using science and 
innovation skills to 
solve environmental 
challenges on and 
off farm

Nature

Operational assets are 
resilient and efficiently 
delivering our most 
valuable products

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– A mindset of continuous 
improvement to protect 
and enhance our scale/
cost advantage and 
stay competitive on a 
world stage

– Applying innovation to 
our assets so they are 
safe and able to respond 
to future needs

Assets and 
infrastructure

Able to retain, 
develop and attract 
the best talent

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Providing a safe, healthy 
and inclusive place 
to work

– Continuously developing 
people’s skills for 
meaningful careers 
within the everchanging 
nature of work

People 
& culture

Leveraging intellectual 
property to deliver 
additional value

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Converting our 
specialised dairy know-
how into value through 
the products, solutions 
and partnerships 
we develop

Intellectual 
Capital

Our approach
A sustainable future for our Co-operative is core to our strategy – it’s how we create long-term value for future generations.
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We source 
raw milk from 
farmers

to make 
and distribute 
nutrition

We connect farmers 
with markets to 

maximise the value 
from their milk

and to 
consumers

for 
foodservice

as 
ingredients

Governance and Risk

–

–
–

C
re

at
in

g 
va

lu
e 

fo
r o

ur
 s

ta
ke

ho
ld

er
s

How we created value in 2021/22

The resources we rely on (our inputs)

PEOPLE (AND CULTURE)
–

–
–

NATURE
–

–

–

RELATIONSHIPS
–

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
–
–
–

ASSETS AND INFRASTRUCTURE
–

–
–

FINANCIAL
–

Our progress in 2021/22

PEOPLE (AND CULTURE)
– 8 
– 34.8% 

NATURE
–

11.2%
–

71%
–

6.6%

RELATIONSHIPS
– 79.1%

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
–

$307m 

ASSETS AND INFRASTRUCTURE
– 0.44% 

FINANCIAL
– 6.8%
– $9.30 per kgMS 
– $0.35
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We create value by
–

–

–

–

How we engage
–

–

–

Customers 
& consumers

Creating value for our stakeholders

We create value by
–

–

–

–

How we engage
–

Employees

How we engage
–

–

We create value by
–

–

–

–

–

Farmers
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Local  
communities

We create value by
 –

 –

 –

 –

 –

How we engage
 –

 –

 –

Society

We create value by
 –

 –

 –

 –

 –

 –

How we engage
 –

 –

 –

Investors

We create value by
 –

 –

 –

How we engage
 –
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The world we operate in
The way food is produced and consumed 
is at the centre of many challenges 
facing society. With a growing 
population, consumers are looking for 
healthier and sustainable food options 
that don’t threaten the planet’s ability to 
support food production. We believe our 
pasture-based dairy has an important 
role to play.

The conflict in Ukraine, 
the economic crisis in Sri 
Lanka and COVID-19 are 
pushing food and energy 
prices up and adding fuel 
to inflationary pressures.

NEXT 
5 YEARS 400m
NEXT 
10 YEARS 800m
NEXT 
15 YEARS 1100m

The world’s population is growing, 
and so is demand for nutrition

The planet faces interconnected crises

7.5%
Global inflation is 
forecast to rise to 7.5% 
by the end of 2022.

Climate change will 
increasingly put pressure on 
food production, especially 
in vulnerable regions, with 
increases in frequency, 
intensity and severity 
of droughts, floods and 
heatwaves.

3.6b
In 2018, 3.6 billion people had 
inadequate access to water at 
least one month per year. It is 
estimated that by 2050, this 
will grow to 5 billion people.

1/3rd
Globally, an estimated 
one-third of people suffer 
from at least one form of 
micronutrient deficiency.

670m
Projections indicate that 
nearly 670 million people will 
still be facing hunger in 2030.

x3
Worldwide obesity has 
nearly tripled since 1975.

Consumer trends Geopolitical events

73%
of global consumers find 
sustainability pledges 
important when buying 
dairy products.

58%
of people look for the 
health-boosting claims 
of the dairy products 
they consume.
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AUGUST 2021JULY 2021

MARCH 2022 APRIL 2022

JULY 2022

SEPTEMBER 2021 NOVEMBER 2021OCTOBER 2021

MAY 2022

JUNE 2022

JANUARY 2022FEBRUARY 2022 DECEMBER 2021

Our year in review
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The communities we are part of have 
always been important to us. It’s through 
community, kinship and coming together 
for a common cause that we create 
meaningful impact.

– Putting good quality nutrition in the hands of those who need it 
most:

– Protecting and regenerating the environment:

– Keeping our communities strong: 

50 million
KickStart breakfasts served 
since the programme started

$899,362
donated to community 
projects globally

$671,606
donated to community 
projects in New Zealand

12 million
dairy serves donated to the 
New Zealand Food Network

Doing Good 
Together

Student at Waitara Central School 
enjoying KickStart breakfast
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Putting good quality nutrition in the hands of those who 
need it most

Protecting and regenerating the environment

Keeping our communities strong

Global support

Rebecca & Gracie, NZ Food Network

Callum, Southland
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Business 
performance 

Our Co-op has delivered another 
strong financial performance, with 
a 2021/22 Farmgate Milk Price of 
$9.30 per kgMS and normalised 
profit after tax of $591 million.

With a total dividend of 20 cents per share for our fully 
shared-up farmers – comprising of an interim dividend 
of 5 cents per share and a final dividend of 15 cents 
per share – the final cash pay-out for farmers is $9.50 
per kgMS.

Like every sector, we’ve seen input costs rise sharply 
right through our value chain, but we’ve also seen 
a positive supply and demand picture. Throughout 
the year, demand for our milk has been strong, in 
the face of a shrinking supply picture for other dairy-
producing regions.

Emma & Daniel, Auckland
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Business Performance Dashboard

Asia Pacific  
EBIT5

AMENA  
EBIT5

Greater China  
EBIT5

$237m $527m $432m

Reported profit  
after tax1
Reported profit  
after tax1

Reported earnings 
per share2

Milk Price  
per kgMS

Dividend  
per share

Gearing  
ratio4

Total  
pay-out4

Debt to  
EBTIDA4

Total Group 
normalised EBIT3

$583 36c

$9.30 20c

42.4%

$9.50

3.2x

+ =

$991m

Net debt4

$5.3b

Return  
on capital4

6.8%
Normalised  
earnings per share2

35c

79.1%

Market share of  
New Zealand milk

Ingredients  
EBIT5

Foodservice  
EBIT5

Consumer  
EBIT5

$916m $138m $142m
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Total Pay-out1

20222021202020192018

Farmgate Milk Price Dividend

$6.69
$6.35

$7.14
$7.54

$0.10

$0.05

$0.20

$6.79

$6.35

$7.19

$7.74

$9.30

$0.20

$9.50

  

We returned $9.30 on average for every 
kilogram of milk solids our farmer owners 
supplied us. Combined with a dividend 
of 20 cents per share, this means a total 
pay-out of $9.50 per kgMS – a record 
pay-out for the Co-operative. 

kgMS collected
(million)

Litres collected 
(million)

1,505 1,523 1,517 1,539 1,478

16,932 17,123 16,876 17,121
16,404

20222021202020192018

Litres and Milk Solids Collected
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Normalised Profit After Tax1 ($ million) Total Group Normalised EBIT ($ million)

20222021202020192018

407

275

398

588

$7.74

591

  

20222021202020192018

902
812 879

952

$6.79 $6.35
$7.19

$7.74

991
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Total Group normalised EBIT, which 
reflects underlying business performance, 
was up 4% to $991 million. This comprised 
$982 million from our continuing 
operations and $9 million from our 
discontinued operations – which are DPA 
Brazil and our Hangu China Farm

Breakdown of Total Group Performance

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021 31 JULY 2022

NORMALISED BASIS
NZD MILLION

CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS1

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS1 TOTAL GROUP

CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS1

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS1 TOTAL GROUP

3,874 228 4,102 3,706 218 3,924

20,565 559 21,124 22,953 472 23,425

(17,581) (429) (18,010) (19,737) (348) (20,085)

2,984 130 3,114 3,216 124 3,340

14.5% 23.3% 14.7% 14.0% 26.3% 14.3%

(2,153) (89) (2,242) (2,284) (113) (2,397)

65 15 80 50 (2) 48

896 56 952 982 9 991

(9) 16 7 42 (57) (15)

887 72 959 1,024 (48) 976
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Looking at our continuing operations on a regional basis;
 – Asia Pacific normalised EBIT decreased 22% to $237 million

 – AMENA normalised EBIT increased 57% to $527 million

 – Greater China normalised EBIT increased 7% to $432 million

Totals

3,754
4%

$916m
$551m

$138m
$231m

$142m
$168m

1,029
13%

$282m
$152m

$155m
$120m

$(5)m
$3m

$432m
$29m

Greater ChinaAMENA

1,355
no change

$442m
$231m

$(4)m
$19m

$89m
$21m

$527m
$191m

1,370
1%

$192m
$168m

$(13)m
$92m

$58m3

$144m

$237m
$68m

Asia Pacific

EBIT contribution1,2

Total

Ingredients

Foodservice

Consumer

Volume (’000 MT)1
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Financial discipline

 –

• 

 –

 –

Closing Inventory as at 31 July ($ billion)

FY22
inventory

value

VolumeCostFY21
inventory

value

3.8

5.0

0.4

0.8

 –

 –

 –

 –

Net Debt1 ($ billion)

20222021202020192018

6.6 6.0 5.2
4.3

5.3

FY22
net debt

Increase in
working
capital

Interest,
dividend
& other

Net capex &
investments

Operating
cashflows2

FY21
net debt

(1.8)

0.5
0.7

1.6

5.3
4.3

Change in Net Debt1 

($ billion)

Inventory Receivables Payables 
& other3

1.2

0.8
(0.4) 
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Debt to EBITDA1 (x) Gearing Ratio1,2 (%)

20222021202020192018

50.1% 49.5%
44.2%

3.2
2.7

3.3

4.3
4.6

38.5%
42.4%

Leverage Metrics Return on Capital1

Total Group 
normalised EBIT2

($ million)

Average 
capital employed2

($ million)

Return on 
capital2 (%)

20222021202020192018

6.2%

5.6%

6.6% 6.6%

13,469 13,419
12,313 12,281

902 812 879 952

6.8%

12,356

991

  

Total Group return on capital improved from 6.6% to 6.8%
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On-farm The 9,000 farming families across
our Co-op are committed to 
producing the world’s most 
sustainable, high-quality dairy.

Here in New Zealand, we have many natural advantages 
– a temperate climate, lush grass and a pasture-based 
system, but at the heart of it all is our farming families, 
who care for their animals and care for their land. 

Our farmer owners know that we will take care of their 
precious milk, and that we’ll move it into the most 
valuable products and markets. This gives the owners 
of our Co-op control of their own destiny and the 
certainty to invest in their businesses.

Being part of our Co-op means working together 
to address some of our biggest on-farm challenges. 
New Zealand dairy farmers are already among the 
most carbon-efficient in the world, but together we 
are working hard to ensure that dairy farming and the 
environment can thrive for future generations.

Having a strong farmer-owned co-operative is 
important to every New Zealand dairy farmer and 
for the country as a whole. It enables efficiency 
and supports innovation. Our milk price sets the 
New Zealand benchmark.

Blair, Billie, Penelope & Joe, Tararua
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The Co-operative Difference

 –

 – Te Puku:

 – Te Tihi:

4,522 Te Puku
“The MID POINT” 
3c kgMs on all qualifying milk

FARMERS 
ACHIEVED LEVEL 2

638 Te Tihi
“THE SUMMIT OF THE MOUNTAIN”

ACHIEVED 
LEVEL 3

1,155 Te Pūtake
“THE START OF THE JOURNEY” 
7c kgMs on all milk supplied

FARMS 
ACHIEVED LEVEL 1

This year, up to 10 cents of each 
farm’s milk payment has been 
determined by its sustainability 
credentials and milk quality.

Chris & Andrew, Canterbury
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Addressing the methane challenge

“ Asparagopsis seaweed looks like it  
could be the first viable option we 
have had to achieve major emission 
reductions, and although it’s early days, 
it could potentially be part of the future 
sustainability of our industry.” 

– Richard Gardner, Fonterra Farmer

“ For us, the information was empowering.  
If I have our people engaged in what they’re 
doing, then it makes it easier to implement 
the plan. I always say it’s the people in the 
gumboots that make the difference.” 

– Dave Hislop, Fonterra farmer

Richard & Sam, Tasmania
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Improving water quality Supporting our farming families

“In our simplest form, we are our Co-op’s 
farmer-facing team across the country. 
We are passionate, local people who 
work hard every day to help lower on-
farm costs, provide on-farm support and 
advice, and support rural communities.” 

– Anne Douglas, Director Category, 
Marketing & Digital Innovation

Andrew, Sarah, Hannah, Henry & Isabella, CanterburyAnnual Waituna Creek fish survey
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Lending a hand

“As farmers, we can tell a thousand 
stories of the great things we are doing 
on-farm, but nothing will speak louder 
than giving a family a meal when they 
are at their most vulnerable.” 

– Wayne Langford, Feed Out founder and Fonterra farmer

Sharing our know how

Mark, Nathan, Rob, Michael, 
& Cam, CanterburyCasey & Matua, CanterburyAndy, Angus, Jon, Scott, Leonie, Josh, George & Albie, Canterbury

Wayne, Wellington City Mission
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Honour Roll for On-farm Excellence
Legend 
Farming entities that achieved Grade Free for at least the last 10 seasons 

A & N Harvey Family 
Trust

A Holten & N Brown

Ashgrove Dairy Farms 
Limited

Barmac Dairies Limited

Black & White Cow 
Company Limited

C & H Mabey

C J & C J McKenzie 
Limited

C M & K M O'Donoghue

Caskey Farms

Cotlands Ltd

D C & V F Frew

F A & R C M Smits Ltd

Farmer Fred Ltd

Fowler Family Prosperity 
Trust

G J Farms Limited

Glen Eden Otago Ltd

Golden Mile Farms Ltd

J & LM Van Burgsteden

Kemra Farm Ltd

Maken Milk Ltd

Owhango Farms Limited

R & P Woods Farms Ltd

R & S Singh

R S & R D Gordon

Rainbowcreek Farms 
Limited

S G & B L Thirkell

Schorn Trust

Shawlink Ltd

T D & J A Rhind

W J & J G Pile Family 
Trust

Waicola Holdings Ltd

Waiotu Farms Ltd

Waituna Investments 
Ltd

Whenuakura Farm 
Limited

Te Tihi 
Farming entities that achieved The Co-operative Difference Te Tihi (Level 3)

A & C Hodges Family 
Trust
A B Lime Limited
A D Harwood Limited
A G & G F J Pijfers
A H & B M Kuttel
A H Baxter Limited
A J & B M Simmonds
A J & Est L R Arnet
A J & P T Bryant
A L & W A Mullan
A P Jones & J G Craw
A R & P A Hayward
A T & J L Hughes Trust
A8 Enterprises Limited
Abbey Farm Partnership
Abbott Trusts 
Partnership

Aerodrome Farm Limited
Aghern Holdings Limited
Ahipaipa Farms Limited
Ahol Trust
Akarana Partnership
Alan & Lynette Smith 
Family Trust
Albert & Karen Pouwels 
Limited
Alderbrook Farms 
Limited
Alkington Limited
Alley Farms Limited
Allison Family Farms 
Limited
Alpine Rose Limited
Andesite Trust
Aniwhenua Farms 
Limited

Arahiwi Farm Limited
Aramaunga Farms 
Limited
Ararata Holdings Limited
Ardendale Farm Trust
Arnmore Dairy Limited
Ashmore Limited
Ashvale Jerseys Limited
Askin Plains Dairy
B & G Park Limited
B C & H J McLellan
B F & S J Gordon
B H & L J Bourne
B J & D A Verryt Family 
Trust
B J & J N O'Brien
B J & J R Goodwin
B L & D J Haylock

B M & J A Ahlers
B M & R M Sarten
B W & C A McNeil
B W & S J Phillips
B W E Binnie
Barnsdale Farms 2014 
Limited
Barridge Farms
Baucke Family Trust
Beckett Family Trust
Belbrook Farming 
Limited
Bell Family Farms Limited
Belrari Farm Limited
Benmore Downs Limited
Berry Farm Limited
BJ & TM Verryt Limited
BJ Caird Limited

BLL Farm Trust
Blom Family Farm 
Limited
BM & GI Watson Limited
Bonezco Farms Limited
Brensan Farm Limited
Brentwood Farm (2003) 
Limited
Brittany Trust 
Partnership
Brookside Farms
Brookside Farms No2
Broughshane Farm 
Limited
Brunswick Downs (2014) 
Limited
Bruski Farms 2001 
Limited
Bucman Trust

Burnell Farms Limited
Burton Farm Trust
By the Beach Company 
Limited
C & H Mabey
C G & A M Janson
C G & J A Venn
C J Biddle & R Godinagh
C J Dairies Limited
C M & K M O'Donoghue
C&F Farms Limited
Cairra Farms Limited
Cantley Developments 
Limited No 1
Careyfarm Limited
Cashmore Investments 
Limited
Caskey Farms

Casterbridge Farms 
Limited
Clan Leslie Limited
Claremont Trusts 
Partnership
Clarenshelf Forty-Three 
Ltd
Clemcorp Ltd
Clyde Colin Bishop
Clyde Dairy Farm Ltd
Collingwood Farm Trust
Cornik Farms Limited
Corona Farms Ltd
Cotlands Ltd
Cows 4 Us Limited
CPX Limited
Craigower Farms Ltd
Cressey Dairies Ltd

Cview Trust

D & D M Coupe Trust

D & K & M Kavanagh

D & K Verryt Farms 
Limited

D C & C N Davison

D C & V F Frew

D G & H A Bloor

D J & J A Veen

D M & J C Brogden

D M J S Trust

D P & T M Stephens

D R & J B Wallace

D R & J E Gilchrist

D W & M E Kidd

Dammar Farms Ltd

Daniel Symons

Daybreak Farms Limited
DB & MJ Kalma Ltd
DDB Dairy Enterprises 
Limited
Deebury Pastoral 
Partnership
Deltabrooke Farms 
Limited
Dennis & Donna Gill 
Family Trust
Dennley Farms Ltd
Department of 
Corrections
Derrynane Family Trust
Dillon Farms Ltd
DJ & AJ Williams Ltd
Dodd Farms Limited
Dogterom Farming 
Limited

Thank you to all our farmer owners who have 
worked hard in the 2021/22 season to provide 
safe, high-quality milk. In addition to the honour 
roll, we acknowledge the efforts of all our 
farmer owners for their commitment to on-farm 
excellence and producing the best possible milk. 
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Dogterom Thomson 
Limited
Dogterom Thomson Ltd
Donald Pearson Farm Ltd
Doneve Agriculture 
Limited
Doric Trust
Drought & Kalin Family 
Trusts Partnership
Drumderg Farm Ltd
Dryden Farming Limited
Drylands Trust
E A White Ltd
E B & J L Day
E C Briden & Sons Ltd
E J & A M Kiser
E T De La Rue
E.K. & M.J. Chisnall Ltd
Ealing Dairies Limited
Edge Holdings Limited
Est C W Schultz
Est of M F Blake & M 
Blake
Estate M J Abbott
Estate of T J Hailes
Evans Partners Ltd
Evergreen Ventures Ltd
Eyretonlea Partnership
Eyrewell Dairy Ltd
F A & R C M Smits Ltd
Fairfax Stonehouse 
Farm Ltd
Fairview Dairies Ltd
Falcon Farms Trust
Farm Partners Limited
Farmbuild Milk Company 
Ltd
Farmer Fred Ltd

Farnley Tyas (2018) 
Limited
Feenstra & Bouwmeester 
Trust
Fernhill Farms Koru Ltd
Finch Contracting 
Limited
Firdale Farms Limited
Flaxwood South
Fleming Family Trust
Flo New Zealand Limited
Florida Farms Ltd
Fonterra -Kapuni Farm 1
Freely Farms Ltd
G & C Came Ltd
G & N Wightman Farms 
Ltd
G & P R Rennie Ltd
G A & K T Lynch
G A Knight
G B & J S Coulter
G B and S J Harrison Ltd
G G Ring
G I Norgate
G L & G F Bell
G M & D M Tomsett
G P & D J Wolvers Family 
Trust
G P & M E J Voogt
G P S 2007 Ltd
Galloway Enterprises Ltd
Geordie Farms Limited
Gilray Partnership
Gladvale Farms Ltd
Glanton Holdings 
Limited
Glenarne Limited
Glendine Ltd
Glengairn Trust

Glenmore Farm
Glenmore Farming 
Company Limited
Glenrowan Trust
Glenwrae Farming Ltd
GM & AM Woolley
GN & LG Burgess
Golden Mile Farms Ltd
Gordon Dale Farms 
(2006) Ltd
GP Wilson
Granity Dairy Limited
Green Sky Dairies 
Limited
Greenhart Limited
Gregory Farms Ltd
Greywacke Farms 
Limited
Guy Wong & Son Ltd
Gwen-May Trust
H & H Singh Sandhu
H J & A M Van Hout
H L & J E Wallace
Haket Trust
Hall Agri Ltd
Harakeke Dairy Ltd 
Partnership
Hartland Pastoral 
Limited
Haswell Farm Limited
Haurere Farms Ltd
Henderson Partnership 
Farm
Highfield Farm Holdings 
Ltd
Hildersea Limited 
Partnership
Hogsback Limited
Hollands Farm Limited
Homelands Ltd

Hopcroft Farms Limited
Huntersview Farm Ltd
Huntly Road Dairies Ltd
Hwitan Tune Holdings 
Ltd
I & M Selak Ltd
I G Haigh
I J Versalko and I J 
Versalko Family Trusts
Ingram Farming (2003) 
Limited
Inveraray Dairy Ltd
Ivesburn Limited
Ivy Plains Ltd
J & D Reynolds
J & J Van Polanen Family 
Trust
J & P S Malcolm
J H & H R Smyth
J H & R Cotman
J L & K S Gwerder Family 
Trust
J M & L M North
J M Mellow
J R & B R Murdoch
J R & J P Barrett
J W & A M Steeghs
Jackel Trust Partnership
Jareem Trust
Jaska Farm Trust
Jersey Collective
JF & LM Le Fleming 
Family Trust
JM & RM Martin
Joblin Partners Limited
Johns Hill Trust
Jomar Farm Ltd
JS & KJ Lorimer trading as 
Laurel Hill Farm

K & LG Pickett Limited
K A & N J Riddington Ltd
K C & D M Gooch
K C & L M Berry
K G Reeve
K J & H Chalmers Ltd
K J & P J Death Family 
Trust
K J & S R Crowley
K R Vollebregt
K W Laing
Kahikatea Dairy Ltd
Kairoa Dairies 2016 
Limited
Kanuka Terrace Limited
Kauri Karaka Ltd
Kauri Moor Farms 
Limited
Kavanagh Trust 
Partnership
Keelinn Farms Limited
Keitra Farms Limited
Kelvin Vickers Family 
Trust
Kemra Farm Ltd
Ken Bullians Trust
Kilfinan Farm Ltd
Kilkenny Farm Ltd
Kilvarock Farming 
Company Ltd
KJ&HL 
Uhlenberg(Waitui)Fam 
Tr. P'Ship
Kohinoor Farms Ltd
Kowalski Farms Ltd
KRTH Limited
Kyle Farm (2005) Limited
L & A Verstappen
L & M Wild River Limited

L K Farms Partnership
L M Farms
L P & I Bylsma
L S & K A Phipps
Landcorp Farming Ltd
Langman Family Trust
Lawson Road Farm Ltd
Le Emari Trust - Morven
Le Emari Trust T/A 
Willowbridge Dairies
Lenek Farms Limited
Lillburn Valley Dairies Ltd
Lobblinn Farms Ltd
Loch Ness Farm Ltd
Lochlea Partnership
Lowburn Dairy Farms Ltd
LR and SJ Hammond 
Limited
Ludell Limited
Luscombe Partnership
Lynbrook Farm Ltd
Lynwood Dairies Limited
M & A Schrader Family 
Trust
M & G Askin Family Trust
M & G Howden
M A Watt Family Trust
M B & K M Watkins 
Family Trust
M C & M Davey
M E Hunt & Son Ltd
M F & D C Robinson Trust 
Partnership
M J & D R McFetridge
M J & L M Van Tiel
M J Robertson
M L & K I Clark Family 
Trust
M M & L Baxter

M P & V M J Joyce Trusts 
P/Ship
M T & D H Simpson
Maandonks Farm Limited
Macedonian Properties 
Limited
Macken Farm Ltd
Maerewhenua 
Investments Limited
Mahdeen Partners
Mahunga Farm Limited
Manganui Partnership 
Limited
Mangaroa Farms
Mangatoki Partnership
Mary Rose Trust
Mathieson@Rongomai 
Limited
Matricksen Ag Holdings 
Ltd
Maude Peak Farm Trust
Maxlands Farms Limited
McClean's Pampas Grass 
Ltd
McClelland Dairies Ltd
McCullough Family 
2008 Ltd
McCullough Orakau 
Farm Trusts Partnership
McDonnell Farming 
Company (Ohau) Ltd
McIntosh Dairies Limited
McKamp Farms Ltd
McLeod Farms Limited
McNab Farms Limited
McSwag Limited
Melrose Dairy Ltd
Michael Clark Ltd
Mid Island Farms Limited
Midway Holdings Limited

Milestone Trust
Milk Power Ltd
Minus 1 Trust
Molehill Farm Ltd
Moo2U Ltd
Moonlight Farms Trust 
Ltd
Morag Farm Limited
Mullerwhero Farming Ltd
Murphy Farms Limited
N K & A M Fox
Netherland Holdings Ltd
Newlane Trusts
Ngahape Valley Farm Ltd
Ngai Tahu Farming
Ngatitu Whanau Trust
Nicholson O'Rourke Ltd
Nilock & Camole Trusts
NP & AE Bluett
NP Van Straalen Family 
Trusts Partnership
O'Connell Dairy Ltd
Old Kookaburra Farms 
Limited
Oporo Farms Ltd
Oreti Plains Agriculture 
Limited
Orini Downs Station 
Limited
Orongo Meadows Ltd
OTO Trust
Owen & Robyn Ruddell 
Partnership
Owhango Farms Limited
P B & D P White
P B & E J Chick
P G & J G Wilson Family 
Trust
P H S & P C Byford

P J & H J Horo
P J & K J Henderson
P J & M E Gamble Family 
Trust
P J & T L Walsh Family 
Trusts
P Jones Family Trust
P M & K F Westenra
P M & K J Clinton Family 
Trust
P N & D L Waite Family 
Trust
P R & R F Mossman
P S & H J Wilson
P T & E A Kelly
P W & S J Ryan
P.J. and H.J. Horo Family 
Trust
Pahtuna Farms Ltd
Pakarau Heights Ltd
Parekarangi Trust
Pastoral Holdings Ltd
Paton Trading Company 
Ltd
Paul Kay Family Trust
PB & CF Purdie Family 
Trust
Peebles Siding Dairy 
Limited
Pine Bush Grazing 
Limited
Pinelane Trust
Pineridge Partnership
Pirie Farms Limited
PKW Farms LP
Polrama Nominees Ltd
Pomona Farming Limited
Ponga & Pukeko Farms 
Ltd

Te Tihi Continued...
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Port Molyneux Dairies 
Limited
Poyzer & Swanney 
Partnership
Premier Dairies Limited
Prima Farms Ltd
PT & CA Shearer Family 
Trust
Pukerua Farm Ltd
Puniho 606 Partnership
R & L Swafford
R & P McIntosh Ltd
R & S Singh
R A & F N Davidson
R A & J L Hamilton
R A & P E Adam
R C & K M Ormsby
R F & C L Lansdaal Ltd
R F Seebeck
R G King Ltd
R J & J F Van Marrewijk
R L & F M Hurley
R L & S F Thompson
R P MacInnes Trust
R W & R D Kane
Rakaia Incorporation 
(Pahau) Limited
Rangitata Island Dairy 
Ltd
Rangitata Island Dairy 
Partnership Ltd
Redpark Farm Limited
Reuver Limited
Rhodes Hills Ltd
Rich Feet Limited
Ridgedale Limited
Rimoo Farm Limited
Riverside Dairy Farm Ltd
Riverside Park Limited

Riverview Trust
Roaring View Farms 
Limited
Robren Farms Ltd
Rockburn Dairy Ltd
Rogers Farming Ltd
Rolling Farms Limited
Rollinson Farms Limited
Rolwood Farms Ltd
Rombouts Farm Ltd
Rooney Farms Limited
Rosebrae Farm Limited
Roslyn Plains Ltd
Ross & Louise Fieten 
Family Trust
Roswin Farm Limited
Rotoma Farms Limited
Rozel Farm Limited
RP & KJ Willans Family 
Trust
Ruakiwi Dairies Limited
Rubia Farm Limited
Rydal Farm Trust
S B & A H Steverson
S B & Y M Thompson
S C & A N Charmley Ltd
S E & S A Nicholas Family 
Trusts
S G Holland Ltd
S J Bruce Family Trust
S Petterson Family Trust
S.V. & M.L. Helms
Sanddale Farm Ltd
Schayes Enterprises Ltd
Schnuriger Family Trust
Schorn Trust
Schouten Dairies Ltd
Seamist Dairies Ltd

Searle's Dairy Ltd
Shawlink Ltd
Sheenfield Farms Ltd
Shenandoah Trust
Silverdene Farms (2000) 
Ltd
Sisley Farms Ltd
Skyhigh Farming Limited
Smith Family Trusts
Smithill Ltd
Somerset Trust
Southern Pastures 
(Longmead Farm) Ltd 
Partnership
Southern Pastures 
(Mamaku Farm) Ltd 
Partnership
Southern Pastures (Mauri 
Farm) Ltd Partnership
Southern Pastures (Tatua 
Farm) Ltd Partnership
Southern Star Farms Ltd
Spark Brothers Limited
St Helena Trust
Staple Homestead 
Limited
Stichbury Farms Limited
Stonebrook Dairy Farm 
Limited
Stoneleigh Park Limited
Stonylea Dairies Limited
Strathyre Farms Ltd
Streamline Limited 
Partnership
Sursum Farms Ltd
Swim Farms Ltd
T & N Kuter Family Trust
T J & L E Luond
T M & H D Green
T M Mcdowall

Tablelands Dairy Limited
Tamatea Farms Limited
Taradise Farm
Taranga Town Supply
Tatiara Ltd
Tauhei Farms Ltd
Tayco Farm Limited
Te Mahanga (2018) Ltd
Te Whanake Enterprises 
Ltd
Ternstone Limited
Terrace Top Dairy Ltd
The D & A Roberts Family 
Trust
The Flavall Trust
The Grange Ltd
The Herewahine Trust
The Milky Way Limited
The Red Cow Company 
Limited
Theland Purata Farm 
Group Limited
Thistlehurst Dairy Ltd
Thomas Falconer
Thornehayes Farm Ltd
Three Leaf Farm Limited
Tiaki Farm Limited 
Partnership
Toey Farms Ltd
Toggenburg Trust
Tokarata Farms Ltd
Tokoroa Pastoral Ltd
Torlesse Farm Ltd
Totoro Trust
Trinity Lands Limited
TRK Farm Limited
Tronnoco Farming Co Ltd
Tui Company Limited
Turnbull Family Trust

Turney Farms Limited
Twin River Dairies Ltd
Tyndale Family Trust
Tyrone Trust P/Ship
Uruwhenua Farms Ltd
V C & S H Dearlove
Vale Green Services 
Limited
Van Rossum Ltd
Ventsha Farms Ltd
W & C Candy Trust
W A & D P McKenzie
W B Scott Family Trust
W M & S R Fisher
Wade Industries Ltd
Wai-iti Dairy Farm Ltd
Waioto Farm Ltd
Waiotu Farms Ltd
Waipa Meadow Ltd
Wairakau Farm Trust
Waitago Farms Ltd
Waituna Investments Ltd
Walker & McLean 
Partnership
Wallace Johnstone Ltd
Walsh Enterprises 
Limited
Walters Holdings (2008) 
Ltd
Waterscape Dairies Ltd
Watershed Ventures Ltd
Watford Trust
Wattle Downs Limited
Weirburn Farms Limited
Wells Partnership
Welsh Family Farms 
Limited
West Mains Farm Ltd

Westbrook Farming 
Company Limited
Westmere Co (2007) Ltd
Whakahau Trust
Whakahora Farm Ltd
Wheyland Farms Limited
White Gold Dairy Farms 
Ltd
Whitten Holdings Ltd
Willowbank Farms 2015 
Limited
Willowbank Farms 2015 
Ltd
Willowcreek Trust
Willowhaugh Enterprises 
Limited
Willowview Pastures 
Limited
Wilmat Farms Limited
Windsor Park Dairies 
Limited
Windvale Farms Limited
Wiremu Trusts
Wolff Farms Ltd
Woodside Dairying Ltd
Wyke Partnership
Wynyard Limited
Ziang Farm Ltd
Zonneveld Farms Ltd

Te Tihi Continued...
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Off-farm COVID-19 disruptions and geo-
political events have dominated 
news headlines again this year. 
Our Co-op hasn’t been immune 
to the impacts of these events. 
However, our diversity, ability to 
change product mix and move 
our products between markets 
has allowed us to minimise the 
negative impact.
Once again, our people around the world have stepped 
up. When Omicron hit New Zealand, our supply chain 
team was ready. Anticipating the need to change 
product mix at a moment’s notice, the team ensured we 
had contingency packaging and ingredients, alongside 
warehouse capacity. 

In China, our Anchor consumer team tapped into 
the ‘group buying’ phenomenon that took off during 
the Shanghai lockdown, getting products delivered 
direct to customers. It is this ingenuity, combined 
with our scale and optionality, that has kept our milk 
moving through the supply chain in spite of the many 
challenges this year.

Tracy, Palmerston North
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Rising to the challenge

“It’s not just Fonterra that sees benefits 
from this. Through the scale that Kotahi 
brings with its strategic partnership with 
Maersk, many other Kiwi companies are 
able to get their product exported. It also 
indirectly underpins many imports for all 
New Zealanders.”

– Fraser Whineray, COO

Supporting our people

“Since achieving my DAIRYCRAFT NZQA 
Qualification and with the support 
of my manager, I was appointed to a 
secondment position in IWS Cell Team 
as Process Lead. I put it down to the 
additional capability building that 
I have done.” 

 – Nazeefah Ali, Process Lead, CANPAC

Michelle, Auckland

Ross (left) and Mason, Kauri
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Aligning for success

Minimising our footprint

 

“ By working together with our vendor, the 
depot teams have reduced the number 
of tyres required without compromising 
safety, which is great for people and the 
environment. At the same time, we’ve 
made a significant cost saving which is 
great for our shareholders.” 

– National Parts and Warranty Manager, Guy Cooper

Minister for Energy and Resources, 
Hon. Dr Megan Woods and Chief Operating 
Officer Fraser Whineray
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Packaging

“ Sustainability is at the heart of our Co-op. 
At Farm Source we’re working to reduce 
waste by eliminating non-recyclable 
packaging, facilitating recycling and using 
recycled materials.” 

– Anne Douglas, Director Category,  
Marketing & Digital Innovation

Reducing water usage at site

“ We’ve taken an holistic, circular and  
nature-based approach to look at how  
we could work in partnership with nature. 
By providing the right amount of nutrients 
for the native plants and habitat to  
thrive promotes greater biodiversity 
within the wetland.” 

– Stuart Glen, Maungatūroto Environmental Manager
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Products 
& customers 

At Fonterra we believe our 
New Zealand pasture-based farming 
produces the best milk in the 
world, a testament to the care and 
attention our farmer owners give to 
their animals and the land.
This high level of focus means that our on-farm carbon 
footprint is amongst the lowest in the world. As our 
customers and consumers become more focused on the 
provenance of their food, our sustainability credentials are 
more important than ever before as we offer our trusted 
goodness beyond New Zealand’s backyard. 

We play an important part in the development of new dairy 
innovations, helping customers as they look to nutrition 
solutions to help them live longer and healthier lives. 
This year, Fonterra’s Research and Development Centre 
(FRDC) celebrated turning 95, and this centre of excellence 
continues to be an important part of our strategy to 
become a leader in innovation and science.

As the world changes, we change with it, adapting to 
the evolving needs and desires of our customers and 
consumers. Using our extensive dairy expertise, we 
are creating new value-add products to cater to the 
changing tastes of consumers around the world. Through 
these innovations, we are maximising value for both our 
customers and farmer owners, while ensuring we utilise 
every single drop of milk. 

Billie, Tararua

“Nurture is a great example of an 
entrepreneurial mindset. If you can’t 
get somebody to do it for you then do it 
yourself and make it happen and that’s 
exactly what the team did. Their ‘start-up 
like’ model meant Fonterra was able to 
get Nurture to market quickly and on a 
shoestring budget.”

– Judith Swales, Fonterra CEO APAC
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Provenance

“ It’s becoming increasingly important 
to customers to know where their food 
comes from and that it’s being produced 
sustainably. Simply Milk offers customers 
the opportunity to purchase their 
everyday milk and know their choice is 
making a difference to something that’s 
really important to them.”

– Chris Anderson. Merchandise Manager  
for chilled beverages at Foodstuffs North Island

Chris Anderson, Foodstuffs North Island
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Reducing Waste Driving innovation 

“Because there is less waste and spillage 
with every pour from the Anchor café 
milk tap, it means less cost for us and 
increased productivity and time savings 
for the baristas making coffee. From our 
perspective it also enhances the whole café 
experience because it gives us more time to 
connect with our customers.”

– Eric Heycoop, Owner Emporio Coffee

Elise, Food Technologist, Auckland
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Taking the Co-op to our customers

Tapping into trends

Coffee beans roasted in Anchor Butter in Vietnam

Our mozzarella gives dumplings a twist in China
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Chairman, 
Member of the People, Culture and Safety Committee, 
the Disclosure Committee, and the Governance Development 
Programme Committee

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2018, last re-elected 2021

B. Horticulture, PG Dip Com Agribusiness

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Appointed Director, Member of 
the Co-operative Relations Committee, the Divestment Review 
Committee and the People, Culture and Safety Committee

TERM OF OFFICE Appointed 2015

BA (Modern Asian Studies, Griffith), CIM, INSEAD

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Member of the 
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, the Co-operative Relations 
Committee, the Divestment Review Committee and the Milk 
Price Panel

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2017, last re-elected 2020

BCA, FCA

PETER MCBRIDE CLINTON DINES BRENT GOLDSACK

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Member of 
the Co-operative Relations Committee and the People, Culture 
and Safety Committee

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2018, last re-elected 2021

BAgrSci

LEONIE GUINEY

Board of Directors
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Board of Directors (continued)

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Appointed Director, Chair 
of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, Member of the 
Disclosure Committee, the Divestment Review Committee, 
the Milk Price Panel and is an observer on the People, Culture 
and Safety Committee

TERM OF OFFICE Appointed 2017

BCom, FCA (CAANZ)

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Appointed Director, Chair of the 
People, Culture and Safety Committee, and Member of the Audit, 
Finance and Risk Committee

TERM OF OFFICE Appointed 2020

BA, MBA

BRUCE HASSALL HOLLY KRAMER

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Chair of 
the Co-operative Relations Committee, Member of the People, 
Culture and Safety Committee and the Governance Development 
Programme Committee, and Fonterra appointed Director of FSF 
Management Company Limited

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2017, last re-elected 2019

B.Agr.Sc

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Member 
of the Co-operative Relations Committee and the Disclosure 
Committee, and Fonterra appointed Director of Fonterra 
Farmer Custodian Limited

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2018, last re-elected 2021

B.Agr, PG AgrSci

JOHN NICHOLLSANDY MACFARLANE
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Chair of the 
Disclosure Committee and the Divestment Review Committee, 
Member of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, and an 
observer on the Milk Price Panel

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2020

ONZM, LLB

CATHY QUINN 

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Elected Director, Member of the 
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, and Fonterra appointed 
Director of FSF Management Company Limited

TERM OF OFFICE Elected 2016, last re-elected 2019

FCA

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES Appointed Director, Chair 
of the Milk Price Panel and Member of the Audit, Finance 
and Risk Committee, the Disclosure Committee and the 
Divestment Review Committee 

TERM OF OFFICE Appointed 2016

BCom, Diploma of Business

DONNA SMIT SCOTT ST JOHN 

Board of Directors (continued)
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MILES HURRELL

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

 

KATE DALY

MANAGING DIRECTOR, PEOPLE AND CULTURE 

MIKE CRONIN

MANAGING DIRECTOR CO-OPERATIVE AFFAIRS

Fonterra Management Team

TEH-HAN CHOW

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, GREATER CHINA
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EMMA PARSONS

MANAGING DIRECTOR, STRATEGY AND OPTIMISATION 

MARC RIVERS

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

KOMAL MISTRY-MEHTA 

CHIEF INNOVATION AND BRAND OFFICER

JUDITH SWALES

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, ASIA PACIFIC (APAC)

Fonterra Management Team (continued)
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Fonterra Management Team (continued)

KELVIN WICKHAM

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AMENA 

Fonterra Management Team Overview FRASER WHINERAY

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
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Non-GAAP Measures
Fonterra uses several non-GAAP measures when discussing financial performance. Non-GAAP measures 
are not defined or specified by NZ IFRS. 

Reconciliation from profit after tax to total Group normalised EBITDA

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Profit after tax 583 599
194 252

37 10
169 103

(7) (5)
635 642

– –
Total Group EBITDA 1,611 1,601

(42) –
– (32)
– (23)
– (40)

57 39
– 49

Total normalisation adjustments 15 (7)
Total Group normalised EBITDA 1,626 1,594
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Reconciliation from profit after tax to total Group normalised EBIT

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Profit after tax 583 599
194 252

37 10
169 103

(7) (5)
Total Group EBIT 976 959

15 (7)
Total Group normalised EBIT 991 952

Reconciliation from profit after tax to normalised profit after tax and normalised earnings 
per share

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Profit after tax 583 599
15 (7)
(7) (4)

Normalised profit after tax 591 588
1 (21)

(24) (17)
Normalised profit after tax attributable to equity holders of  
the Co-operative 568 550

1,613,353 1,613,105
Normalised earnings per share ($) 0.35 0.34

Reconciliation from gross profit from continuing operations to total Group normalised 
gross profit

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Gross profit from continuing operations 3,216 2,984
124 153

– (23)
Total Group normalised gross profit 3,340 3,114

Hannah & Henry, Canterbury
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TERMS DEFINITION

Active Living

Adjusted net debt

Aggregate minimum 
shareholding 
requirement

AMENA

Asia Pacific

Attributable to equity 
holders of the Co-
operative

Average capital 
employed

Bulk liquids

Business growth capital 
expenditure

TERMS DEFINITION

Capital employed

Capital expenditure

Capital invested

Consumer

Continuing operations

Custodian

Debt to EBITDA

DIRA

Discontinued operations

Dividend yield

Glossary

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
 

GLOSSARY
 

50CONTENTS



TERMS DEFINITION

Earnings before interest 
and tax (EBIT)

Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA)

Earnings per share (EPS)

EBIT margin

EBITDA margin

Economic rights

Essential capital 
expenditure

Farmgate Milk Price

Fonterra's average NZD/
USD conversion rate

Foodservice

TERMS DEFINITION

Free cash flow

Gearing ratio (Adjusted 
net debt)

Global accounts

Global Dairy Trade (GDT)

Greater China

Gross margin

Group Operations

Held for sale

Ingredients

kgMS

Net debt

Net tangible assets per 
security

Net working capital
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TERMS DEFINITION

Non-reference products

Non-shareholding farm

Normalisation 
adjustments

Product channel

Profit after tax margin

Reference commodity 
products (also referred to 
as reference products)

Reported

Retentions

Return on capital

Season  
 

TERMS DEFINITION

Share Standard

Shareholding farm

Total Group

Total pay-out

Tradeable shares 

Unallocated costs and 
eliminations

Voucher

WACC

Weighted average share 
price

Working capital days
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Income Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

GROUP $ MILLION

NOTES 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 20211 

Continuing operations
3 22,953 20,565
4 (19,737) (17,581)

Gross profit 3,216 2,984
141 129

(581) (574)
(516) (476)
(831) (816)
(415) (365)

10 5
Profit before net finance costs and tax from continuing 
operations 6 1,024 887

14 9
(208) (261)

10 (194) (252)
Profit before tax from continuing operations 830 635

21 (169) (103)
Profit after tax from continuing operations 661 532

Discontinued operations
2 (78) 67

Profit after tax 583 599

GROUP $ MILLION

NOTES 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 20211 

Profit after tax is attributable to:
584 578

(1) 21
Profit after tax 583 599

Earnings per share:
5 0.38 0.31

5 (0.02) 0.05
5 0.36 0.36

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Profit after tax 583 599
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the Income Statement:

(320) (127)
103 (112)

(1) (14)
4 (3)

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to the Income Statement (214) (256)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the Income Statement:

16 5
(8) –

16 (2)
Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the Income Statement 24 3
Total other comprehensive expense (190) (253)
Total comprehensive income 393 346

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
394 327

(1) 19
Total comprehensive income 393 346

Total comprehensive income arises from:
461 297
(68) 49

Total comprehensive income 393 346

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GROUP $ MILLION

NOTES 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 20211

ASSETS
Current assets

288 985
12 2,482 1,802
13 5,007 3,766
18 78 47

64 31
230 249
107 95

2 473 462
Total current assets 8,729 7,437
Non-current assets

16 6,067 5,979
17 398 486

113 91
18 2,216 2,195
21 551 460

434 437
154 163
119 93

Total non-current assets 10,052 9,904
Total assets 18,781 17,341

GROUP $ MILLION

NOTES 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 20211

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

31 20
9 356 818

14 2,403 2,208
15 2,119 1,825

107 87
733 84

22 70 72
71 57

2 628 542
Total current liabilities 6,518 5,713
Non-current liabilities

9 4,900 4,254
313 359

22 79 82
21 50 25

15 39
Total non-current liabilities 5,357 4,759
Total liabilities 11,875 10,472
Net assets 6,906 6,869
EQUITY

7 5,891 5,892
1,611 1,350

20 (253) (355)
20 (346) (26)

30 2
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative 6,933 6,863

(27) 6
Total equity 6,906 6,869

Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 JULY 2022

PETER MCBRIDE BRUCE HASSALL

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

GROUP $ MILLION

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE CO-OPERATIVE

SUBSCRIBED EQUITY RETAINED EARNINGS

FOREIGN CURRENCY 
TRANSLATION 

RESERVE HEDGE RESERVES OTHER RESERVES TOTAL
NON-CONTROLLING 

INTERESTS
TOTAL  

EQUITY

As at 1 August 2021 5,892 1,350 (355) (26) 2 6,863 6 6,869 
– 584 – – – 584 (1) 583 
– – 102 (320) 28 (190) – (190)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) – 584 102 (320) 28 394 (1) 393 
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

– (323) – – – (323) – (323)
(1) – – – – (1) – (1)
– – – – – – (32) (32)

As at 31 July 2022 5,891 1,611 (253) (346) 30 6,933 (27) 6,906 

As at 1 August 2020 5,887 933 (229) 101 – 6,692 11 6,703
– 578 – – – 578 21 599
– – (126) (127) 2 (251) (2) (253)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) – 578 (126) (127) 2 327 19 346
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

– (161) – – – (161) – (161)
5 – – – – 5 – 5
– – – – – – (24) (24)

As at 31 July 2021 5,892 1,350 (355) (26) 2 6,863 6 6,869
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GROUP $ MILLION

NOTES 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
1,024 887

(48) 72
Total Group profit before net finance costs and tax 976 959

– 635 642
– 309 (136)
– (42) –
– 2 – (32)
– – (40)
– – 49
– 2 – (23)
– 2 57 39
– (7) (9)

952 490

– (821) 11
– (1,222) (556)
– 201 199
– 293 238
– (49) (63)

(1,598) (171)
Net cash flows from operations 330 1,278

(137) (84)
Net cash flows from operating activities 193 1,194

Cash Flow Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

GROUP $ MILLION

NOTES 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Cash flows from investing activities 

– 26 638
– 17 9
– 2 25
– – 110

– (480) (441)
– (4) (28)
– (72) (80)
– (6) (10)
Net cash flows from investing activities (517) 223
Cash flows from financing activities 

– 3,919 2,402
– 15 10
– – 27

– (297) (308)
– (3,634) (3,142)
– (323) (157)
– (32) (24)
– (1) –
Net cash flows from financing activities (353) (1,192)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash (677) 225

982 780
(24) (23)

Closing cash 281 982
Reconciliation of closing cash to the Statement of Financial 
Position

288 985
(31) (20)

2 24 17
Closing cash 281 982
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Basis of Preparation
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

a) About Fonterra

b) Basis of preparation

–

–

–

–
Fair value measurement

–

Re-presentations

Income Statement

Balance Sheet

c) Basis of consolidation

Translation of the Financial Statements into NZD 

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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d) Material accounting policies

New and amended International Financial Reporting Standards 

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

e) Significant judgements and estimates 

NOTE ITEM INVOLVING SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT OR ESTIMATION 

Divestments –

–
Revenue from sale of goods –
Property, plant and equipment –
Intangible assets –
Taxation –

–
Contingent liabilities, provisions 
and commitments 

–

Fair value measurement –

f) Global uncertainties 

Basis of Preparation (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

NOTE FS PAGE

Performance 11
11
14
17
18
19
20

Debt and Equity 21
21
22
23
25
26

Working capital 28
28
29
29
30

Long-term assets 31
31
33
35

NOTE FS PAGE

Financial risk management 40
40
46

Other 56
56
60
61
62
64
67
68
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

Performance

Segment reporting 
Divestments 
Revenue from sale of goods 
Cost of goods sold 
Earnings per share 
Profit before net finance costs and tax 

1. Segment reporting

Divestments

a) Reportable segments 

–

–

–

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS DESCRIPTION

–
–
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

GROUP $ MILLION

CONTINUING OPERATIONS ASIA PACIFIC AMENA GREATER CHINA
UNALLOCATED COSTS AND 

ELIMINATIONS TOTAL

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

1,370 1,386 1,355 1,352 1,029 1,176 (48) (40) 3,706 3,874
7,879 7,110 8,612 7,304 6,660 6,312 (198) (161) 22,953 20,565

(6,652) (5,915) (7,475) (6,400) (5,794) (5,476) 184 210 (19,737) (17,581)
Normalised gross profit 1,227 1,195 1,137 904 866 836 (14) 49 3,216 2,984

(941) (889) (674) (605) (464) (436) (205) (223) (2,284) (2,153)
1 (49) (1) 64 37 30 3 5 26 50 65

Normalised EBIT 237 305 527 336 432 403 (214) (148) 982 896

– – – – – – 40 – – – 40
– – – – – – (49) – – – (49)
– – – – – – – 42 – 42 –
Profit/(loss) before net finance costs and tax 237 305 527 336 432 394 (172) (148) 1,024 887

– 161 155 37 6 – – (198) (161) – –
– (240) (242) (204) (196) (172) (182) (19) (22) (635) (642)
– – (3) 8 6 – – 2 2 10 5

1. Segment reporting CONTINUED

a) Reportable segments CONTINUED

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12CONTENTS



Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

1. Segment reporting CONTINUED

b) Geographical analysis of revenue

GROUP $ MILLION

NEW 
ZEALAND AUSTRALIA CHINA

REST OF 
ASIA AMERICAS

REST OF 
WORLD TOTAL

Geographical external revenue
Year ended 31 July 2022 2,140 1,726 6,244 8,016 3,050 1,777 22,953

1,726 1,699 6,119 7,056 2,597 1,368 20,565

c) Geographical analysis of non-current assets

GROUP $ MILLION

NEW 
ZEALAND AUSTRALIA CHINA

REST OF 
ASIA AMERICAS

REST OF 
WORLD TOTAL

Geographical non-current assets 
As at 31 July 2022 6,603 1,026 20 799 378 241 9,067

1 6,602 970 17 777 388 253 9,007 

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT
31 JULY 2022

AS AT
31 JULY 20211

Reconciliation of geographical non-current assets  
to total non-current assets

9,067 9,007
551 460
434 437

Total non-current assets 10,052 9,904

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

2. Divestments 

a) Disposal groups held for sale 

$ MILLION

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE
AS AT  

31 JULY 2022
AS AT  

31 JULY 2021

24 17
58 39
32 37
79 79
21 25

111 122
148 143

Total assets held for sale 473 462
333 282
209 150

42 54
44 56

Total liabilities held for sale 628 542
Net liabilities held for sale (155) (80)

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

2. Divestments CONTINUED

Hangu China farm 

Brazil consumer and foodservice business 

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

$ MILLION

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

472 559
(348) (429)

– 23
Gross profit 124 153

– 18
(115) (92)

– 32
(57) (39)

(Loss)/profit before net finance costs and tax (48) 72
(37) (10)

(Loss)/profit before tax (85) 62
7 5

(Loss)/profit after tax from discontinued operations (78) 67
36 13

(Loss)/profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the 
Co-operative (42) 80

3 2

(1) (19)
8 (1)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income from discontinued operations (68) 49

9 (8)
(5) 510
– (6)

Net increase in cash generated by the discontinued operations 4 496

2. Divestments CONTINUED

b) Discontinued operations

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

3. Revenue from sale of goods

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

3. Revenue from sale of goods CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

ASIA PACIFIC AMENA GREATER CHINA TOTAL

31 JULY 
2022

31 JULY 
2021

31 JULY 
2022

31 JULY 
2021

31 JULY 
2022

31 JULY 
2021

31 JULY 
2022

31 JULY 
2021

4,189 3,521 6,883 5,783 4,479 4,259 15,551 13,563
1,075 928 393 333 1,824 1,691 3,292 2,952
2,454 2,506 1,299 1,182 357 362 4,110 4,050

Revenue from sale of goods 7,718 6,955 8,575 7,298 6,660 6,312 22,953 20,565

Segment 
reporting

4. Cost of goods sold

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Opening inventory 3,766 3,268

– 13,722 11,660
– 1,113 994

6,143 5,425
(5,007) (3,766)

Total cost of goods sold 19,737 17,581
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

5. Earnings per share

GROUP

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

0.38 0.31
(0.02) 0.05
0.36 0.36

584 578
1,613,353 1,613,105

Normalised earnings per share 

GROUP

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

0.35 0.34

568 550
1,613,353 1,613,105

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the Co-operative 584 578

(42) –
– (32)
– (23)
– (40)
– 49

57 39
Total normalisation adjustments 15 (7)

(7) (4)
(24) (17)

Normalised profit after tax attributable to equity holders  
of the Co-operative 568 550
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

6. Profit before net finance costs and tax

a) Additional information about items included in profit before net finance costs and tax 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

2,159 2,117
635 642
115 110

91 83
2 –

58 26

b) Fees paid to the auditor and network firms 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

– 6.0 6.2
– 1.7 2.4
Total fees for the audit and review of the Financial Statements 7.7 8.6

– 0.1 0.1
– 1 0.1 0.1
Total fees for audit-related services 0.2 0.2
Total fees paid to auditor 7.9 8.8
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

Debt and equity

Subscribed equity instruments 

Dividends 

Borrowings 

Net finance costs 

Capital management 

7. Subscribed equity instruments

a) Co-operative shares, including shares held within the Group 
b) Units in the Fonterra Shareholders’ Fund 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

7. Subscribed equity instruments CONTINUED

c) Market capitalisation 

8. Dividends

$ MILLION

DIVIDENDS 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

1 81 –
2 242 –

3 – 80
4 – 81

Dividend declared after balance date 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

9. Borrowings

Leases

Net finance costs

a) Total borrowings

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

356 818
4,900 4,254

Total borrowings1 5,256 5,072
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

9. Borrowings CONTINUED

a) Total borrowings CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

BALANCE
AS AT  

1 AUGUST 2021 PROCEEDS
NEW LEASE 
LIABILITIES REPAYMENTS

FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE 

MOVEMENT
CHANGES  

IN FAIR VALUES OTHER
BALANCE  

AS AT 31 JULY 2022

– 1,469 – (1,375) – – 4 98 
11 2,425 – (1,437) – – – 999 

1 523 – 41 (106) – – (20) 438 
2 35 – – – – – – 35 

600 – – (350) – – – 250 
3,903 – – (366) 168 (270) 1 3,436 

Total borrowings3 5,072 3,894 41 (3,634) 168 (270) (15) 5,256 

GROUP $ MILLION

BALANCE
AS AT  

1 AUGUST 2020 PROCEEDS
NEW LEASE 
LIABILITIES REPAYMENTS

FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE 

MOVEMENT
CHANGES  

IN FAIR VALUES OTHER
BALANCE  

AS AT 31 JULY 2021

– 444 – (444) – – – –
20 1,882 – (1,888) (3) – – 11

1 604 – 34 (109) (6) – – 523
2 35 – – – – – – 35

600 – – – – – – 600
4,782 – – (633) (97) (151) 2 3,903

Total borrowings3 6,041 2,326 34 (3,074) (106) (151) 2 5,072

Leases
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

9. Borrowings CONTINUED

b) Adjusted net debt

Capital 
management

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

Total borrowings 5,256 5,072
31 20

(288) (985)
333 282

(24) (17)
77 110

(46) (157)
Adjusted net debt 5,339 4,325

10. Net finance costs

Hedge 
accounting

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Finance income 14 9

(263) (299)

– 270 151
– (225) (107)
– 10 (6)

55 38

Finance costs (208) (261)

Net finance costs (194) (252)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

11. Capital management

a) Debt to EBITDA ratio 

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

Adjusted net debt1 5,339 4,325

Profit after tax 583 599
194 252

37 10
169 103

(7) (5)
Total Group EBIT 976 959

635 642
Total Group EBITDA 1,611 1,601

2 15 (7)
Total Group normalised EBITDA 1,626 1,594

(10) (5)
58 26

– (2)

2 (7)
Total Group normalised EBITDA excluding share of profit/loss of 
equity accounted investees and net foreign exchange gains/losses 1,676 1,606

Debt to EBITDA ratio 3.2x 2.7x

Borrowings
Earnings per share
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

11. Capital management CONTINUED
b) Gearing ratio

Adjusted net debt gearing ratio

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

1 5,339 4,325

7,252 6,895

Total capital 12,591 11,220

Adjusted net debt gearing ratio (%) 42.4% 38.5%

Borrowings

c) Return on capital 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Total Group EBIT 976 959
1 15 (7)

Total Group normalised EBIT 991 952
7 8

(161) (155)
Total Group normalised EBIT including finance income on long-term 
advances less notional tax charge 837 805

Adjusted net debt2 5,339 4,325
2 (77) (110)

166 188
6,906 6,869

346 26
(501) (435)

Capital employed 12,179 10,863
177 1,418

Average capital employed 12,356 12,281

Return on capital 6.8% 6.6%

Earnings per share
Borrowings
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

Working capital

Trade and other receivables 

Inventories 

Trade and other payables 

Owing to suppliers 

12. Trade and other receivables

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

2,355 1,673
(12) (18)

2,343 1,655
1 19 25

50 67
Total trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 2,412 1,747

70 55
Total trade and other receivables 2,482 1,802

Related party transactions

GROUP $ MILLION

CURRENT

LESS THAN  
1 MONTH  
PAST DUE

MORE THAN  
1 MONTH BUT  

LESS THAN  
3 MONTHS  

PAST DUE

MORE THAN  
3 MONTHS  

PAST DUE TOTAL

As at 31 July 2022 2,164 166 55 27 2,412
1,579 114 32 22 1,747
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

13. Inventories

Raw materials and finished goods 

Emissions units held for trading 

Intangible assets

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

802 678
4,261 3,133

(95) (69)
Total raw materials and finished goods 4,968 3,742

39 24
Total inventories 5,007 3,766

14. Trade and other payables

Owing to suppliers

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

1,863 1,677
1 14 9

158 190
Total trade and other payables (excluding employee entitlements) 2,035 1,876

368 332
Total trade and other payables 2,403 2,208

Related party transactions
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

15. Owing to suppliers

GROUP

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

2,119 1,825

$9.30 $7.54
– $7.90 $6.41
– $1.40 $1.13

85% 85%
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

Long-term assets 

Property, plant and equipment

Leases

Intangible assets

16. Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation 

–

–

–

GROUP $ MILLION

LAND

BUILDINGS AND 
LEASEHOLD 

IMPROVEMENTS

PLANT,  
VEHICLES AND 

EQUIPMENT

CAPITAL  
WORK IN  

PROGRESS TOTAL

As at 31 July 2022
368 2,706 8,356 508 11,938

– (1,189) (4,682) – (5,871)
Net book value at 31 July 2022 368 1,517 3,674 508 6,067

As at 31 July 2021
350 2,670 8,170 371 11,561

– (1,118) (4,464) – (5,582)
Net book value at 31 July 2021 350 1,552 3,706 371 5,979
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

16. Property, plant and equipment CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

LAND

BUILDINGS AND 
LEASEHOLD 

IMPROVEMENTS

PLANT,  
VEHICLES AND 

EQUIPMENT

CAPITAL  
WORK IN  

PROGRESS TOTAL

Net book value
As at 1 August 2021 350 1,552 3,706 371 5,979

1 22 16 5 490 533
– 35 309 (344) –
– (87) (352) – (439)
– – – (8) (8)

(6) (1) (5) – (12)
2 2 11 (1) 14

As at 31 July 2022 368 1,517 3,674 508 6,067

Net book value
As at 1 August 2020 357 1,523 3,810 316 6,006

1 14 6 2 427 449
– 109 261 (370) –

(19) 19 – – –
– – 16 – 16
– (86) (350) – (436)
– – (5) – (5)

(1) (5) (9) (1) (16)
(1) (14) (19) (1) (35)

As at 31 July 2021 350 1,552 3,706 371 5,979

New Zealand ingredients manufacturing assets 

–

–

–
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

17. Leases

a) Right-of-use assets 

GROUP $ MILLION

NET BOOK VALUE DEPRECIATION CHARGE

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 20211

YEAR ENDED  
31 JULY 2022

YEAR ENDED  
31 JULY 2021

22 22 1 8
275 331 64 58
101 133 39 42

Total 398 486 104 108
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

17. Leases CONTINUED

b) Lease liabilities

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

94 99
344 424

Total lease liabilities 438 523

c) Other lease-related expenses recognised in the Income Statement 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

13 17

4 5
10 8
10 10

1 –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

18. Intangible assets

Goodwill 

Brands 

Software assets 

Emissions units held for compliance purposes 

Inventories

Impairment testing 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

18. Intangible assets CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT
31 JULY 20211

78 47
2,216 2,195

Total intangible assets 2,294 2,242

GROUP $ MILLION

GOODWILL BRANDS SOFTWARE
SOFTWARE 

WIP
EMISSIONS 

UNITS OTHER
TOTAL 

INTANGIBLES

As at 31 July 2022
852 1,485 1,497 74 141 36 4,085

(319) (237) (1,214) – – (21) (1,791)
Net book value at 
31 July 2022 533 1,248 283 74 141 15 2,294

As at 31 July 2021
839 80 97 28

(310) (175) – – (18)
Net book value at 31 
July 2021 529 302 80 97 10
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

18. Intangible assets CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

GOODWILL BRANDS SOFTWARE
SOFTWARE 

WIP
EMISSIONS 

UNITS OTHER
TOTAL 

INTANGIBLES

Net book value 
As at 1 August 2021 529 1,224 302 80 97 10 2,242

– – – 63 113 8 184

– – 69 (69) – – –
– (34) – – – – (34)

– – (89) – – (3) (92)

– – – – (69) – (69)

4 58 1 – – – 63
As at 31 July 2022 533 1,248 283 74 141 15 2,294

Net book value 
As at 1 August 2020 537 354 40 50 12

– – 4 84 96 – 184

– – 44 (44) – – –
– – (96) – – (2) (98)

– (2) (3) – (49) – (54)

(8) (21) (1) – – – (30)
As at 31 July 2021 529 302 80 97 10

Goodwill and indefinite life brands 

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 31 JULY 2022 AS AT 31 JULY 2021

GOODWILL BRANDS TOTAL GOODWILL BRANDS TOTAL

Asia Pacific reportable segment
–

229 282 511 229 282 511
– 140 148 288 131 148 279
– – 678 678 – 653 653
– – 120 120 – 120 120
AMENA reportable segment
– 90 20 110 97 21 118
Other CGUs 74 – 74 72 – 72
Total 533 1,248 1,781 529

Impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite life brands 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

18. Intangible assets CONTINUED

a) New Zealand consumer and foodservice CGU 

KEY ASSUMPTIONS VALUE ATTRIBUTED
CHANGE REQUIRED FOR THE CARRYING AMOUNT 
TO EXCEED THE RECOVERABLE AMOUNT

b) Australia CGU
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

18. Intangible assets CONTINUED

c) Asia brands

Anlene brand 

Anmum brand

Chesdale brand
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

Financial risk management

Financial risk management 

Hedge accounting 

19. Financial risk management

–

–

–

Hedge 
accounting

Market risk

a) Foreign exchange risk

Nature and exposure of risk 

–

–

–

–

How foreign exchange risk is managed 

Forecast foreign currency transactions 

–

–

Foreign operations

Foreign currency denominated borrowings 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

19. Financial risk management CONTINUED

a) Foreign exchange risk CONTINUED

Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency 

Sensitivity analysis

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT

513 10 351 16
(617) (13) (366) (17)

b) Interest rate risk

Nature and exposure of risk 

How interest rate risk is managed 

Sensitivity analysis

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT

48 3 48 21
(50) (3) (55) (17)

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

(7) (1)
7 1
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

19. Financial risk management CONTINUED

c) Commodity price risk 

Nature and exposure of risk 

How commodity price risk is managed 

Dairy commodity price risk 

–

–

–

Other commodity price risk 

Sensitivity analysis

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT

76 35 40 31
(77) (35) (40) (31)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

19. Financial risk management CONTINUED

Liquidity risk

Nature and exposure of risk

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 31 JULY 2022

CARRYING AMOUNT CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS 3 MONTHS OR LESS 3-12 MONTHS 1-5 YEARS MORE THAN 5 YEARS

Non-derivative financial liabilities

– (999) (1,119) (17) (33) (1,069) –
– (98) (100) – (100) – –
– (438) (443) (26) (70) (210) (137)
– (35) (41) – (1) (5) (35)
– (250) (270) (3) (157) (110) –
– (3,436) (4,031) (25) (117) (2,450) (1,439)

(31) (31) (31) – – –
(2,119) (2,119) (2,018) (101) – –
(2,035) (2,035) (2,035) – – –

(32) (32) (17) – (15) –
1 – (1) (1) – – –

Total non-derivative financial liabilities (9,473) (10,222) (4,173) (579) (3,859) (1,611)
Derivative financial instruments

22,840 7,871 10,153 3,589 1,227
(23,476) (8,098) (10,605) (3,721) (1,052)

Total gross settled derivative financial instruments (639) (636) (227) (452) (132) 175
257 274 109 70 97 (2)

Total financial liabilities and derivatives (9,855) (10,584) (4,291) (961) (3,894) (1,438)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

19. Financial risk management CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 31 JULY 2021

CARRYING AMOUNT CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS 3 MONTHS OR LESS 3-12 MONTHS 1-5 YEARS MORE THAN 5 YEARS

Non-derivative financial liabilities

– (11) (11) (6) (5) – –
– (523) (528) (27) (74) (252) (175)
– (35) (40) – (1) (4) (35)
– (600) (639) (361) (7) (271) –
– (3,903) (4,344) (126) (383) (2,116) (1,719)

(20) (20) (20) – – –
1 (1,825) (1,825) (1,718) (107) – –

(1,876) (1,876) (1,876) – – –
(60) (60) (15) (6) (38) (1)

2 – (1) (1) – – –
Total non-derivative financial liabilities (8,853) (9,344) (4,150) (583) (2,681) (1,930)
Derivative financial instruments

18,662 6,850 7,577 2,731 1,504
(18,524) (6,776) (7,562) (2,833) (1,353)

Total gross settled derivative financial instruments 142 138 74 15 (102) 151
101 120 28 13 70 9

Total financial liabilities and derivatives (8,610) (9,086) (4,048) (555) (2,713) (1,770)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

19. Financial risk management CONTINUED

How liquidity risk is managed

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

345 908
708 894

1,437 1,432
447 488
559 603
190 178

Total 3,686 4,503

Credit risk

Nature and exposure of risk 

How credit risk is managed 

Derivative contracts, cash and cash equivalents and other balances 

–

–

–

Trade and other receivables 

–

Long-term advances 

–
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting

Fair value measurement

–

–

–

Fair value hedges 

–

–

Cash flow hedges 

Net investment hedges

Costs of hedging 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED
Financial risk management

Foreign exchange risk 

Forecast foreign currency transactions 

Foreign operations 

Foreign currency denominated borrowings 

–

–

Interest rate risk 

Commodity price risk
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

a) Hedging instruments designated in a hedge accounting relationship 

AS AT 31 JULY 2021

GROUP $ MILLION

CARRYING AMOUNT IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RISK AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS MATURITY (MONTHS)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE  

RATE/PRICE NOMINAL AMOUNT1 DERIVATIVE ASSETS DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES BORROWINGS

Foreign exchange risk – Forecast foreign currency transactions
Cash flow hedges

1–18 0.663 14,636 42 (610) –
1–12 6.615 708 14 (2) –
1–12 0.714 165 1 (4) –
1–30 0.714 125 4 (2) –

1–9 2.573 46 – – –
Total 15,680 61 (618) –
Foreign exchange risk – Foreign operations
Net investment hedges

64 – 89 – – (89)
28 – 157 – – (157)

5 4.340 19 – (1) –
Total 265 – (1) (246)
Foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk – Foreign currency denominated 
borrowings 
Cash flow and fair value hedges

50–97 0.760/Floating 1,184 239 – – 
17 0.361/Floating 623 9 (206) –
28 0.656/Floating 386 10 – –
36 4.669/Floating 171 16 – –

Total 2,364 274 (206) –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

AS AT 31 JULY 2021

GROUP $ MILLION

CARRYING AMOUNT IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RISK AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS MATURITY (MONTHS)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE  

RATE/PRICE NOMINAL AMOUNT1 DERIVATIVE ASSETS DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES BORROWINGS

Interest rate risk – Borrowings
Cash flow hedges

1–60 2.43% 4,193 106 (12) – 
23–25 3.34% 178 – – –

Total 4,371 106 (12) –
Fair value hedges

8–40 Floating 250 – (4) –
47–64 Floating 534 – (19) –

Total 784 – (23) –
Commodity price risk – Forecast transactions
Cash flow hedges2

1–18 $109.55 25 5 – – 
3–27 $8.50 1,291 130 – –
1–45 $119.81 138 28 – –

Total 1,454 163 – –

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

a) Hedging instruments designated in a hedge accounting relationship CONTINUED
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

a) Hedging instruments designated in a hedge accounting relationship CONTINUED

AS AT 31 JULY 2021

GROUP $ MILLION

CARRYING AMOUNT IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RISK AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS MATURITY (MONTHS)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE  

RATE/PRICE NOMINAL AMOUNT1 DERIVATIVE ASSETS DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES BORROWINGS

Foreign exchange risk – Forecast foreign currency transactions
Cash flow hedges

1–18 0.707 11,205 152 (98) –
1–12 6.672 1,117 3 (18) –
2–13 0.776 72 1 (4) –

Total 12,394 156 (120) –
Foreign exchange risk – Foreign operations
Net investment hedges

76 – 84 – – (84)
40 – 164 – – (164)
11 4.603 18 – – –

Total 266 – – (248)
Foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk – Foreign currency denominated 
borrowings 
Cash flow and fair value hedges

62–109 0.760/Floating 1,184 227 – –
29 0.361/Floating 623 40 (211) –
40 0.656/Floating 386 39 – –
48 4.669/Floating 171 5 – –

Total 2,364 311 (211) –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

AS AT 31 JULY 2021

GROUP $ MILLION

CARRYING AMOUNT IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RISK AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS MATURITY (MONTHS)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE  

RATE/PRICE NOMINAL AMOUNT1 DERIVATIVE ASSETS DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES BORROWINGS

Interest rate risk – Borrowings
Cash flow hedges

3–60 2.39% 4,018 22 (103) –
35–37 3.34% 169 – (14) –

Total 4,187 22 (117) –
Fair value hedges

20–52 Floating 250 10 – –
10–76 Floating 559 46 – –

Total 809 56 – –
Commodity price risk – Forecast transactions
Cash flow hedges2

1–18 $65.38 13 3 – –
3–27 $6.95 707 83 – –
1–30 $100.15 109 21 – –

Total 829 107 – –

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

a) Hedging instruments designated in a hedge accounting relationship CONTINUED
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

b) Impact of hedge accounting 

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 31 JULY 2022 YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

RISK AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS USED
ACCUMULATED COST OF  

HEDGING

CHANGE IN  
VALUE USED  

TO CALCULATE HEDGE 
EFFECTIVENESS1

CHANGE IN  
VALUE OF  

HEDGING INSTRUMENT 
RECOGNISED IN OCI

AMOUNT RECLASSIFIED 
FROM HEDGING RESERVE 

TO INCOME STATEMENT

FAIR VALUE HEDGE 
ADJUSTMENTS 

RECOGNISED IN THE 
INCOME STATEMENT  

GAIN/(LOSS)2

HEDGE INEFFECTIVENESS 
RECOGNISED IN THE 
INCOME STATEMENT  

GAIN/(LOSS)

Foreign exchange risk – Forecast foreign currency transactions
Cash flow hedges (56) (545) (973) 409 – – 

Foreign exchange risk – Foreign operations
Net investment hedges – 2 2 – – – 

Foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk – Foreign currency 
denominated borrowings
Cash flow and fair value hedges (8) 145 14 5 (82) 5 

Interest rate risk – Borrowings
Cash flow hedges – 168 106 42 – 42 
Fair value hedges – (26) – – (79) – 

Commodity price risk – Forecast transactions
Cash flow hedges – 158 127 (148) – 3 
Total (64) N/A (724) 308 (161) 50 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 31 JULY 2021 YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

RISK AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS USED
ACCUMULATED COST OF  

HEDGING

CHANGE IN  
VALUE USED TO 

CALCULATE  
HEDGE EFFECTIVENESS1

CHANGE IN  
VALUE OF  

HEDGING INSTRUMENT 
RECOGNISED  

IN OCI

AMOUNT RECLASSIFIED  
FROM HEDGING RESERVE 

TO INCOME STATEMENT

FAIR VALUE HEDGE 
ADJUSTMENTS 

RECOGNISED IN THE 
INCOME STATEMENT  

GAIN/(LOSS)2

HEDGE INEFFECTIVENESS 
RECOGNISED IN THE 
INCOME STATEMENT  

GAIN/(LOSS)

Foreign exchange risk – Forecast foreign currency transactions
Cash flow hedges (24) 19 323 (664) – –

Foreign exchange risk – Foreign operations
Net investment hedges – 10 10 – – –

Foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk – Foreign currency 
denominated borrowings
Cash flow and fair value hedges (14) 189 (42) 57 (152) (1)

Interest rate risk – Borrowings
Cash flow hedges – 3 70 51 – 45
Fair value hedges – 54 – – (31) –

Commodity price risk – Forecast transactions
Cash flow hedges – 107 154 (95) – –
Total (38) N/A 515 (651) (183) 44

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

b) Impact of hedge accounting CONTINUED
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

c) Impact to reserves in equity 

Hedge reserves

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

Opening balance (26) 101
Movements attributable to cash flow hedges

(726) 505

– 308 (651)
(26) (30)

124 49
Total movement (320) (127)
Closing balance1 (346) (26)

Foreign currency translation reserve 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Opening balance (355) (229)
Movements attributable to net investments in foreign operations 
and net investment hedges 

– 76 (67)
– 27 (42)

– (1) (14)
– – (3)
Total movement 102 (126)
Closing balance1 (253) (355)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

20. Hedge accounting CONTINUED

d) Income Statement impact from derivatives not designated in a hedge relationship 

GROUP $ MILLION

DERIVATIVES NOT DESIGNATED IN A 
HEDGING RELATIONSHIP

LOCATION OF GAIN/(LOSS) IN 
INCOME STATEMENT 31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

– 4
1 (182) 25

(39) 14
9 (1)
7 (2)

Total (205) 40
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

Other

Taxation 

Contingent liabilities, provisions and commitments 

Related party transactions 

Subsidiaries 

Fair value measurement 

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

Net tangible assets per quoted equity security 

21. Taxation

–

–

–
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

21. Taxation CONTINUED

a) Taxation – Income Statement

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

118 83
(9) 11

– 60 9
Tax expense 169 103

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Profit before tax from continuing operations 830 635
232 178

– (11) (9)
– 95 85
– (62) (85)
– (9) 11
Tax expense before distributions and deferred tax 245 180
Effective tax rate before distributions and deferred tax 29.5% 28.3%

(79) (77)
Tax expense before deferred tax 166 103
Effective tax rate before deferred tax 20.0% 16.2%

– 2 (2)
– 1 2
Tax expense from continuing operations 169 103
Effective tax rate 20.4% 16.2%

Imputation credits
20 20

Tax losses
 

54
 

45
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

21. Taxation CONTINUED

b) Taxation – Statement of Financial Position 

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 31 JULY 2022 AS AT 31 JULY 2021

DEFERRED  
TAX ASSET

DEFERRED  
TAX LIABILITY NET

DEFERRED  
TAX ASSET

DEFERRED  
TAX LIABILITY NET

Deferred tax 
1,613 (1,658) (45) 1,589 (1,637) (48)

– (380) (380) – (380) (380)
117 (109) 8 142 (134) 8
131 – 131 17 – 17

93 – 93 85 – 85
79 – 79 45 – 45
92 – 92 82 – 82

348 – 348 434 – 434
187 – 187 215 – 215

9 (21) (12) 7 (30) (23)
Total before offsetting 2,669 (2,168) 501 2,616 (2,181) 435

(2,118) 2,118 – (2,156) 2,156 –
Total 551 (50) 501 460 (25) 435
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

21. Taxation CONTINUED

b) Taxation – Statement of Financial Position CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Movements for the year
Opening balance 435 401

1 (60) (9)
124 46

2 (3)
Closing balance 501 435

Tax losses

New Zealand tax losses 

Offshore tax losses 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Uncertain Tax Positions 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

22. Contingent liabilities, provisions and commitments 
GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

70 72
79 82

Total provisions 149 154

GROUP $ MILLION

EMPLOYEE 
RELATED 

PROVISIONS
OTHER 

PROVISIONS
TOTAL 

PROVISIONS

As at 1 August 20211 108 46 154
20 103 123

(44) (17) (61)
(24) 86 62

(3) – (3)
(7) (52) (59)
(5) – (5)

As at 31 July 2022 69 80 149
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

22. Contingent liabilities, provisions and commitments CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

20 19
192 92

13 2
Total commitments 225 113

Leases

23. Related party transactions

a) Key management personnel remuneration 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

1 21 21
5 1
3 2

Total key management personnel remuneration 29 24

b) Transactions with related parties during the year 

GROUP $ MILLION

31 JULY 2022 31 JULY 2021

Equity accounted investees
1 82 83

2 4 7
– 1
6 8
– 1

3 (81) (61)
4 (167) (171)

Key management personnel
5 (157) (135)

6 8 8
3 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

23. Related party transactions CONTINUED

c) Outstanding balances with related parties

GROUP $ MILLION

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

Equity accounted investees
19 25

(14) (9)
Key management personnel

2 (22) (16)
3 (24) (21)

d) Financial guarantees 

e) Transactions with related entities 

f) Commitments 

24. Subsidiaries
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

24. Subsidiaries CONTINUED

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS (%)

SUBSIDIARY NAME
COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION  
AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

AS AT 
 31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
 31 JULY 2021

100 100
100 100
100 100

51 51
99.9
99.9
99.9
99.9

100 100
100 85
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

90 91
100 100
100 100
100 100

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS (%)

OVERSEAS SUBSIDIARIES 50% OR LESS OWNERSHIP
COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION  
AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

AS AT 
 31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
 31 JULY 2021

50 50
UAE 49 49

Divestments
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

25. Fair value measurement

–

–

–

–

Fair value hierarchy 

–

–

–
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

25. Fair value measurement CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

Measured at fair value on a recurring basis

– 211 107 7 4 – –
– – – 64 185 – –
– – – 382 390 – –

– (40) (2) (3) – – –
– – – (760) (102) – –
– – – (243) (339) – –

39 24 – – – –
24 20 18 18 36 22

Measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis
– – – – (155) (80)

Fair value 234 149 (535) 156 (119) (58)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

25. Fair value measurement CONTINUED

GROUP $ MILLION

FAIR VALUE

CARRYING AMOUNT LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

AS AT 
31 JULY 2022

AS AT 
31 JULY 2021

Financial assets
154 163 – – 153 182

Financial liabilities

– (250) (600) (246) (611) – –
– (35) (35) (34) (35) – –
– (3,436) (3,903) – – (3,511) (4,056)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

26. Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

GROUP $ MILLION

AMOUNTS OFFSET IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

GROSS FINANCIAL ASSETS/ 
(LIABILITIES)

GROSS FINANCIAL ASSETS/ 
(LIABILITIES) SET OFF

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/ 
(LIABILITIES) PRESENTED AMOUNTS NOT OFFSET NET

944 (280) 664 (444) 220
2,523 (111) 2,412 – 2,412
3,467 (391) 3,076 (444) 2,632

(1,326) 280 (1,046) 363 (683)
(2,035) – (2,035) 66 (1,969)
(2,230) 111 (2,119) – (2,119)
(5,256) – (5,256) 15 (5,241)

(10,847) 391 (10,456) 444 (10,012)
As at 31 July 2022 (7,380) – (7,380) – (7,380)

851 (165) 686 (337) 349

1,841 (94) 1,747 – 1,747
2,692 (259) 2,433 (337) 2,096
(608) 165 (443) 292 (151)

(1,876) – (1,876) 45 (1,831)
(1,919) 94 (1,825) – (1,825)
(4,403) 259 (4,144) 337 (3,807)

As at 31 July 2021 (1,711) – (1,711) – (1,711)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

27. Net tangible assets per quoted equity security

GROUP

AS AT  
31 JULY 2022

AS AT  
31 JULY 2021

Net tangible assets per security
2.86 2.87

1,613 1,613
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion

Basis for opinion

International Code 
of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand)

International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report (CONTINUED)

Materiality

Scoping
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THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT

Revenue recognition

Key audit matters

Independent Auditor’s Report (CONTINUED)
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THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT

Goodwill and brands

Independent Auditor’s Report (CONTINUED)
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THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT

The cost of New Zealand sourced milk

Independent Auditor’s Report (CONTINUED)
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Other information

Use of this independent auditor’s report

Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated 
financial statements

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements

Independent Auditor’s Report (CONTINUED)

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

74CONTENTS



in
si
gh
tc
re
at
iv
e.
co
.n
z 

 
FO

N
TE

RR
A

09
7_

FS



fonterra.com



Business Performance 
Report 2022



BUSINESS PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD 03

TOTAL GROUP PERFORMANCE 04

ON-FARM 21

GROUP OPERATIONS 26

SUMMARY OF REGIONS AND PRODUCT CHANNELS 33

ASIA PACIFIC 35

AMENA 38

GREATER CHINA 40

NEW ZEALAND MILK 42

INGREDIENTS 43

FOODSERVICE 48

CONSUMER 51

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 56

HISTORICAL SUMMARY 57

GLOSSARY 63

Contents

Harepaora & Lana, Rerewhakaaitu

Fonterra uses several non-GAAP measures when discussing financial 
performance. Non-GAAP measures are not defined or specified by 
NZ IFRS.
Management believes that these measures provide useful information 
as they provide valuable insight on the underlying performance of 
the business. They may be used internally to evaluate the underlying 
performance of business units and to analyse trends. These measures 
are not uniformly defined or utilised by all companies. Accordingly, these 
measures may not be comparable with similarly titled measures used by 
other companies.
Non-GAAP financial measures should not be viewed in isolation nor 
considered as a substitute for measures reported in accordance with 
NZ IFRS. Non-GAAP measures are not subject to audit unless they are 
included in Fonterra’s audited annual financial statements.
Please refer to the Non-GAAP Measures section in Fonterra’s 2022 
Annual Review for further information about non-GAAP measures 
used by Fonterra, including reconciliations back to NZ IFRS measures. 
Definitions of non-GAAP measures used by Fonterra can be found in 
the Glossary.
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Business Performance Dashboard

Asia Pacific  
EBIT5

AMENA  
EBIT5

Greater China  
EBIT5

$237m $527m $432m

Reported profit  
after tax1
Reported profit  
after tax1

Reported earnings 
per share2

Milk Price  
per kgMS

Dividend  
per share

Gearing  
ratio4

Total  
pay-out4

Debt to  
EBTIDA4

Total Group 
normalised EBIT3

$583 36c

$9.30 20c

42.4%

$9.50

3.2x

+ =

$991m

Net debt4

$5.3b

Return  
on capital4

6.8%
Normalised  
earnings per share2

35c

79.1%
Market share of  
New Zealand milk

Ingredients  
EBIT5

Foodservice  
EBIT5

Consumer  
EBIT5

$916m $138m $142m
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20222021202020192018

Farmgate Milk Price Dividend

$6.69
$6.35

$7.14
$7.54

$0.10

$0.05

$0.20

$6.79

$6.35

$7.19

$7.74

$9.30

$0.20

$9.50

  

We returned $9.30 on average for every 
kilogram of milk solids our farmer owners 
supplied us. Combined with a dividend of 
20 cents per share, this means a total 
pay-out of $9.50 per kgMS – a record 
pay-out for the Co-operative. 

Total Group Performance
Total pay-out1

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE REPORT 
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FY22 reported
profit after tax

Net impact of
other normalisation

Asset salesFY22 normalised
profit after tax

591

42 (50)

583

FY21 reported
profit after tax

Net impact of
other normalisation

Asset salesFY21 normalised
profit after tax

588

95 (84)

599

Our reported profit after tax of $583 million is $16 million lower than 
last year, 

FY22 Normalised to Reported Profit After Tax1FY21 Normalised to Reported Profit After Tax1

–
– –

–
–
– –

Laura & Bella-Rose, Auckland
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– Asia Pacific normalised EBIT decreased 22% to $237 million

– AMENA normalised EBIT increased 57% to $527 million

– Greater China normalised EBIT increased 7% to $432 million

Normalised profit after tax of $591 million increased $3 million on last year – 

FY22
normalised

profit after tax

TaxFinance
costs

Other
items

Operating
expenses

Gross
profit

FY21
normalised

profit after tax

588

226
(155) 31

(32)
(67)

591

 

FY21 to FY22 Normalised Profit After Tax1

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Fonterra Milk Collection Market Share in New Zealand1 Fonterra Milk Collection Market Share in Australia2 Fonterra Milk Collection Market Share in Chile3

Overall, Fonterra milk collections are down on last year.

81.7% 80.8% 80.0% 79.0% 79.1%

20222021202020192018

21.6%

18.3%

15.8% 15.4% 15.9%

20222021202020192018

20.6%
19.3%

20.2%
21.2%

22.5%

20222021202020192018

Milk collections for main regions (litres, million)

Fonterra New Zealand1

16,404
down 4.2%

Fonterra Australia2

1,362
stable

Fonterra Chile3

508
up 5.2%

Total

18,274
down 3.6% Kylie, Tararua

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Gross profit by Regions1

Asia Pacific

$1,227m
up $32m

Greater China

$866m
up $30m

AMENA

$1,137m
up $233m

Breakdown of Total Group Performance

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021 31 JULY 2022

NORMALISED BASIS NZD MILLION
CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS1

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS1 TOTAL GROUP

CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS1

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS1 TOTAL GROUP

3,874 228 4,102 3,706 218 3,924
20,565 559 21,124 22,953 472 23,425
(17,581) (429) (18,010) (19,737) (348) (20,085)

2,984 130 3,114 3,216 124 3,340
14.5% 23.3% 14.7% 14.0% 26.3% 14.3%
(2,153) (89) (2,242) (2,284) (113) (2,397)

65 15 80 50 (2) 48
896 56 952 982 9 991

(9) 16 7 42 (57) (15)
887 72 959 1,024 (48) 976

Our mozzarella gives 
dumplings a twist in China.

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE REPORT 

TOTAL GROUP PERFORMANCE 08CONTENTS



Gross Profit – Product Channel

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS NZD MILLIONS 2021 2022 CHANGE¹

     1,104 1,684 53%
        677 479 (29)%
     1,154 1,067 (8)%
          49 (14) –

     2,984 3,216 8%
        130 124 (5)%
     3,114 3,340 7%

Gross margin by 
Product Channel

Ingredients1

10.7%
from 8.1%%

Foodservice1

14.5%
from 22.9%

Consumer1

25.8%
from 28.4%

Total Group

14.3%
from 14.7%

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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New Zealand and Non-New Zealand Sourced Milk1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS NZD MILLION TOTAL NEW ZEALAND MILK NON-NEW ZEALAND MILK

2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

3,874 3,706 (4)% 3,016 2,856 (5)% 858 850 (1)%
20,565 22,953 12% 17,331 19,466 12% 3,234 3,487 8%
(17,581) (19,737) (12)% (14,844) (16,794) (13)% (2,737) (2,943) (8)%

2,984 3,216 8% 2,487 2,672 7% 497 544 9%
(2,153) (2,284) (6)% (1,752) (1,910) (9)% (401) (374) 7%

65 50 (23)% 56 43 (23)% 9 7 (22)%
896 982 10% 791 805 2% 105 177 69%

56 9 (84)% – – – 56 9 (84)%
14.5% 14.0% 14.4% 13.7% 15.4% 15.6%

4.4% 4.3% 4.6% 4.1% 3.2% 5.1%
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Operating Expenses1 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS NZD MILLION 2021 2022

Costs allocated to regions 
656 667
543 588
633 669

82 83
16 72

1,930 2,079
223 205

2,153 2,284
89 113

2,242 2,397

Total Group operating expenses are $155 million, or 7%, higher than last year.  

–

–

–

–

–

–

Research and Development costs   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS NZD MILLION 2021 2022

84 86
26 29

110 115
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Total Group Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NZD MILLION 2021 2022 CHANGE2

959 976 2%
(262) (231) 12%

(98) (162) (65)%
599 583 (3)%

(7) 15 –
(4) (7) 75%

588 591 1%
(21) 1 –
(17) (24) 41%

550 568 3%

34 35 3%
20 20 –

Total Group normalised EBIT increased 4%, or $39 million, to $991 million

Total Group reported EBIT increased 2%, or $17 million, to $976 million. 

–

–

Our Total Group net financing costs reduced

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Cash Flow and Change in Net Debt1

Cash from 
divestments 

and asset sales

Cash generated 
from operations

Net cash 
flow from 
operating 
activities  

Free cash flow1

Net cash flow 
investing activities

Interest, dividend 
and other

Change in 
net debt

Net movement  
in working capital

Tax payments

Capital expenditure 
and other

Our sources and uses of cash
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Cash Flow and Change in Net Debt 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS
NZD MILLION 2021 2022

–

–

–

20222021202020192018

600
1,095

1,828

(324)

1,417

 

Free Cash Flow1 ($ million) 
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As at 31 July 2022, our working capital increased $1.6 billion 
reflecting:

–

–

–

–

Working capital throughout the year has increased 5.1 days compared 
with the previous year.

–
–

Working Capital Days1Closing Inventory as at 31 July ($ billion)

20222021202020192018

82.7 82.8 84.8
90.6

95.7

 

FY22
inventory

value

VolumeCostFY21
inventory

value

3.8

5.0

0.4

0.8

Working Capital
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–

–

–

–

Net Debt1 ($ billion)

20222021202020192018

6.6 6.0 5.2
4.3

5.3

FY22
net debt

Increase in
working
capital

Interest,
dividend
& other

Net capex &
investments

Operating
cashflows2

FY21
net debt

4.3

(1.8)

0.5
0.7

1.6

5.3

Change in Net Debt1 

($ billion)

Inventory Receivables Payables 
& other3

1.2

0.8
(0.4) 

As a result of higher working capital requirements, our net debt increased $1.0 billion.

Debt to EBITDA1 (x) Gearing Ratio1,2 (%)

20222021202020192018

50.1% 49.5%
44.2%

3.2
2.7

3.3

4.3
4.6

38.5%
42.4%

Leverage Metrics
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Capital Invested

Essential
capital expenditure1

Business growth
capital expenditure1

Other
capital invested1

20222021202020192018

400

461

1,022

340

260

124

724

382

106

525

37

466
534

79

53
30

63

608 617

  

Capital Invested1 ($ million)
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Central North Island
• Tirau

• Te Awamutu

• Waitoa

• Te Rapa

• Crawford Street

• Lichfield

South Island
• Stirling

• Clandeboye

• Edendale

Kauri

Edgecumbe

Waitoa
Tirau

Hautapu

Te Awamutu

Lichfield

Kapuni

Whareroa

Pahiatua

Palmerston North

Darfield

Crawford Street 
Te Rapa

Clandeboye

Stirling
Edendale

109

34

27

48

18

444

162

5442

36

36

33

27

24
16 14

16
41

7

Health, Safety and Risk

Wastewater

Decarbonisation

Health, Safety and Risk

Decarbonisation

Information Technology

Strategy and Innovation

Other

Information Technology

Electrical Infrastructure

Asia Pacific

AMENA

Greater China

Group Operations

Group Functions

Buildings

Innovation

Food Safety and Quality

Milk Collections Assets

Other

Capital 
invested 

by business 
units ($m)

Asia Pacific 
capital 

invested 
($m)

Group 
Operations 

capital 
invested ($m)

Lower North Island
• Whareroa • Kapuni

• Palmerston North
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Return on Capital   

Total Group 
normalised EBIT1

($ million)

Average 
capital employed1

($ million)

Return on 
capital1 (%)

20222021202020192018

6.2%

5.6%

6.6% 6.6%

13,469 13,419
12,313 12,281

902 812 879 952

6.8%

12,356

991

  

Total Group return on capital improved from 6.6% to 6.8%

Return on Capital

NZD MILLION 2021 2022

952 991
8 7

(155) (161)
805 837

10,863 12,179
1,418 177

12,281 12,356
6.6% 6.8%
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Dividend Calculation

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 

NZD CENTS PER SHARE 2021 2022

34 35
2 1

36 36
(6) (2)

30 34
57% 59%

17 20
3 –

20 20
5 5

15 15

Dividend
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We believe having a strong and resilient 
dairy co-operative makes a real difference 
to our farmer owners, and to New Zealand. 
Our scale and diversification allow us to 
move our farmer owners’ milk into the 
most valuable products and markets and 
achieve scale advantages in processing, 
innovation and supply chain. This helps 
mitigate some of the risk for farmers that 
can occur when demand for certain 
products or markets soften.

On-farm

Penelope, Jess & Blair, Tararua
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Average production 
per farm (kgMS) 

Fonterra milk collection market share in New Zealand

Non-shareholding 
farms

Shareholding
farms

20222021202020192018

126

9,358

133

9,095

155

8,856

246 222

8,581 8,435

153,454
160,560

164,402
170,836 167,437

81.7% 80.8% 80.0% 79.0% 79.1%

Our New Zealand supplier base and owners

Composition of our Supplier Base1

Steven & Cooper, Morrinsville
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Share Capital 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

(MILLION) 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total tradeable shares 266 264 263 251 255

less plus

less plus
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Fonterra’s New Zealand Milk Production

Jun

kg
M

S 
(m

ill
io

ns
/d

ay
)

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

Season Milk Solids Produced
2021/22 1,478m kgMS
2020/21 1,539m kgMS
2019/20 1,517m kgMS

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE REPORT 

ON-FARM 24CONTENTS



FY22
Farmgate
Milk Price

Cash
costs

Foreign
exchange

Product
prices

VolumeFY21
Farmgate
Milk Price

 

  

$(0.11)

Revenue

$(0.48) $(0.17)

$9.30

$7.54

$2.52

New Zealand Farmgate Milk Price (per kgMS)

Higher product prices

65% of the Farmgate Milk price 
revenue is derived from WMP 
sales volume. The average 
WMP price in the 2022 season 
was 20.9% higher at US$4,019 
per metric tonne compared to 
US$3,323 per metric tonne in 
the prior season

Inflationary pressures

Increased costs mainly due to 
inflationary pressure on cash costs

Lower milk collections

Lower volume of milk to 
convert into product

Foreign Exchange Hedging

0.60

0.65

0.70

0.75

Aug-23Aug-22Aug-21Aug-20Aug-19Aug-18

NZD/USD Spot Rate

Illustrative future 18 month hedge profile¹
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Group Operations
Group Operations is comprised of the 
functions that the Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) has responsibility for (including 
New Zealand milk collection and 
processing operations and assets, global 
supply chain, digital and information 
technology, sustainability and innovation); 
Fonterra Farm Source™ retail stores; and 
the Central Portfolio Management (CPM) 
function. CPM’s goal is to optimise our 
business by connecting customers with our 
assets, farmers and markets to allocate our 
milk to the most valuable products and 
regions. It includes optimising New Zealand 
milk collections, in-market product pricing 
support for the regions, managing 
Fonterra’s dairy and non-dairy product 
price risk, as well as providing customer 
and farmer price risk management tools.

Milk powder plant, Whareroa
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20222021202020192018

Collection costs (cents/litre)

2.3
2.4 2.4 2.4

2.6

20222021202020192018

Fuel burn (litre/100km)

49.4
50.0

49.0 48.9

48.3

20222021202020192018

Collected in full on time

97.1% 97.1%
97.8%

98.6% 98.5%

kgMS collected
(million)

Litres collected 
(million)

1,505 1,523 1,517 1,539 1,478

16,932 17,123 16,876 17,121 16,404

20222021202020192018

Litres and Milk Solids Collected Cost of Collecting Milk

Fuel Efficiency when Collecting Milk

Timeliness of Collecting Milk
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Milk Solids Processed and Bulk Liquid Sales 
(million kgMS)

Milk solids available to process and where we allocated them

DIRA Bulk Liquid Other Bulk LiquidFonterra

20222021202020192018

1,472 1,487 1,482 1,503

30 32 30 313 4 5 5

1,444

30
4

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE REPORT 

GROUP OPERATIONS 28CONTENTS



New Zealand Milk Solids Allocation by Product Channel  

FY21 FY22

ConsumerFoodserviceActive LivingCore Ingredients

74.1% 73.2%

5.3% 5.9%
12.0% 13.0%

8.6% 7.9%

  

Ingredients

New Zealand Milk Solids Allocation by Region 

FY21 FY22

Greater ChinaAMENAAsia Pacific

28% 29%
36% 37% 36% 34%
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Portion of Milk Solids Made into Product Product Made Right First Time

Milk Processing Performance

96.2%

96.4% 96.4% 96.4%
96.5%

20222021202020192018

Milk utilistion

20222021202020192018

Product made right first timeCost of quality ($ million)

95 90 58 58 72

91.4%
91.9%

94.0%

95.0%
94.5%
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Supply Chain and Logistics

Port of Tauranga
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Group Operation Attribution to Regional Segments 

Group Operations’ Attribution 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
EBIT NZD MILLION TOTAL CHANGE ASIA PACIFIC CHANGE AMENA CHANGE GREATER CHINA CHANGE

 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022
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Summary by Region and Product Channels
The Group’s reportable segments are the 
three regional business units; Asia Pacific, 
AMENA and Greater China, and are 
inclusive of their respective attribution of 
Group Operations. This provides a full 
end-to-end view of the performance for 
each customer-facing regional business 
unit. Additionally, insights are provided by 
showing a breakdown of the three main 
product channels – Ingredients, 
Foodservice and Consumer. 

Totals

3,754
4%

$916m
$551m

$138m
$231m

$142m
$168m

1,029
13%

$282m
$152m

$155m
$120m

$(5)m
$3m

$432m
$29m

Greater ChinaAMENA

1,355
no change

$442m
$231m

$(4)m
$19m

$89m
$21m

$527m
$191m

1,370
1%

$192m
$168m

$(13)m
$92m

$58m3

$144m

$237m
$68m

Asia Pacific

EBIT contribution1,2

Total

Ingredients

Foodservice

Consumer

Volume (’000 MT)1
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Regions

EBITGross Profit

1,195 1,227

305 237

EBITGross Profit

904
1,137

336
527

EBITGross Profit

836 866

403 432

2021 2022

Asia Pacific

AMENA

Greater China
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Asia Pacific Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL INGREDIENTS FOODSERVICE CONSUMER

2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

– –

–

Asia Pacific’s EBIT was $237 million, 
a decrease of $68 million, or 22%, on the 
prior year.

Asia Pacific

Our Asia Pacific business covers 
New Zealand, Australia, 
Pacific Islands, South East Asia, 
and South Asia.
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Asia Pacific EBIT: Key Performance Drivers1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION TOTAL INGREDIENTS FOODSERVICE CONSUMER

305 24 79 202
(13) (1) 16 (28)
(33) 89 (77) (45)
(92) 6 (11) (87)
70 74 (20) 16

237 192 (13) 58

FY22 EBITGroup
Operations’
attribution

Operating
expenses

and other2

MarginVolumeFY21 EBIT

305

(13)

70

237

(33)
(92)

Within the region

Asia Pacific EBIT: Key Performance Drivers1
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Australia Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION  2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

–

Australia

Western StarTM BegaTM

22.8%

11.9%

5.6%

24.1%

26.1%
27.3% 27.5%

12.1%

6.8%

11.8% 12.0% 11.5%

5.6%
6.6% 6.8%

Perfect ItalianoTM

20222021202020192018

Fonterra Australia Value Market Share by Brand1

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE REPORT

ASIA PACIFIC 37CONTENTS



AMENA Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

TOTAL INGREDIENTS FOODSERVICE CONSUMER

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

–

AMENA’s EBIT was $527 million, an 
increase of $191 million, or 57%, on the 
prior year. 

AMENA

Our AMENA business covers Africa, 
Middle East, Europe, North Asia and 
the Americas.
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AMENA EBIT: Key Performance Drivers1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL INGREDIENTS FOODSERVICE CONSUMER

336 211 15 110
6 (9) 8 7

40 64 (16) (8)
(24) (2) (8) (14)

169 178 (3) (6)
527 442 (4) 89

FY22 EBITGroup
Operations'
attribution

Operating
expenses

and other2

MarginVolumeFY21 EBIT

336

6
169

527

40

(24)

Within the region

AMENA EBIT: Key Performance Drivers1

Latin America Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION  2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

Latin America
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Greater China’s EBIT was $432 million, 
an increase of $29 million, or 7%, on the 
prior year. 

Greater China Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL INGREDIENTS FOODSERVICE CONSUMER

2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

–

Greater China
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Greater China EBIT: Key Performance Drivers1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL INGREDIENTS FOODSERVICE CONSUMER

403 130 275 (2)
(55) (27) (20) (8)
20 54 (27) (7)
(4) 8 (21) 9

68 117 (52) 3
432 282 155 (5)

FY22 EBITGroup
Operations’
attribution

Operating
expenses

and other2

MarginVolumeFY21 EBIT

403

(55)

68

432

20
(4)

Within the region

Greater China EBIT: Key Performance Drivers1
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Product Channels

EBITGross Profit

1,104

1,684

365

916

EBITGross Profit

667
479 369

138

EBITGross Profit

1,154 1,067

310
142

2021 2022

Ingredients

Foodservice

Consumer
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Ingredients’ Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION  2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

Ingredients

Allocation of New Zealand 
Milk Solids
Core Ingredients

73.2%
from 74.1% 

Active Living

5.9%
from 5.3% 

The significant increase in earnings from 
our Ingredients channel reflects strong 
demand across multiple markets and 
products at a time of constrained milk 
supply. The stronger underlying market 
demand resulted in a broad strengthening 
of product prices and higher margins were 
achieved across our Ingredients portfolio, 
particularly in our protein products such 
as casein.
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Ingredients – Performance by Quarter

EBIT ($ million) Gross margin (%)

Q4Q3Q2Q1

91

11.2%
10.3%

6.8%

5.3%

195

85

(6)
Q4Q3Q2Q1

129

10.9% 11.3%

9.7%

11.1%

284
239

264

FY21 FY22

Price Relativities

–

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

Jul-22Jan-22Jul-21Jan-21Jul-20

Reference product shipment price1,2

Non-reference product shipment price1,3

FY21(US$/MT) FY22
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New Zealand Sourced Ingredients’ Product Mix1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

2021 2022

Sales Volume (‘000 MT)     
1,817 1,629

884 882

 $ billion $ per MT $ billion $ per MT

Revenue     
9.4 5,162 10.4 6,361
5.1 5,780 5.7 6,951

Cost of Milk
(7.4) (4,069) (8.3) (5,077)
(3.3) (3,678) (3.7) (4,494)
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New Zealand Milk – Ingredients Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL ASIA PACIFIC AMENA GREATER CHINA

2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

–
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Active Living1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION  2021 2022 CHANGE2
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Foodservice Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION  2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

Foodservice

Allocation of New Zealand 
Milk Solids

13.0%
from 12.0% 

We continue to focus on driving 
performance through our innovative 
Foodservice products, launching several 
cooking cream applications last year and 
earlier this year, successfully growing the 
channel and shifting milk solids into higher 
value products. However, our margins in 
our Foodservice channel have reduced as 
input costs have climbed at a significant 
rate over the past six months, and we have 
not been able to increase our in-market 
sales prices at the same rate.
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Foodservice – Performance by Quarter

EBIT ($ million) Gross margin (%)

Q4Q3Q2Q1

94

23.8%
26.3% 24.9%

15.9%

160
97

18

Q4Q3Q2Q1

27

13.2%
16.5% 15.6%

12.5%

58 39 14

FY21 FY22 4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

31 May28 Feb30 Nov31 Aug31 May

Monthly Milk Price 2020/21 Season
Monthly Milk Price 2021/22 Season

(NZ$)

Monthly Milk Prices1
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New Zealand Milk – Foodservice Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL ASIA PACIFIC AMENA GREATER CHINA

2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2
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Consumer Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS  
NZD MILLION  2021 2022 CHANGE2

–

– –

Consumer

Allocation of New Zealand
Milk Solids

7.9%
from 8.6% 

Our consumer business in Chile had a 
strong year due to sales volume growth 
and an improved product mix as we 
allocated more milk into higher margin 
products which offset rising input costs.  
However, the cost of New Zealand milk has 
climbed at a significant rate and weaker 
market conditions, including COVID-19 
restrictions and the economic crisis in 
Sri Lanka, reduced earnings in our 
Consumer channel.
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Consumer – Performance by Quarter

EBIT ($ million) Gross margin (%)

Q4Q3Q2Q1

76

26.0%
31.0% 29.6%

27.0%

114
92

28

Q4Q3Q2Q1

67

26.1% 25.7% 25.3% 26.1%

79

(22)

18

FY21 FY22

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

31 May28 Feb30 Nov31 Aug31 May

Monthly Milk Price 2020/21 Season
Monthly Milk Price 2021/22 Season

(NZ$)

Monthly Milk Prices1
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2022202120202019

48.0% 45.5%
50.5%

47.5%
51.0%

46.8%

54.7%
49.6%

  

Volume share Value share

Fernleaf™ Family Milk Powder Volume and Value Share1
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New Zealand Milk – Consumer Performance1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS 
NZD MILLION TOTAL ASIA PACIFIC AMENA GREATER CHINA

2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

–
– – –
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–

–

–

Three new products

Leche Cremosa, a creamy 
whole milk used in coffees 
and breakfast cereals 
(liquid milk category).

Le
w
an
(li

Queso Rodda, a rich and 
creamy matured gouda 

cheese (cheese category).

Yoghurt Batido Tetra, a 
yoghurt smoothie in a tetra 
box (yoghurt category).

Yogh
yogh
box (
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Discontinued Operations Performance 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY

NORMALISED BASIS
NZD MILLION TOTAL CHINA FARMS1 DPA BRAZIL

2021 2022 CHANGE2 20211 2022 CHANGE2 2021 2022 CHANGE2

– – – –

We have two discontinued operations that 
are progressing through sales processes. 

China Farms 

DPA Brazil

Discontinued Operations
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MAY 2018 MAY 2019 MAY 2020 MAY 2021 MAY 2022

Fonterra Seasonal Statistics1

JULY 2018 JULY 2019 JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Fonterra Supply Base 

Historical Summary
Market Statistics

JULY 2018 JULY 2019 JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Shareholder Supplier Returns

–
–

– –

Weighted Average Commodity Prices ($ USD per MT 
FOB)

Fonterra’s average NZD/USD conversion rate2

Staff Employed
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Total Group Overview (Continuing and Discontinued Operations)

JULY 2018 JULY 2019 JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Income Statement Measures

Revenue Margin Analysis

Cash Flow ($ million) 

Capital Measures

Neil & Adriana, Te Rapa
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Asia Pacific6,7  

JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Ingredients10  
623 610 605

3,692 3,654 4,325
391 272 459

10.6% 7.4% 10.6%
148 24 192

4.0% 0.7% 4.4%

Foodservice
154 163 177
915 930 1,079
167 218 131

18.3% 23.4% 12.1%
27 79 (13)

3.0% 8.5% (1.2)%

Consumer10

629 613 588
2,467 2,526 2,475

649 705 637
26.3% 27.9% 25.7%

64 202 58
2.6% 8.0% 2.3%

Total
1,406 1,386 1,370
7,074 7,110 7,879
1,207 1,195 1,227
17.1% 16.8% 15.6%

239 305 237
3.4% 4.3% 3.0%

Asia Pacific – Australia6,7,9

JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Total
108 106 106
406 373 365

2,036 1,953 2,094
214 243 283

10.5% 12.4% 13.5%
54 74 106

2.7% 3.8% 5.1%
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AMENA6,7 

JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Ingredients
1,031 912 895
6,506 5,784 6,899

751 534 786
11.5% 9.2% 11.4%

400 211 442
6.1% 3.6% 6.4%

Foodservice
47 61 73

235 338 411
30 42 30

12.8% 12.4% 7.3%
(5) 15 (4)

(2.1)% 4.4% (1.0)%

Consumer
355 379 387

1,133 1,182 1,302
276 328 321

24.4% 27.7% 24.7%
70 110 89

6.2% 9.3% 6.8%

Total
1,433 1,352 1,355
7,874 7,304 8,612
1,057 904 1,137

13.4% 12.4% 13.2%
465 336 527

5.9% 4.6% 6.1%

AMENA – Latin America6,7,9 

JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Total
346 379 388
926 1,045 1,131
242 285 309

26.1% 27.3% 27.3%
42 75 92

4.5% 7.2% 8.1%
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Greater China6,7 

JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

Ingredients
            691             824  697 
        3,513           4,259  4,479 
            330            298  439 

9.4% 7.0% 9.8%
            179              130  282 

5.1% 3.1% 6.3%

Foodservice
            257             274  259 
         1,531          1,691  1,824 
            341             417  318 

22.3% 24.7% 17.4%
            223             275  155 

14.6% 16.3% 8.5%

Consumer
           73               78  73 

           330             362  357 
             107             121  109 

32.4% 33.4% 30.5%
            (36)              (2)  (5)

(10.9)% (0.6)% (1.4)%

Total
         1,021          1,176  1,029 
        5,374           6,312  6,660 
           778            836  866 

14.5% 13.2%  13.0% 
            366              403  432 

6.8% 6.4% 6.5%

New Zealand and Non-New Zealand Milk6,7

JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

New Zealand Milk
        3,003         3,016 2,856
      17,212      17,331 19,466
         2,597         2,487 2,672

15.1% 14.4% 13.7%
           777              791 805

4.5% 4.6% 4.1%

Non-New Zealand Milk
            839             858 850
         3,070          3,234 3,487
            449             497 544

14.6% 15.4% 15.6%
              70              105 177

2.3% 3.2% 5.1%

Total
         3,842          3,874 3,706
      20,282        20,565 22,953
         3,046          2,984 3,216

15.0% 14.5% 14.0%
             847             896 982

4.2% 4.4% 4.3%
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Notes to the Historical SummaryDiscontinued Operations6,11 

JULY 2019 JULY 2020 JULY 2021 JULY 2022

China Farms
20 22 15 2

247 282 195 27
(14) 34 30 (4)

(5.7)% 12.1% 15.4% (14.8)%
(14) 11 34 (14)

DPA Brazil
194 205 213 216
419 411 364 445
116 128 100 128

27.7% 31.1% 27.5% 28.8%
(8) 21 22 23
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TERMS DEFINITIONS

Active Living

Adjusted net debt

Aggregate minimum 
shareholding 
requirement

AMENA

Asia Pacific

Attributable to 
equity holders of 
the Co-operative

Average capital employed

Bulk liquids

Business growth capital 
expenditure

Capital employed

Glossary
TERMS DEFINITIONS

Capital expenditure

Capital invested

Consumer

Continuing operations

Custodian

Debt to EBITDA

DIRA

Discontinued operations

Dividend yield

Earnings before interest 
and tax (EBIT)
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TERMS DEFINITIONS

Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA)

Earnings per share (EPS)

EBIT margin

EBITDA margin

Economic rights

Essential capital 
expenditure

Farmgate Milk Price

Fonterra's average NZD/
USD conversion rate

Foodservice

Free cash flow

TERMS DEFINITIONS

Gearing ratio (adjusted 
net debt)

Global accounts

Global Dairy Trade (GDT)

Greater China

Gross margin

Group Operations

Held for sale

Ingredients

kgMS

Net debt

Net tangible assets per 
security

Net working capital

Non-reference products
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TERMS DEFINITIONS

Non-shareholding farm

Normalisation 
adjustments

Product channel

Profit after tax margin

Reference commodity 
products (also referred to 
as reference products)

Reported

Retentions

Return on capital

Season

Share Standard

TERMS DEFINITIONS

Shareholding farm

Total Group

Total pay-out

Tradeable shares 

Unallocated costs and 
eliminations

Voucher

WACC

Weighted average share 
price

Working capital days

insightcreative.co.nz  FONTERRA103_BP
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fonterra.com



Sustainability 
Report 2022



About this report
This report covers the activities of Fonterra Co-operative 
Group Limited and of joint ventures under Fonterra’s 
management control. It covers year ending 31 July 2022 
– ‘FY22’ and is one supporting document to the Annual 
Review 2022, forming an integrated suite of reports. 
www.fonterra.com/annualreview2022

In certain sections throughout the report, we have included 
data relating to periods prior to FY22 where such data is 
relevant to, or useful context for the reader. Where we have 
done so, we have made it clear which year(s) the data relates to.

This is our sixth sustainability report (our first was in 2017) 
and we intend to continue this type of reporting on an annual 
basis. This report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards: 
Core option (see page 81 for an index of disclosures).

Independent assurance of the report has been completed 
by Bureau Veritas. This provides assurance that the report 
complies with GRI Standards and provides an accurate and 
fair representation of Fonterra’s sustainability performance. 
Refer to the Assurance Statement on page 87.

We know the importance of understanding stakeholder 
perspectives, so we’d appreciate your feedback on this 
report and our performance. Please email us at 
sustainability@fonterra.com
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Our approach and progress 05
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Message from Board Chair and CEO
Sustainability is core to our strategy and how we create value for 
future generations.

Peter McBride – Chair, Board of Directors 
& Miles Hurrell – CEO

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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our total 
recordable injury rate EBIT from our New Zealand value-add business. 

environmental economic

Peter McBride Miles Hurrell

8
serious harm injuries, a 
further reduction and we still 
aspire for zero harm.

34.8%
female representation in in 
senior leadership, up from 
32.4% and just short of target 
for FY22 (35.8%).

71%
of supplying farms in 
New Zealand farms now have 
a Farm Environment Plan, 
up from 53% at the start of 
the year.

6.6%
reduction in water use at our 
manufacturing sites in water-
constrained regions since 
FY18, strong turnaround on 
FY21 and just short of target 
for FY22 (8%).

11.2%
reduction in our scope 1 & 2 
GHG emissions since FY18, 
well ahead of target for 
FY22 (6.6%).

6.8%
return on capital, on plan 
for FY22.
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Trusted relationships 
through high-quality, 
innovative products and 
services and playing our 
part for positive social, 
environmental and 
economic outcomes

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES
– Understanding the needs 

of our customers and 
being responsive to these

– Partnering with others 
to help unlock the 
full potential of dairy 
and deliver improved 
sustainability outcomes

– Being clear on what 
we stand for and 
demonstrating the 
value we bring to 
specific relationships 
and more broadly

Relationships

Consistently attractive 
performance for 
providers of funding, 
including our farmer 
shareholders

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Using science 
and innovation to 
improve efficiency 
and grow value

– Sustainability credentials 
are valued, building 
preference and premium 
for our dairy

– Target to return 
~$1 billion to 
shareholders through 
planned divestments

Financial

Demonstrating that dairy 
can be a net-positive 
contributor to nature

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Leading the transition to 
net-zero GHG emissions 
for dairy nutrition

– Farmers are adopting 
and investing in leading 
on-farm practices

– Using science and 
innovation skills to 
solve environmental 
challenges on and 
off farm

Nature

Operational assets are 
resilient and efficiently 
delivering our most 
valuable products

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– A mindset of continuous 
improvement to protect 
and enhance our scale/
cost advantage and 
stay competitive on a 
world stage

– Applying innovation to 
our assets so they are 
safe and able to respond 
to future needs

Assets and 
infrastructure

Able to retain, 
develop and attract 
the best talent

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Providing a safe, healthy 
and inclusive place 
to work

– Continuously developing 
people’s skills for 
meaningful careers 
within the everchanging 
nature of work

People 
& culture

Leveraging intellectual 
property to deliver 
additional value

PRIORITY ACTIVITIES

– Converting our 
specialised dairy know-
how into value through 
the products, solutions 
and partnerships 
we develop

Intellectual 
Capital

Our approach
A sustainable future for our Co-operative is core to our strategy – it’s how we create long-term value for future generations.

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Our progress
CORE INDICATORS1 TARGET2 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

[Target]
FY23
TARGET

SEE PAGE

Total recordable injury frequency  
rate (TRIFR) per million work hours

Less than 5 4.9 5.8 5.7 6.7  
[5.6]

– See 60

Serious harm injuries Zero harm 18 10 9 8 [-] – See 60

Female representation in senior  
leadership (Band 14+)

50% by 2022 28.6% 29.1% 32.4% 34.8%  
[35.8%]

–3 See 61

Farm Environment Plans (FEPs) (NZ) 100% by 2025 23% 34% 53% 71% [67%] 84% See 61

Water reduction at manufacturing sites in 
water-constrained regions from FY18 baseline4 

30% reduction  
by 2030

3.9% increase  
on FY18

2.9% reduction  
on FY18

2.6% reduction  
on FY18

6.6% reduction on FY18 
[8%]

– See 62

Reduction in absolute Scope 1 & 2 GHG 
emissions from FY18 baseline5

30% reduction  
by 2030

1.8% reduction  
on FY18 

3.5% reduction  
on FY18

6.6% reduction   
on FY18

11.2% reduction on FY18 
[6.6%]

10.6% See 65

Farmer sentiment  
(Net Promoter Score for Fonterra) (NZ)

>10 by 2030 -19 33 23 25  
[30]

– See AR-26

Share of New Zealand milk collected  
(%kgMS for seasons ending 31st May)

– 81% 80% 79.0% 79.1%  
[79.3%]

79.0% See BP-07

EBIT from NZ value-add  
business ($ million)

– – – 616 307 388 See AR-21

Cost of quality  
(% of cost of goods sold)

– – – 0.45% 0.44% 0.35% See BP-30

New Zealand Farmgate Milk Price (per kgMS) $6.35 $7.14 $7.54 $9.30 
[$7.25-$8.75]

$8.50 - $10.00 See BP-25

Return on capital 7% – 8% by 2024 
9% – 10% by 2030

5.6% 6.6% 6.6% 6.8% 
[6.5% to 7.0%]

7.0% to 7.5% See BP-19

FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

People  
and culture

Nature Relationships Intellectual  
capital

Assets and  
infrastructure

Financial
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Bridget Coates
CHAIR

Message from the 
Sustainability Advisory Panel

Role of the panel:

Bridget Coates

Panel members:

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Engaging with our stakeholders

Determining what’s important

Responding 
to what’s 
important

Topic Reporting on our response Contribution to UN SDGs

 food safety and quality

Adapting to the effects of climate change

water

 health and safety of people at work

 animal health and welfare

employment and sustainable income creation

soil health,

nutrition and health

Maintaining ethical business practices

responsible procurement

Protecting and enhancing biodiversity

employment rights and working conditions

post-consumption waste

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 
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IN THIS SECTION

Nutrition and health 10

Food safety and quality 14

Health, safety and wellbeing 16

Investing in people 19

People and culture 

Hannah, Canterbury

87.7% 
further improving the 
composition of our everyday 
and advanced nutrition 
products to meet our 
independently endorsed 
nutritional guidelines – 
see page 11   

100% 
of our manufacturing sites 
are certified to a leading food 
safety management system – 
see page 14

34.8%
female representation in 
senior leadership continues to 
improve  – see page 21  

85.6% 
increase in on-the-job training 
and reskilling hours since FY20 
- see page 20

He aha te mea nui o te ao.
He tāngata, he tāngata, he tāngata
What is the most important thing in the world? 
It is people, it is people, it is people.

We are working together 
to care for people and make 
a positive social impact.
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Nutrition  
and health

Our approach

Good nutrition is essential for people  
to lead healthy and fulfilling lives.

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

PEOPLE AND CULTURE 
NUTRITION AND HEALTH

10CONTENTS



What we’ve been doing

Proven Active Living solutions help customers 
with new products

Improving the nutritional profile of our consumer products

Helping support immunity

Leveraging science for heart health

Anchor Family Pro+ is a 
fortified milk powder with 
key nutrients that support 
the normal function of the 
immune system.

Anchor Life 
contains nutrient 
bundles to 
support bones, 
muscles and 
joints and heart 
health.

ient

s, 

art 
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Wellness starts within – Probiotics Anlene™ Gold Plus launched in China

et al

Each tub of Anchor Probiotic+ yoghurt is packed with 
10 billion live BB12TM probiotics to support gut health.

Anchor Newdale relaunched in 
Sri Lanka with DR20TM probiotics.
Anchor
Sri Lank
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Protein+ range reaches Malaysia Investigating complementary nutrition

Compliance with regulations 

Fernleaf Protein+ 
yoghurt is 
formulated with 
extra protein to 
help consumers 
spread their 
protein intake.

What’s next

–

–

87.7% 
of everyday and advanced nutrition 
products meet our independently endorsed 
nutritional guidelines.

Our performance

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Food safety and quality

Our approach What we’ve been doing

Safety culture and capability

Simplification for increased effectiveness

Safe food. Safe people. World class quality. It’s our promise.
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Our performance

Influencing our supply chain

What’s next

–

–

–

–

–

100% 
of our manufacturing sites are certified to a 
leading food safety management system (e.g. 
FSSC22000 or BRC).

100% 
of our FSSC22000-certified manufacturing 
sites are now using the latest version of 
FSSC22000 (5.1). 

93%1 
of our global manufacturing plants have 100% 
electronic traceability from the farm vat or 
milk collection centre to the first sale to the 
customer, meaning we can track the origins of 
nearly any product within minutes.  

Zero 
During the year, there were no consumer 
recalls of product for safety reasons and no 
legal or regulatory non-compliances related 
to FSQ.

Weston & Dheeraj, Auckland
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Health, safety and wellbeing
Our approach

–

–

–

Our ambition is for all our people 
to return home safely every day, 
everywhere. 

Mira & Parehuia, Auckland.
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What we’ve been doing

Leveraging technology and partnerships for improved health 
and safety

Improving workplace safety

Lance and John taking a 
water sample from 
Waikato River before 
changing to using a safer 
drone-based approach.
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Our Performance

What’s next

–

–

–

–

One
Work-related fatality1

8 
Number of serious harm injuries

258
Number of recordable injuries

Improving critical risk management

Regulatory compliance
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Investing in people

Our long-term success depends on the 
skill and commitment of our people, so 
investing in them is vital.  

Our approach

Kylie, Pahiatua

Casper, Auckland
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What we’ve been doing

Learning and development

Culturing high performance

Claire & Mitko, Auckland
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Diversity and inclusion

Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei master carver Arekatera Maihi  
carving Te Pou Mātāpuna.
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Closing our gender pay gap Non-discrimination

What’s next

–

–

Gender pay gap by job category

JOB CATEGORY MEDIAN

Senior Leaders
0.94 -> 

0.91 
Manager

0.96 -> 

0.95
Professionals

1.10 -> 

1.12
Waged

0.83 -> 

0.83 

Gender pay gap by location

LOCATION MEDIAN

New Zealand
0.96 -> 

0.95
Australia

0.97 -> 

1.02
Brazil

0.96 -> 

0.84
Chile

1.31 -> 

1.36
Greater China

0.97 -> 

1.09
 
 
Gap narrowed    Gap widened   

  
Gap same     
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Case Studies:

Leadership essentials – Malcolm Peacey

Malcolm Peacey  
– Senior Environmental 
Manager, Edendale

Bottom: Bradley White 
& Dr Rafea Naffa

Top: Ema-Kahurangi 
Richmond, Jayda 
Maniapoto, & Jessa 
McIntyre -Taylor

High performance team  
– analytical chemistry FRDC

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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IN THIS SECTION

Land and water 25

Climate change 30

Packaging and waste 39

Animal wellbeing 42

Managing our operations 45

Tiakina te whenua i tēnei rā, hei oranga 
tangata mō ngā rā e heke mai nei.
Caring for the land today, so that the 
land cares for us tomorrow.

Nature
We are working together to 
achieve a healthy environment 
for farming and society.

71% 
of our farmer owners in 
New Zealand have a Farm 
Environment Plan tailored to 
their specific farm, on the way 
to 100% by 2025 – see page 28   

11.2%
reduction in our GHG emissions 
(scope 1 & 2) since FY18, on 
the way to 30% by 2030 – see 
page 31

6.6%
reduction in water use at our 
manufacturing sites in water-
constrained regions since FY18, 
on the way to 30% by 2030 – 
see page 26  

76% 
of our farmer owners in 
New Zealand have an Animal 
Wellbeing Plan annually 
reviewed with their vet – see 
page 43
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Land and water
Healthy freshwater, soil and ecosystems 
are essential to the long-term success 
of farmers’ businesses, the Co-operative 
and communities.

Our approach

What we’ve been doing

Improving water stewardship at our manufacturing sites

Sediment testing, Tararua.
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Using less water

Improving wastewater treatment

Upgrading the wastewater treatment facilities at Te Awamutu.

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

NATURE
LAND AND WATER

26CONTENTS



Sustainable Catchments Partnerships – Examples

Northland

Waikato – Mangapiko Stream

The beginning on an ecological corridor from 
Maungatautari to Pirongia.

Sustainable catchments
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Bay of Plenty – Waiotahe

Hawkes Bay – Tukituki Wetlands Planning

Taranaki – Rawhitiroa Wetland

Canterbury – Ashburton Flood Recovery

A constructed wetland at Tukipo.

Planting day in the Greater Wellington region.

Prioritising on-farm improvements

Quentin and Lisa helping with planting 
in the Waiotahe catchment.
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What’s next

–

–

–

71% 
of our farmer owners in New Zealand now 
have tailored Farm Environment Plans

6.6% 
reduction in water use at manufacturing sites 
in water-constrained regions

Our performance

Durham farm, Waipu
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Climate change

We support a just transition to a 
resilient, low-emissions economy and 
are committed to leading the transition 
to a net-zero GHG emissions future for 
dairy nutrition. 
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Our approach

2

2

2

What we’ve been doing

Understanding our on-farm emissions

Andrew & Chris, Canterbury
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Reducing on-farm emissions

Game-changing solutions for methane
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®

®

Methane
vaccines

Working with 
a wide range of 

New Zealand-based 
& international 
organisations 

to explore 
different ways 
to reduce GHG.

Synthesised 
methane 
inhibitors

Novel
technologies

Natural 
methane

inhibitors from
red seaweed

KowbuchaTM natural 
cultures & 

fermentations
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Energy efficiency

2

2

2

2

New biomass boiler under construction at Stirling

Transitioning to renewable energy sources
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Electrifying transport

One of our pool cars in the South Island 
demonstrating what is possible. Photo by Nick Williams.

Nick Williams, Lead Automation Engineer and 
personal owner of an EV, knew that driving an 
EV would be a new experience for many of our 
employees and likely to cause some anxiety 
given our rural operating environment. To 
increase confidence, he took one of the new pool 
cars on a round trip from Darfield in Canterbury 
to Tuamarina at the top of the South Island and 
back (about 700 km) and shared his experience 
on our intranet.
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Northland

6 6 11

Waikato

61 38 201        1

Taranaki

5 3 146

Southland

8 7 17

Bay of Plenty

8 4 19

Manawatu

3 4 2

Nelson/Tasman

0 0 2

Canterbury

6 13 76

Otago

2 0 23

Auckland

7 6 89

Fonterra’s fleet 
decarbonisation

We are trialling our 
first full electric milk 
tanker - Milk-E.
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Trialling new organic battery technology

PolyJoule battery during farm trial near Te Rapa. Photo by Glenn Sullivan

Milk vat monitoring system

11.2% 
reduction in scope 1 & 2 GHG emissions since 
FY18. Well on way to 30% by 2030.

1,742,123 
reduction in GHG emissions from dairy 
farming since 14/15 (NZ) (Pre-farm gate tCO2-e)

Our performance

What’s next

–

–

–

–
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Manufacturing GHG emissions by 
2

FY22FY21FY18

1,724

284

71
2,201

122

1,662

208

118
55

1,577

202

114

2,043
1,944

52

Manufacturing use of renewable 

FY22FY21FY18

Electricity Biofuels

Purchased steam from renewable fuels

9%

284

71

10%

1%

10%

3%

1%

11%

3%

1%14%

15%

Manufacturing GHG emissions by 
2

370

190

156

400

766

52

Electricity Purchased 
steam

Liquid fossil
fuel

Natural gas

Coal

Scope 3
(manufacturing)

Non-energy
(e.g. packing
CO2, refrigerants)

Total GHG emissions by value chain 
2

Scope 1 and 2 by geography

Scope 1 and 2 by emissions source

New Zealand Australia

Rest of the World

Scope 3
(manufacturing)

9

FY22FY21FY18

Farming 
(New Zealand)

Farming 
(Australia)

Farming 
(Rest of the World)

Distribution and other

Manufacturing

20,871

2,011

2,201

26,867

1,574

210
202

183

20,459

1,369
1,500

2,043

19,632

1,352
1,369

25,572
24,480

1,944
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Packaging and waste

Our approachPackaging is vital for delivering safe and 
quality nutrition, and is also a large part 
of our direct and indirect waste.

What we’ve been doing

Sustainable Packaging Programme

Sherri & Kerey, Darfield
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Improving our logistics packaging

Improving our consumer packaging

Collaborating to improve recycling 

Example of the new cardboard 
dunnage being trialled in containers.
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56%

12%

21%

11%

89% is made 
of recycle-ready 

material

Our performance

Working together to reduce solid waste

What’s next

–

–

–
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Animal wellbeing
Our approach

We want all animals to be valued and 
treated with respect and care throughout 
their lives. 

Blair, Billie & Penelope, Tararua
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What we’ve been doing

Animal Wellbeing Plans

Providing insights and training Managing the risk of travel on biosecurity
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Improving policies and standards

76% 
of farms in New Zealand agreed an Animal 
Wellbeing Plan with their vet this year.

Our performance

What’s next

–

–

–

Holli & Penelope, Tararua.
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Managing operations

We are committed to taking a 
leading industry approach to 
environmental management for our 
manufacturing operations. 

Independent evaluation and certification of sites

Environmental compliance

Water discharge related spills

Darfield site
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Ethical business practices 54

Employment 
and income creation

56

Nā tō rourou, nā taku rourou ka ora ai te iwi.
With your contribution and my contribution, 
we’ll all thrive together.

Working together  
We are working together to 
deliver a sustainable business.

6,315 
farms in New Zealand achieved 
a recognition level in The 
Co-operative Difference 
framework, up from 3,246 
– see page 47   

74%
of purchased palm oil 
is now certified as at least 
‘segregated supply’ from 
credible organisations 
– see page 50

80%
of internal audits completed 
across our global business 
included an assessment of 
the risks related to corruption 
 – see page 54

$13.7b
returned to farmers in 
New Zealand – see page 56

Stephanie, Craig & Veronica, Waiuku
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Working  
with farmers
Farmers are at the heart of our Co-operative  
and we add value to their milk and businesses 
by supporting continued innovation. This 
helps them prepare for changing regulations 
and meet expectations that our customers 
and communities value, so they can continue 
to farm for generations to come.

The Co-operative Difference

4,522
ACHIEVED 
LEVEL 2

Te Puku
“The MID POINT” 
3c/kgMS on all qualifying milk

1,155
ACHIEVED 
LEVEL 1

Te Pūtake
“THE START  
OF THE JOURNEY” 
7C/KGMS on all milk supplied

638
ACHIEVED 
LEVEL 3

Te Tihi
“THE SUMMIT OF  
THE MOUNTAIN”
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Farms we manage

Setting expectations for supplying farms

–

–

–

–

Farm Environment Plan discussions, Tararua

Stephanie & Brent, Waiuku
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Working with vendors

We have the opportunity to influence our 
supply chain and achieve alignment with 
our sustainability commitments and goals.

Our approach

Lex & Francisca, Hamilton
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What we’ve been doing

Delivering a framework to improve management of our vendors

Forest products

What’s next

–

–

–

74% 
of purchased palm oil is now certified as 
at least ‘segregated supply’ from credible 
organisations.

Our performance

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

WORKING TOGETHER 
WORKING WITH VENDORS

50CONTENTS



Working in partnership

We know we can achieve more and have a 
greater positive impact when we partner 
with others. 

Precision delivery of valuable nutrition Living Water

–
)

–

–
–Dr. Robert Langer, the co-founder of VitaKey and Professor at 

Massachusetts Institute of Technology
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Completed

In progress

National projects

Catchment scale projects

Farm scale projects

Example projects

KEY
Wairua River/Te awa o Wairua, Northland/Te Tai Tokerau

 

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

LandscapeDNA

Farming with Native Biodiversity

Detention bunds

Drainage network redesign

Trees on farm

CAPTure catchment prioritisation 

Fine Particle Fertiliser Application

Catchment water monitoring

In-stream sediment traps 

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

WORKING TOGETHER 
WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP

52CONTENTS



Sustainable Nutrition Initiative

®

®

® ®

®

®

®

End-of-life pallets upcycled to protect nature

Lawrence Hooker, Fonterra’s National Pallet Manager and Rose 
Graham – DOC Living Water Ranger

“ The participants are proud of what 
they produce. They know they’re doing 
something positive for the environment and 
community, and they’re learning a range of 
new skills at the same time.” 

– Department of Corrections Senior Community  
Work Supervisor Warren Smith
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Ethical business practices

Our approachSo that we live up to the intent of our 
Purpose, the experiences and interactions 
that our customers, farmers, business 
partners and communities have with our 
people must foster trust and credibility. 
We earn that trust by acting ethically and 
living our Values every day.

Our performance

Anti-corruption

Jess, Penelope, Blair & Holli, Tararua
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Legal compliance Responsible political behaviour

Principled approach to tax

Michelle & Guillaume, Auckland
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Employment and income creation

Our Co-operative supports the livelihoods 
of tens of thousands of people. 

Our approach

$13.7b 
Through the milk price we returned more  
than $13.7 billion to regional New Zealand

19,608 people 
Fonterra directly employs 19,608 people,  
with over 60% of those based in New Zealand

Woody, Palmerston North
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Our performance

ECONOMIC VALUE 
DISTRIBUTED FY21 FY22

What’s next

–
– )
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Our contribution to United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals

Fonterra supports the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs), and we are committed to playing our part, by working 
collaboratively to deliver change at scale. 

The Dairy Declaration of Rotterdam1, recognises the SDGs as the overarching 
framework for achieving sustainable development to 2030 and the critical 
contribution the dairy sector will play.
We understand that the SDGs and their underlying targets can help us refine our 
sustainability approach, not only to reduce risks, but also to identify opportunities 
for growth that contribute positively to their achievement.
We have analysed our business activities, material topics and value chain against the 
SDGs and their underlying 169 targets. Here we identify the specific goals where we 
can make the most material contribution, the objectives we have prioritised for 
specific indicators and provide a link to related coverage in our reporting this year.
The dairy sector’s global approach to sustainable development is represented by the 
Dairy Sustainability Framework (DSF). Fonterra is a founding and implementing 
member of the DSF. We are committed to addressing all 11 DSF criteria within our 
supply chain, through a process of continuous improvement prioritised in 
conjunction with the findings of our materiality assessment. Whenever we refresh 
our materiality assessment, we ensure that the 11 DSF criteria plus human rights 
and deforestation are always considered as potential topics in the process.
For more information, see:

 – www.dairysustainabilityframework.org
 – www.saiplatform.org/sdp/

SDG OUR CONTRIBUTION INDICATORS RELATED COVERAGE

NO POVERTY Create positive employment opportunities along our value chain 1.2 See Employment and Income Creation on page 56

ZERO 
HUNGER

Provide access to safe, affordable nutrition 2.1 See Food, safety and quality on page 14

Address malnutrition through products tailored to specific health needs 2.2 See Nutrition and health on page 10

Lift dairy productivity to meet growing nutritional needs in a sustainable way 2.4 See Working with farmers on page 47 

GOOD HEALTH  
& WELLBEING

Responsibly provide products to support wellbeing of people, including of 
mothers and infants

3.1
3.2

See Nutrition and health on page 10
See Nutrition and health on page 10

Continue to improve the nutritional profile of our products
3.4 See Nutrition and health on page 10

See Health, safety and wellbeing on page 16Promote healthy and informed consumer choices

Provide a safe working environment 3.9 See Health, safety and wellbeing on page 16

GENDER  
EQUALITY

Provide equal participation and opportunities  
for women in the workforce 5.5 See Diversity and inclusion on page 21

See Closing our gender pay gap on page 22 

LIFE ON LAND

CLEAN WATER  
& SANITATION

LIFE BELOW  
WATER

Reduce the impact of farming and manufacturing  
on water quality and ecosystems

6.3 

14.1
15.1
15.2

See Improving water stewardship on page 25
See Improving wastewater treatment on page 26
See Prioritising on-farm improvements on page 28
See Working with farmers on page 47

Improve water efficiency, especially in areas of constrained supply 6.4 See Using less water on page 26

Protect and restore freshwater ecosystems 6.6 See Prioritising on-farm improvements on page 28
See Sustainable catchments on page 27

DECENT WORK  
& ECONOMIC 
GROWTH

Provide positive and inclusive employment for all groups 8.5
See Learning and development on page 20
See Diversity and inclusion on page 21 
See Employment and Income Creation on page 56

Address labour and human rights issues in our supply chain 8.7
8.8

See Working with vendors on page 49
See our Modern Slavery Statement.

Provide a safe and secure working environment 8.8 See Health, safety and wellbeing page 16

RESPONSIBLE 
CONSUMPTION  
& PRODUCTION

Reduce food waste throughout our supply chain 12.3 See Packaging and waste on page 39

Reduce waste generation through our operations and product packaging 12.5 See Packaging and waste on page 39

CLIMATE  
CHANGE

Support farmers to build resilience to climate change 13.1 See Prioritising on-farm improvements on page 28

Reduced emissions across our supply chain See Climate change on pages 30 -38

1. A joint declaration of the UN Food and Agriculture Organisation and the International Dairy 
Federation signed in 206.
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Our performance

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

People - Nutrition and health

Percentage of everyday and advanced 
nutrition products that meet endorsed 
nutritional guidelines1.
Fonterra consumer branded products (Global)

100% by 2025 86.5% 87.7% We are continuing to improve the formulation of our consumer products. On a volume sold basis, we 
improved from 86.5% to 87.7%.
This year we developed an online system which makes it easier for us to analyse and track our progress. 
This system has been implemented for our global business units but excludes those businesses being held 
for sale in Latin America. We have continued to track progress in Latin America manually and combined 
this with our online system to give the overall progress. FY21 results have been restated using the more 
accurate information available from our online system, it is now 86.5% rather than 84% previously 
reported.
Our nutrition guidelines, as endorsed by the New Zealand Nutritional Foundation are publicly available on 
our web site.

11

People - Health safety and wellbeing

Work-related fatalities
(employees, contractors, on-site public)

Zero harm 0 1 0 0 1 Tragically, one tanker driver passed away in April 2022 when his tanker left the road in Canterbury and 
rolled into a paddock. We have undertaken a review of the incident with an independent investigator, and 
currently await the serious Crash Unit report from the Police.

17

Number of serious harm injuries
(employees, contractors, on-site public)

Zero harm 14 18 10 9 8 We have achieved a further reduction in the number of serious harm injuries this year. Our goal remains to 
eliminate serious harm so we will continue to seek further improvements.
Three of these injuries were associated with falling or moving objects from vehicles or forklifts, two were 
related to on road driving, the others were related to a slip, a knock and machine safety during 
maintenance.
We continue to work on our vehicle safety and traffic management across the business.

17

Number of recordable injuries2 
(employees – work-related)

Measure and report 284 222 247 230 258 258 injuries required medical treatment, restricted work duties or time away from work. This is the highest 
number for several years so we will continue to seek further improvements in both rate and severity.
Slips, trips and falls (21%) and manual handling (20%), continue to be the main cause of recordable injuries. 

17

Total recordable injury frequency rate  
(TRIFR per million work hours) 
(employees – work-related)

Less than 5 6.1 4.9 5.8 5.7 6.7 This year, like a number of other New Zealand companies, we have seen an increase in recordable injury 
rate. Slips, trips and falls, as well as manual handling incidents continue to contribute to more than 40% 
of our injuries.
The total hours worked covered by this injury rate was 38.6 million hours.

17

FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

1. Assessment of products is based on protein, calcium and added sugars. Everyday nutrition products are intended to deliver a daily source of dairy 
nutrition. Advanced nutrition products provide a source of dairy nutrition and are fortified for advanced nutrition and health benefits.

2. Serious harm injuries are injuries that cause temporary or permanent loss of body function and include those to/involving both employees and 
contractors.
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

People – Investing in people

Employee engagement World-class
(Top quartile)

4.00
(2nd 

highest 
quartile)

4.07
(2nd 

highest 
quartile) 

N/A1 4.09
(2nd 

highest 
quartile)

– Engagement has continued to be monitored through pulse surveys within individual business units, 
but no global assessment has been completed during FY22. 
To measure the impact over time we are implementing a new culturing diagnostic tool more closely 
related to our culturing work.

20

Training skills hours (NZ) Double by 2025 from 
FY20 baseline

– – 270,355 346,417 501,879 We have continued to make good progress this year, increasing the hours of skills training by 85.6% 
compared to FY20, with the average hours per learner being 45 hours.  
In addition to skills-related training, there were an additional 173,500 hours of onboarding and compliance 
learning in New Zealand, covering things such as safety and environmental management.  

20

Female representation in senior leadership 50% by 2022 30.1% 28.6% 29.1% 32.4% 34.8% For the second consecutive year we have made progress on this aspirational target. We have not made 
as much progress as we hoped within the timeframe originally envisaged but we remain committed to 
the intent.
This year we have set a new goal 40:40:20, which we believe is more appropriate and sends a positive 
signal on the direction we want to go. 40:40:20 refers to 40% female, 40% male, 20% of any gender. 
The 20% introduces the flexibility of female, male or non-binary gender. We have also extended the 
range of senior leadership covered by the goal to Bands 12+.

21

Ethnic representation in senior leadership 20% by 2022 9% 9% 8% 9% 15% Privacy concerns and the voluntary nature of reporting ethnicity information continue to limit our 
understanding and ability to improve but this year an increase in voluntary disclosure has improved 
data quality and the result.
Within senior leadership, 59% identify themselves as European; 10% identify themselves as Asian; 

provided the information.
We are investigating alternative ways to express our intent and track progress. The project will start by 

make recommendations about how we make the Co-operative more inclusive for different ethnicities.

21

Nature – Land and water, on-farm

Farms with Farm Environment Plans in 
New Zealand 

100% by 2025 12% 23% 34% 53% 71% Our goal for FY22 was to reach 67% and this has been exceeded. 28

Farms with Farm Environment Plans in Australia Monitor and report – – – – 13% This year we commenced rollout of FEP for the farmers supplying us milk in Australia. 29

1.  The engagement survey for FY19 was completed in early FY20 with 86% of employees participating. The next Co-operative wide survey was 
completed mid-FY21 and is considered to represent FY21.
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Nature – Land and water, manufacturing

Water reduction at manufacturing sites in 
water-constrained regions

30% reduction by 2030 from 
FY18 baseline

– 3.9%
Increase 

from FY18

2.9%
Reduction 
from FY18

2.6%
Reduction 
from FY18

6.6%
Reduction 
from FY18

We made good progress this year, turning around the slight increase in FY21 and almost achieving our 
target for FY22.
To achieve this, six of the seven manufacturing sites in water-constrained regions delivered reductions (see 
highlights on page 26).
From next year we will start reporting progress against our new water stewardship goal (see page 25).

26

Improvement in water efficiency1 (water used 
per cubic metre of milk processed)

Measure and report 
(global)

– 0.4%
Better 

than FY18

1.9%
Better 

than FY18

2.5%
Better 

than FY18

3.1%
Better 

than FY18

While our priority is on reducing our absolute water use at sites, a focus on water-efficiency at all sites is 
an important aspect of water stewardship. 
We have continued to deliver significant improvements, and this is reflected in water efficiency indicators 
based on milk processed and finished goods produced.
For these underlying performance indicators, prior years have been restated to reflect acquisition of two 
sites in Australia during FY21.

26

Improvement in water efficiency (water used per 
tonne finished goods)

Measure and report 
(global)

– 1.5%
Better 

than FY18

4.8%
Better 

than FY18

5.7%
Better 

than FY18

7.3%
Better 

than FY18

Percentage of Manufacturing sites treating 
wastewater to leading industry standards

>80% of sites by 2030 
(global)

53% 56% Recognising that stakeholders have different views and values when it comes to improving water quality, 
we believe that a leading industry approach to wastewater quality requires a truly collaborative approach. 
We judge our success based on a combination of internal guidelines and satisfying the expectations of key 
stakeholders at a catchment level. 
We are progressing our investments to upgrade wastewater treatment facilities and this year we 
completed the planned upgrade of our wastewater treatment at Whareroa.
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Water withdrawal by source overall - Volume (000 m3)1

Freshwater  Surface water (water that 
occurs naturally on the 
Earth’s surface)

25,842 24,918 25,726 23,644 Includes rainwater harvesting at our Indonesian site.

Ground water (water that is 
in an underground formation)

14,971 14,835 14,489 14,074

Seawater (sea or ocean) 0 0 0 0

Produced water (through the 
extraction, processing or use 
of any raw material)

0 0 0 0

Third-party water  (municipal 
water supplies or other public 
or private water utilities)

7,473 7,159 7,015 7,415

Total withdrawal from freshwater 48,286 46,912 47,230 45,153

1. Where required water data for prior years has been restated for a combination of reasons including acquisition of two Australian sites in FY21 and 
specific TDS testing (see Data Reporting Notes page 78)
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Other water  
(>1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids)

Surface water 0 0 0 0

Ground water 2,439 2,127 1,996 1,992

Seawater 0 0 0 0

Produced water 10,859 11,236 11,913 12,345 Water is extracted from milk during some processing. The volume is a conservative estimate of produced 
water, for sites where discharge volumes exceed withdrawal.

Third-party water 2,011 1,330 1,536 1,448

Total withdrawal from other water 15,310 14,693 15,445 15,785

Grand Total 63,596 61,605 62,675 60,939

Water discharge by destination overall - Volume (000 m3) 

Freshwater Surface water 19,079 19,178 19,676 18,507

Ground water 4,428 4,200 3,767 3,686

Seawater 0 0 0 0

Third-party water (total) 1,372 1,446 1,536 1,871

Third-party water - for use by 
other parties

0 0 0 502 By agreement, or for emergency community support, we provide some water to third parties. These are 
small volumes and not easy to isolate. From FY22, we can report some. The remainder are deemed 
immaterial.

Total discharged to freshwater 24,879 24,823 24,978 24,064

Other water 
(>1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids)

Surface water 6,013 5,961 5,974 5,704

Ground water 13,347 12,250 12,896 11,879

Seawater 13,241 12,936 13,265 13,962

Third-party water (total) 3,845 3,780 3,854 3,789

Third-party water - for use by 
other parties

0 0 0 0

Total discharged to other water 36,446 34,928 35,989 35,333

Grand Total 61,325 59,751 60,967 59,398
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Water discharge overall – Quality (COD1 mg/L)

Discharged to surface water 74 69 59 58

Discharged to ground water 1,220 1,183 1,063 1,110
been included.

Discharged to seawater 2,105 2,062 2,264 1,947

Discharged to third-party water 1,874 1,703 1,531 1,755

Water withdrawal by source from areas with water stress - Volume (000 m3)  

Freshwater Surface water 0 0 0 0

Ground water 0 0 0 0

Seawater 0 0 0 0

Produced water 0 0 0 0

Third-party water 597         582 582 526

Total withdrawal from freshwater 597         582 582 526

Other water 
(>1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids)

Surface water 0 0 0 0

Ground water 2,023 1,996 1,862 1,857

Seawater 0 0 0 0

Produced water 54 125 117 103

Third-party water 2,011 1,330 1,536 1,448

Total withdrawal from other water 4,087 3,451 3,514 3,409

Total sourced from areas with water stress 4,684 4,033 4,097 3,935

Water discharge by destination to areas with water stress - Volume (000 m3) 

Dissolved Solids)
1,358 1,422    1,495    1,342

Discharged as other water (>1,000 mg/L Total 
Dissolved Solids)

2,627   2,012    2,211    2,058

Total discharged to areas with water stress 3,985   3,434   3,706   3,400

1. Where required water data for prior years has been restated for a combination of reasons including acquisition of two Australian sites in FY21 and 
specific TDS testing (see Data Reporting Notes page 78)
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Water consumption - Volume (000 m3) 

Total consumption from all areas 2,271 1,854 1,707 1,541

Total consumption from areas with water stress 699 599 391 535

Change in water storage -6 5 -30 20

Nature – Climate change

Reduction in absolute scope 1 & 2 emissions 30% reduction by 2030 from 
FY18 baseline (Global)

– 1.8%
reduction

from FY18

3.5%
reduction

from FY18

6.6%
reduction

from FY18

11.2%
reduction

from FY18

Progress in FY22, was much better than planned and significantly exceeded target. In addition to the 
improvement projects completed, lower milk volumes, a favourable product mix and a higher renewable 
content in New Zealand grid electricity also contributed.
In FY21, the New Zealand grid electricity had the lowest renewable content since FY15, and this negatively 
impacted the progress we had made in other areas. This year, the New Zealand grid electricity has 
returned to more normal levels.
We have made good progress towards our science-based target and remain on track to achieve it.
All prior years have been restated slightly (see Data Reporting Notes on page 78).
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Net change in GHG emissions from dairy 
farming since 14/15 (NZ) 
(Pre-farm gate tCO2-e)

Neutral to 2030 504,636
reduction 
on 14/15

(2.4%)

614,156
reduction 
on 14/15

(2.9%)

690,675
reduction 
on 14/15

(3.2%)

916,753
reduction 
on 14/15

(4.3%)

1,742,123
reduction 
on 14/15

(8.2%)

Our estimated absolute GHG emissions remain well below the baseline season. Emissions intensity on 
farm for 20/21 season (including LUC) is 0.3% higher than the 14/15 baseline. The significant decrease 
from FY21 to FY22 is based on decreased milk volume. The lifecycle assessment for 20/21 is the most 
recent available and is applied to both seasons. 
All prior years have been restated to reflect the latest available lifecycle assessment (see Data Reporting 
Notes on page 78)
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Total energy used by manufacturing

Fuel consumption Energy (PJ) 20.0 19.8 19.5 19.3 18.8

Renewable energy (%) 0% 0% 0% 5% 4%

Steam consumption Energy (PJ) 4.2 4.1 4.0 4.1 3.8

Renewable energy (%) 4% 6% 6% 6% 8%

Electricity consumption Energy (PJ) 5.2 5.1 5.0 5.1 5.1

Renewable energy (%) 53% 55% 55% 56% 59%

Energy used Energy (PJ) 29.5 29.0 28.6 28.6 27.7

Renewable energy (%) 10% 11% 11% 14% 15%

Non-renewable energy (%) 90% 89% 89% 86% 85%

Global consolidated emissions (000 tCO2-e)
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Scope 1 Scope 1 1,726 1,701 1,708 1,545 1,366 All prior years have been restated to reflect the latest available on-farm lifecycle assessment and other minor updates 
(see Data Reporting Notes on page 78).On-farm 232  221 239 173 34

Manufacturing 1,494 1,480 1,469 1,372 1,332

Distribution and other 0 0 0 0 0

Scope 2 Scope 2 701 662 634 653 565 As above.

On-farm 66 52 53 36 5

Manufacturing  635  609 580 617 560

Distribution and other 0 0 0 0 0

Scope 3 Scope 3 24,440 23,788 23,591 23,375 22,549 As above.

On-farm 24,159 23,513 23,330 23,119 22,314

Manufacturing  71 69 66 55 52

Distribution 198 195 186 199 180

Other 12 11 8 3 3

Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 26,867 26,151 25,932 25,572 24,480 As above.

On-farm 24,456 23,787 23,622 23,328 22,353

Manufacturing 2,201 2,158 2,115 2,043 1,944

Distribution 198 195 186 199 180

Other 12 11 8 3 3

GHG Inventory (000 tCO2e) 

Scope 1 Direct emissions from 
owned/controlled operations

1,726 1,701 1,708 1,545 1,366 Stationary combustion, mobile combustion for relevant fuel types including coal, gas, liquid fossil fuels 
and biofuels.
Scope 1 component of on-farm GHG emissions for the small number of farms where we have operational 
control is also included here. Refrigerant losses are included for New Zealand and Australia. Carbon 
dioxide for packaging is included for New Zealand.
Scope 1 emissions associated with small offices around the world are immaterial and excluded.
Data is generally based on invoices and emissions factors from a selection of sources (see Data Reporting 
Approach on page 76 for further information).
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Scope 2 Indirect emissions from the 
use of purchased electricity, 
steam, heating, and cooling

701 662 634 653 565 GHG emissions from purchased electricity and steam for all manufacturing sites under our 
operational control.
Scope 2 component of on-farm GHG emissions for the small number of farms where we have 
operational control is also included here.
Scope 2 emissions associated with small offices around the world are immaterial and excluded.
All electricity emissions are reported using a location-based approach.
Data is generally based on invoices and emissions factors from a selection of sources (see Data Reporting 
Approach on page 76 for further information)

Total Scope 1 & 2 2,427 2,363 2,341 2,197 1,931

Scope 3 - Upstream Category 1: Purchased goods 
and services

24,159 23,513 23,330 23,119 22,314 GHG emissions arising from the sourcing of raw milk in all regions are included. The most recently 
available full lifecycle analysis to farmgate, including brought-in feed, peat soils and direct land-use change 
is used. This is multiplied by the volume sourced in each region to calculate the total GHG emissions for 
each region (see page 76).
GHG emissions from non-milk suppliers (e.g. non-raw milk ingredients and packaging) are excluded.

Category 3: Fuel- and 
energy-related activities 
(not included in scope 1 
or scope 2)

71 69 66 55 52 For New Zealand, gas and electricity distribution losses; and freight of solid fuels to site, are included.
For Australia, the calculation includes indirect emissions attributable to the extraction, production and 
transport of fossil fuels and fuel burned to generate electricity, as well as losses in the transmission and 
distribution network.
This was calculated using purchased fuel and electricity data and emission factors from the New Zealand 
Ministry for the Environment and the Australian Government’s National Greenhouse Accounts Factors.

Category 4: Upstream 
transportation and 
distribution

198 195 186 199 180 All international ocean freight under the control of our shipping partner Kotahi has been reported. 
This includes exports from New Zealand, Australia, Europe and North America to the final destination 
port. We also report additional ocean freight from New Zealand by our consumer branded business which 
is not under Kotahi control.
Data is also reported for movement within New Zealand, including road, rail and coastal shipping. GHG 
emissions for air freight from New Zealand has also been included.
GHG emissions for ocean freight is based on information provided by the shipping partners. For road, 
rail and air freight, actual tonne-kms are used with emissions factors provided by the Ministry for the 
Environment.

Category 6: Business travel 12 11 8 3 3 Data has been collected and reported for business-related air travel, rental car, and hotel accommodation. 
This GHG emissions data has been provided by our nominated travel agents.

Total Scope 3 24,440 23,788 23,591 23,375 22,549

Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 26,867 26,151 25,932 25,572 24,480
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Global consolidated emissions intensity

Scope 1 & 2 Emissions intensity  
by finished goods  
(000 tCO2-e/t)

0.60 0.59 0.58 0.55 0.49 All prior years have been restated to reflect the latest available on-farm lifecycle assessment and other 
minor updates (see Data Reporting Notes on page 78)

Emissions intensity by revenue 
(tCO2-e /million NZ$)

119 119 112 104 82

Scope 1, 2 & 3 Emissions intensity by finished 
goods (000 tCO2-e/t) 

6.7 6.6 6.5 6.4 6.3

Emissions intensity by revenue 
(tCO2-e /million NZ$)

1,315 1,313 1,236 1,211 1,045

Nature– Packaging

Recycle-ready packaging Measure and report – – 87% 87% 89% Using globally accepted recyclability definitions and sales volumes for the 12 months ending June 20221, 
on a total tonnage of packaging basis, 89% of our packaging is now recycle-ready up from 87% last year.
This is made up of: 56% readily recyclable (e.g. cardboard); 12% is ready for recycling but there is limited 
infrastructure (e.g. rigid plastic); 21% is technically recyclable (e.g. liquid carton board). This leaves 11% 
that is currently unsuitable for recycling (e.g. foil-based sachets). 
This is where we are focusing our efforts and we forecast we will achieve greater than 95% recycle-ready 
packaging by end of 2025.

Reusable, recyclable or compostable packaging 100% by 2025 – – 50% 58% 56% Using globally accepted recyclability definitions and sales volumes for the 12 months ending June 20221, 
on a total tonnage of packaging basis 56% is readily recyclable. This is down slightly on FY21, primarily 
due to increased accuracy in our reporting systems. For example, we identified about 1,000 tonnes of glass 
jars used by our manufacturing site in Saudi Arabia, that were missing from prior reporting. These are 
currently wrapped in a PVC sleeve which makes them unsuitable for recycling. 
Making progress on this aspiration relies not only progress under our direct control (see recycle-ready 
packaging above) but also on the actions of others (e.g. provision of infrastructure within countries).
Like many other food manufacturers, we will continue to make material changes, collaborate and seek to 
influence others around the world. Currently, achieving 100% by 2025 seems unlikely to be fully achieved 
but, we remain committed to the intent.

39

1. This applies to all primary and secondary packaging for Fonterra-owned brands. Tertiary packaging is also included in the assessment but, 
due to data availability issues, we have continued to use the same baseline data as reported in FY20 (this represents less than 10% of total 
packaging tonnage).
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Nature – Solid waste

Solid waste sent to landfill (tonnes) Zero waste – 17,491 16,577 12,833 11,994 Solid waste to landfill (including downgraded product unsuitable for alternative uses) reduced by a further 
6.5% this year giving a total reduction of more than 30% since FY19. See page 41 for some examples of 
work completed.
This year, in reviewing the target and the planned development of recycling infrastructure over the coming 
years, we have decided to de-prioritise this target, still aspiring to achieve ‘zero waste’ but without a 
specific deadline.
We will continue to seek year-on-year improvements with a focus on making products to specification to 
avoid food waste, working with vendors to prevent non-recyclable materials coming onto our sites and 
partnering with others to increase the range of materials that can be economically recovered.
FY21 has been restated slightly to include the solid waste from Tullamarine and Campbellfield (see Data 
reporting notes on page 78).
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Nature – Animal wellbeing

Farms with an Animal Wellbeing Plan established 
with their vet. (New Zealand)

100% by 2025 - - 50% 53% 76% A large increase was achieved this year. This year, the Co-operative Difference framework (see page 47) 
included having an Animal Wellbeing Plan as one of the criteria to receive a differentiated payment.
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Somatic cell count average (mean)  
(000 cells/ml) 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

New Zealand 180 168 171 170 173 Somatic cell count (SCC) is not only an indicator of milk quality, a low SCC also gives an indication of good 
animal husbandry.
Farmers have continued to deliver excellent results in this area this year, with improvements in Chile, Brazil 
and Sri Lanka. New Zealand, Australia and China were all negatively impacted by combinations of 
unusually wet or dry weather conditions. The overall global result increased slightly but remains well 
ahead of the European Union import/export standard of 400,000 cells/ml, which is a widely quoted 
standard. We will continue to work towards lower counts.

42

Australia 178 171 172 173 178

China 168 183 160 167 327

Chile 319 312 317 309 280

Brazil 533 467 395 342 335

Sri Lanka 634 599 662 629 625

Global weighted average (by volume) 184 173 175 175 177
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FY22 progress is evaluated against stated targets:
  Progressing well or  
target achieved.

  Progressing but not  
as strongly as we’d like.

  Not progressing well or original 
timeline significantly delayed.

INDICATOR TARGET

PERFORMANCE

COMMENTARY

SEE 
PAGEFY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

Relationships – Working with vendors

Palm products (CY 
2017)

(CY 
2018)

(CY 
2019)

(CY 
2020)

(CY 
2021)

Sourcing ‘segregated supply’ palm oil from 
credible organisations.

100% by end of CY 2018 7% 23% 55% 71% 74% By volume, 96% of all direct palm oil being purchased by our New Zealand business and 100% of all 
direct palm oil being purchased by our Australian business is certified as segregated supply.  It is 
purchasing for our operations in Saudi Arabia, Indonesia, and Chile where most of our remaining 
improvement is required. 
The 74% is made up of 71% ‘segregated supply’ and 3% with the higher ‘identity preserved’ certification, 
20% was certified by mass balance and the remaining 6% was certified using RSPO credits. 
We missed our original target date and, after good gains in CY2020, progress during CY2021 was small, 
partially due to a lower proportion of volume being purchased by New Zealand and Australia. We reviewed 
this target in FY22 and have recommitted to delivering it.

50
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Employee Data
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES BY EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT BY GENDER

PERCENTAGE PER CONTRACT TYPE

CONTRACT TYPE BY GENDER FY20 (%) FY21(%) FY22(%)

Male Permanent 96.6% 96.8% 97.3%

Fixed-term 3.4% 3.2% 2.7%

Female Permanent 96.7% 95.6% 96.1%

Fixed-term 3.3% 4.4% 3.9%

Gender diverse Permanent 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Fixed-term 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Undeclared or unknown Permanent 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Fixed-term 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES BY REGION

GLOBAL EMPLOYEE NUMBERS

FTE (PERMANENT & FIXED TERM)

FY20 FY21 FY22

New Zealand 11,757 11,881 11,992

Australia 1,276 1,427 1,437

Greater China 1,774 753 773

Brazil 1,350 1,306 1,274

Chile 1,596 1,570 1,707

Rest of Asia 2,014 1,914 1,902

Rest of World 511 503 523

Global Total 20,278 19,354 19,608

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT BY REGION

PERCENTAGE PER EMPLOYMENT TYPE

CONTRACT TYPE BY REGION FY20 (%) FY21(%) FY22(%)

New Zealand Permanent 97.6% 97.1% 97.7%

Fixed-term 2.4% 2.9% 2.3%

Australia Permanent 95.5% 94.8% 96.0%

Fixed-term 4.5% 5.2% 4.0%

Greater China Permanent 97.1% 99.1% 99.2%

Fixed-term 2.9% 0.9% 0.8%

Brazil Permanent 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Fixed-term 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Chile Permanent 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Fixed-term 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Rest of Asia Permanent 88.4% 89.0% 89.3%

Fixed-term 11.6% 11.0% 10.7%

Rest of World Permanent 88.7% 89.5% 89.1%

Fixed-term 11.3% 10.5% 10.9%

1

EMPLOYMENT TYPE BY GENDER

EMPLOYMENT TYPE BY GENDER

PERCENTAGE PER EMPLOYMENT TYPE

FY20(%) FY21(%) FY22(%)

Male Full-time 99.5% 99.4% 99.3%

Part-time 0.5% 0.6% 0.7%

Female Full-time 96.2% 95.9% 96.1%

Part-time 3.8% 4.1% 3.9%

Gender diverse Full-time 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Part-time 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Undeclared or unknown Full-time 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Part-time 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

1. Some percentages shown in tables may not sum to 100% due to rounding.
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DIVERSITY OF EMPLOYEE CATEGORIES BY AGE

EMPLOYEE CATEGORIES AGE

PERCENTAGE BY AGE RANGE

FY20 FY21 FY22

Senior Leaders <30 0.3% 0.0% 0.0%

30-50 63.3% 57.2% 60.1%

>50 31.8% 37.9% 35.5%

Unknown  4.6% 4.9% 4.3%

Managers <30 7.3% 5.7% 5.4%

30-50 68.9% 66.4% 68.2%

>50 20.4% 24.7% 23.4%

Unknown  3.4% 3.1% 3.0%

Supervisory & Professional <30 22.3% 18.1% 17.6%

30-50 57.4% 58.3% 61.0%

>50 16.9% 20.6% 18.5%

Unknown 3.5% 2.9% 2.8%

Operators, Techs, Drivers,  
Farm Workers

<30 15.8% 13.7% 14.1%

30-50 49.3% 47.0% 49.2%

>50 31.0% 36.1% 33.7%

Unknown 3.9% 3.1% 3.0%

DIVERSITY OF GOVERNANCE BODIES AND EMPLOYEES BY GENDER

PERCENTAGE BY GENDER 

GENDER FY20 FY21 FY22

All employees Male 72% 72% 71%

Female 27% 28% 29%

Gender diverse 0% 0% 0%

Undeclared 0% 0% 0%

Fonterra Management Team (FMT) Male 75% 75% 75%

Female 25% 25% 25%

Fonterra Board Male 73% 64% 64%

Female 27% 36% 36%

DIVERSITY OF EMPLOYEE CATEGORY BY GENDER

PERCENTAGE BY GENDER 

EMPLOYEE CATEGORY GENDER FY20 FY21 FY22

Senior Leaders Male 71% 68% 64%

Female 29% 32% 35%

Managers Male 63% 62% 60%

Female 37% 38% 40%

Supervisory & Professional Male 52% 50% 49%

Female 48% 50% 51%

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers Male 84% 83% 82%

Female 16% 17% 18%

HIRING FROM LOCAL COMMUNITIES

GLOBAL EMPLOYEE NUMBERS 

PERCENTAGE OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

FY20 FY21 FY22

New Zealand 97% 100% 100%

Australia 90% 92% 92%

Brazil 100% 100% 100%

Chile 100% 100% 100%

Greater China 69% 89% 89%

DIVERSITY OF GOVERNANCE BODIES AND EMPLOYEES BY AGE

PERCENTAGE PER EMPLOYMENT TYPE

AGE FY20 FY21 FY22

All employees <30 14% 13% 13%

30-50 57% 56% 55%

>50 26% 28% 28%

Unknown 4% 3% 3%

Fonterra Management Team (FMT) <30 0% 0% 0%

30-50 50% 25% 38%

>50 50% 75% 63%

Unknown 0% 0% 0%

Fonterra Board <30 0% 0% 0%

30-50 9% 9% 0%

>50 91% 91% 100%

Unknown 0% 0% 0%

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

APPENDICES 
EMPLOYEE DATA

72CONTENTS



NEW HIRES AND LEAVERS BY AGE AND GENDER1

NEW HIRES BY AGE AND GENDER LEAVERS BY AGE AND GENDER

AGE AND GENDER FY20 (#/%) FY21 (#/%) FY22(#/%) FY20 (#/%) FY21 (#/%) FY22(#/%)

Aged <30 435 32.5% 501 31.6% 626 31.6% 369 18.0% 314 17.3% 417 18.8%

Aged 30-50 662 49.5% 893 56.3% 1052 53.2% 1020 49.8% 917 50.5% 1119 50.5%

Age 50 + 96 7.2% 169 10.7% 234 11.8% 366 17.9% 495 27.2% 606 27.4%

Age unknown 145 10.8% 22 1.4% 66 3.3% 292 14.3% 91 5.0% 72 3.3%

Male 789 59.0% 1005 63.4% 1222 61.8% 1323 64.6% 1194 65.7% 1440 65.0%

Female 549 41.0% 579 36.5% 756 38.2% 723 35.3% 623 34.3% 771 34.8%

Gender undeclared or unknown 0 0.0% 1 0.1% 0 0.0% 1 0.0% 0 0.0% 3 0.1%

Total new employees 1338 7.3% 1585 9.0% 1978 10.7% 2047 11.1% 1817 10.3% 2214 11.9%

NEW HIRES AND LEAVERS BY REGION

REGION

NEW HIRES BY REGION LEAVERS BY REGION

FY20 (#/%) FY21 (#/%) FY22(#/%) FY20 (#/%) FY21 (#/%) FY22(#/%)

New Zealand 725 54.2% 866 54.6% 1133 57.3% 1023 50.0% 1050 57.8% 1431 64.6%

Australia 69 5.2% 251 15.8% 161 8.1% 183 8.9% 120 6.6% 178 8.0%

Greater China 235 17.6% 180 11.4% 134 6.8% 334 16.3% 234 12.9% 114 5.1%

Brazil2  0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 10 0.5% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Chile 87 6.5% 94 5.9% 310 15.7% 145 7.1% 119 6.5% 242 10.9%

Rest of Asia 161 12.0% 153 9.7% 180 9.1% 267 13.0% 243 13.4% 191 8.6%

Rest of World 61 4.6% 41 2.6% 60 3.0% 85 4.2% 51 2.8% 58 2.6%

Overall 1338 7.3% 1585 9.0% 1978 10.7% 2047 11.1% 1817 10.3% 2214 11.9%

TURNOVER BY REASON

TURN OVER REASON 

PERCENTAGE TURNOVER BY REASON

FY20 (%) FY21 (%) FY22(%)

Voluntary 1255 (6.7%) 1168 (6.6%) 1610 (8.7%)

Involuntary 610 (3.2%) 389 (2.2%) 346 (1.9%)

Other (Contract end, Legal Retirement, or deceased) 182 (1.0%) 260 (1.5%) 258 (1.4%)

Total Turnover Rate 2047 (11.1%) 1817 (10.3%) 2214 (11.9%)

1. A small number of new hire and leaver events are backdated each year after year end reporting has been completed. Analysing for FY21, there 
were 19 leavers and 65 new hires backdated with is similar to prior years. This is considered immaterial and FY21 has not been restated. This allows 
FY20 to FY22 to be considered on a like-for-like basis.

2. Our JV in Brazil is excluded from new hires and leavers analysis, but we did have some directly employed staff in Brazil during FY20.
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GENDER PAY GAP BY COUNTRY AND BY EMPLOYEE CATEGORY – BASIC SALARY

REGION EMPLOYEE CATEGORY

MEAN MEDIAN

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY20 FY21 FY22

New Zealand Senior Leaders 0.86 0.85 0.81 0.95 0.93 0.90

Managers 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.95 0.96 0.94

Supervisory & Professional 0.88 0.90 0.92 0.84 0.87 0.88

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers 0.84 0.84 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85

Overall 0.96 0.97 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.95

Australia Senior Leaders 0.97 0.98 0.97 0.79 0.78 0.86

Managers 0.95 0.98 1.02 0.95 0.96 0.99

Supervisory & Professional 0.84 0.85 0.91 0.85 0.86 0.84

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers 0.78 0.80 0.81 0.74 0.78 0.78

Overall 0.95 0.99 1.03 0.96 0.97 1.02

Greater China Senior Leaders 0.94 1.03 1.20 1.13 1.17 1.43

Managers 1.10 1.04 1.05 1.26 1.11 1.06

Supervisory & Professional 1.27 1.03 1.02 1.39 1.03 0.99

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers 0.95 1.05 1.13 0.90 1.09 1.09

Overall 1.60 0.89 0.97 3.90 0.97 1.09

Brazil Senior Leaders1 – – – – – –

Managers 0.90 1.03 1.01 0.93 1.08 0.94

Supervisory & Professional 1.15 1.04 1.06 1.06 0.98 0.99

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers 0.97 0.89 0.85 1.01 0.95 0.85

Overall 1.09 1.11 0.96 1.08 0.96 0.84

GENDER PAY GAP BY COUNTRY AND BY EMPLOYEE CATEGORY – BASIC SALARY

REGION EMPLOYEE CATEGORY

MEAN MEDIAN

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY20 FY21 FY22

Chile Senior Leaders – – – – – –

Managers 0.86 0.86 0.85 0.90 0.85 0.87

Supervisory & Professional 0.98 1.03 1.08 0.99 1.06 1.02

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers 0.98 1.00 0.97 0.98 1.02 0.95

Overall 1.32 1.36 1.40 1.29 1.31 1.36

Rest of Asia Overall 1.67 1.84 1.97 3.69 4.10 4.40

Rest of the 
World

Overall 1.23 1.38 1.30 1.63 1.89 1.86

Overall Senior Leaders 0.88 0.90 0.88 0.96 0.94 0.91

Managers 0.96 0.97 0.97 0.96 0.96 0.95

Supervisory & Professional 1.06 1.05 1.07 1.14 1.10 1.12

Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers 0.88 0.89 0.87 0.82 0.83 0.83

Overall 1.08 1.07 1.07 0.95 0.93 0.93

 1. Where a breakdown of information represents a small number of employees, we omit this detail to protect the privacy of individuals.
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Introduction
This section provides supporting guidance on the scope, definitions and approach used for the people and environmental data 
presented in this report.
In general, reporting covers the activities of Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited and joint ventures under Fonterra’s management 
control. The following sections identify the specific exceptions where data availability prevents this.

People data reporting
Scope
Our employee data is drawn from our global SAP-based employee data systems, primarily our MY Fonterra system, and from 
remuneration systems where required.
Numbers are generally reported for all fixed-term and permanent employees on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis. 
Gender pay gap is on headcount basis with pay compared on an FTE basis. 
Turnover and new hires cover permanent employees on a headcount basis but exclude employees in our Brazilian joint venture. 
There are no significant seasonal variations in the employee data reported. Casual staff contracted by Fonterra are excluded from 
these figures as this represents only a very small proportion of the regular workforce. Employees on leave of absence are also 
excluded.
All analysis, other than turnover and new hires, is at 31st July 2022.

Definitions

TERM DEFINITION

Significant locations of operation Countries where more than 5% of our employees  
are located.
Some items are reported for significant locations of operation only.

Employee categories
– Senior Leaders
– Managers
– Supervisory & Professional
–  Operators, Techs, Drivers, Farm Workers

Our organisation has a banded approach to remuneration based on business roles.
Bands 14 and above
Bands 10-13
Bands 31-9
Waged or equivalent workforce

Locally hired employees Citizens or permanent residents of the given country.

Hiring from local communities
To support the recruitment of senior management roles we run talent forums across the different disciplines.
One of the aspects assessed when appointing senior management roles into countries where we have significant operations, is the 
composition of employees from local communities versus employees on international assignments. We recognise the value of a 
high representation from local communities but balance that with the opportunity for talent development from other countries. We 
review the composition and effectiveness of senior management teams on a regular basis.
‘Senior Management’ is defined as the most senior employee working in a country plus all direct reports to the senior manager but 
excluding employees working in a different country and non-management staff (e.g. Personal Assistants, Technical Assistants, other 
admin staff). The CEO and members of the Fonterra Management Team, who have regional responsibilities are excluded. For New 
Zealand, this means the multiple New Zealand-based managers reporting to the CEO and their direct reports are assessed.

New employee hires and employee turnover
The analysis of new employee hires and turnover is used to inform decision-making within our People and Culture team. For 
example, for diversity and inclusion, statistics are used on a 12-month rolling basis to assess implications to the make-up of the 
organisation and the achievement of specific targets.

Environmental data reporting
Reporting Period
The primary reporting period is for the Financial Year 2022 (FY22), 1 August 2021 – 31 July 2022.
To align with Australian regulatory reporting (NGERS), Australian data is reported for period 1 July 2021 – 30 June 2022.

Common principles

Baseline years
For our science-based global scope 1 and scope 2 emissions reduction target of 30% by 2030, our baseline year is FY18 (1 August 
2017 – 31 July 2018).
For our water reduction target at sites in water-constrained regions of 30% by 2030, our baseline year is FY18 (1 August 2017 – 31 
July 2018) to align with our science-based emissions reduction target.

Data collection and aggregation
Wherever possible, data is sourced from a verifiable source. For energy, this is usually records from supplier invoicing. For water this 
is from supplier invoicing where relevant, or from metering used to satisfy environmental resource permits. Data is aggregated and 
analysed via Excel.

Missing or delayed data
Where measured data is normally available for a given item in a given region, but it is not available for a given time period (e.g. one 
particular month), it is estimated based on the specific circumstances.

Data reporting notes

1. Threshold varies according to country.
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Where there is uncertainty about fuel sources and emissions factors, a conservative approach has been taken. For example, where a 
site purchases steam from a third party that generally uses biomass but relies on LPG as the back-up energy source, we have 
assumed that 20% of the input energy comes from the LPG.
If the data subsequently becomes available, the estimated value will be replaced with the actual and totals recalculated. If this 
difference is significant, prior year data will be restated in the next public reporting period.

Finished goods
Where an output from any factory is then subject to secondary processing, we only count the finished goods once for intensity 
purposes.

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Scope
For our GHG reporting we have chosen to report on Scope 1 and 2 where we have operational control. For Scope 3 emissions, we 
have reported key categories (see page 67) and excluded categories are explained in the table below. Farms supplying milk to us 
account for the largest portion of our emissions and fall within our sphere of influence, so we believe it is important to report these 
under Scope 3 emissions. 
Fonterra directly operates a small number of farms in New Zealand and China. For these farms, we have adopted the same 
approach as for other farms but allocated the emissions to Scope 1 and 2 where required.
Our GHG reporting applies the principles of the GHG Protocol. We also report our GHG emissions via the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP), with our first submission completed in 2015. 

Energy
Our use of energy dominates our Scope 1 and Scope 2 reporting. These figures include energy used by our manufacturing sites, 
main research centre, large corporate sites and our own milk collection transport fleet in New Zealand and Australia. It excludes 
energy used by some smaller offices and support facilities which are considered immaterial. 
Energy used on the farms where we have operational control is excluded from our energy reporting because it is immaterial to our 
overall energy usage. The associated emissions from this energy use are already captured in our on-farm GHG emissions reporting 
based on the full lifecycle analysis.
Energy is sourced from electricity, purchased steam and purchased fuels. Fuels used include coal, natural gas, diesel, liquid 
petroleum gas (LPG), furnace oil, petrol and biofuels. Coal and natural gas are primarily used for process heating while liquid fossil 
fuels are primarily used for vehicles.
Based on the proportion of renewables used to generate the electricity and steam we purchase, and including the biofuels we 
directly use, we estimate that 15% of our total energy used in manufacturing comes from renewable sources.
Our co-generation facilities in New Zealand generated excess electricity which was sold. The total sold during FY22 was 554GJ. Our 
Farm Source Retail Stores also generated excess electricity from their solar PV installations. The total sold during FY22 was 318 GJ.
We are unable to report energy used for heating separate to that used for cooling but heating dominates our energy use.

Methodologies

On farm
For on-farm information, the estimated emissions are reported using a lifecycle analysis (LCA) methodology, which considers the 
full on-farm carbon lifecycle, from ‘cradle-to-farm gate’ and provides an estimated kgCO2-e/kg fat-and-protein-corrected milk 
(FPCM) factor for the given country. For each country where we collect milk, the total quantity of milk collected during the financial 
year is multiplied by the most recently available factor.
The extent of analysis required to complete an LCA means these cannot be completed for the current season within the reporting 
timetable. We complete an analysis for New Zealand milk each year because it dominates our on-farm emissions. For other 
countries we do this less frequently.
For this report, the most recently available LCA results are as follows: 2020/21 season for New Zealand; 2017/18 for Australia and 
Chile; and 2016/17 for our China farms.
For New Zealand LCA, we commissioned AgResearch to complete this analysis based on regional data from DairyNZ/LIC statistics, 
a DairyNZ DairyBase survey of 408 farms and Fonterra milk production data.
For Australia LCA, this has been calculated based on data drawn from the 17/18 Dairy Farm Monitor Project Annual reports for 
Tasmania and Victoria. The data are reported for Tasmania and for all three Victorian dairy regions (Northern Victoria, South-west 
Victoria and Gippsland) which covers Fonterra’s Australian milk pool. 
For our China farms, we commissioned AgResearch to complete this analysis based on detailed data for all seven farms from our 
farm management systems. Only one of these farms remains under our operational control and we continue to apply the average 
footprint from the analysis.
For Chile LCA, we commissioned AgResearch to complete this analysis based on data from a sample of farms from the northern 
region supplying Soprole and the southern region supplying Prolesur.
For the smaller milk volumes purchased in Brazil and Venezuela we have used the average of the two lifecycle factors determined 
for Chile.
For the very small volumes sourced in Sri Lanka, the emission factor has been taken as the average for South Asia in 2015 from the 
UN FAO/GDP GHG emissions fact sheet.
The main methodology used is common across all LCA and conforms to IDF (2015) and LEAP (2015) guidelines. It considers 
Methane (CH4), Nitrous oxide (N2O) and Carbon dioxide (CO2) arising from feed sources, animals, fertilisers, energy and land use 
change. For supplying farms, emissions are split between the milk and meat co-products, with only the milk component being 
counted. For the few farms that we manage, full emissions are allocated here. The LCA methodology includes emissions related to 
all on-farm activities and emissions related to supplementary feed, including emissions related to overseas production for PKE.
We have adopted IPCC AR6, with GWP factors of CO2 = 1; N2O = 273 and CH4 = 27.2.  This means that our reported figures for 
New Zealand may be higher than figures reported in other publications that consider a New Zealand inventory only which still uses 
IPCC AR4. For the older LCA results which had used an earlier version of IPCC, we have recalculated the overall footprint using the 
component gases so that all farm-related LCAs make use of IPCC AR6.

Manufacturing
For countries where energy contents and emission factors are well understood and supported by local regulations and/or reporting 
guidelines, the local factors have been applied. In other countries, if officially sanctioned factors are available, we have used them, 
otherwise internationally accepted default factors have been applied. 
For thermal energy the convention in New Zealand and Australia is to report energy totals in gross terms (higher heating value). 
Therefore, for consistency, we have adopted this approach for reporting across all countries.
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The sources of the default factors were as follows:

CATEGORY SOURCE COMMENTS

Energy contents International Energy Agency 
(IEA) “Energy Statistics 
Manual”

Electricity use has been converted to energy terms at 0.0036 GJ per kWh 
while fuel use has been converted on a gross calorific, or higher heating 
value, basis1.

Electricity 
emission factors

IEA “Emission Factors (2019 
edition)”

The factors used were as tabulated by country for the 2017 calendar year as 
this was the most recent complete set available. These factors are used for 
less than 5% of the electricity used and relate to less than 1% of 
manufacturing emissions.

Fuels emission 
factors

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 
tools library

Emission_Factors_from_Cross_Sector_Tools_March_2017.xlsx

The sources used for the percentage of renewable energy in grid electricity were as follows:

COUNTRY SOURCE

New Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment, Quarterly electricity generation and consumption.

Australia Australian Energy Statistics 2021, Table O9: Australian electricity generation, by fuel type, for 
year ended 30 Jun 2021.

Other International Renewable Energy Agency "Renewable Energy Statistics 2022"

Other World Bank Data: Renewable electricity output (% of total electricity output) for years prior to FY22.

The emission factors used for fuels and electricity apply a mix of IPCC Assessment Report AR4 and AR5 global warming potentials 
(GWPs) depending on the approach taken by reporting authorities in the respective countries. For manufacturing emissions the 
difference that occurs from using AR4 versus AR5 factors is immaterial.
Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) have been considered with AR5 global warming potential factors. Perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) 
and sulphur hexafluoride are not used or generated.

Scope 3 Emissions
Refer to Our Performance on page 67 for the data we are reporting in Scope 3 broken down by categories.
A screening exercise completed when submitting our emissions reduction target to the Science-Based Target initiative estimated 
that the excluded items account for less than 10% of Scope 3 emissions

NAME EXCLUSIONS
Category 1 – Purchased goods and 
services 

We have not included scope 3 emissions associated with non-milk ingredients or third-party 
manufacturing, which we estimate to account for less than 7.5% of emissions from 
purchased goods and services.

Category 2 – Capital goods An estimate of the emissions attributable to capital goods purchased suggest these account 
for less than 1% of our Scope 3 emissions and therefore not considered to be material.

NAME EXCLUSIONS
Category 3 – Fuel and energy 
related activities not included in 
Scope 1 or Scope 2

For New Zealand, the emissions associated with the extraction and production of fuels; and the 
transportation of diesel fuel are excluded.
For countries other than New Zealand and Australia, fuel and energy related activities not 
included in Scope 1 or Scope 2 are excluded from our reporting.

Category 4 – Upstream 
transportation and distribution 

Product movements beyond destination port, internal movement of liquid by-product not 
carried by our tankers, and internal movement of products in manufacturing countries other 
than New Zealand are excluded from our reporting.
The excluded data is estimated to account for less than 15% of the GHG emissions from the 
distribution of finished goods which is less than 0.1% of total scope 3 emissions.

Category 5 – Waste and wastewater Most of our solid waste is a by-product of manufacturing practices; for example, packaging, 
damaged product and personal protective equipment that cannot be reused or recycled. We 
monitor the materiality of emissions from waste using the national average emissions factor 
default value from the NZ Ministry for the Environment Guidance 2022 and total mixed waste 
to landfill from our global manufacturing operations. We have estimated the total emissions 
arising from waste to be less than 0.03% of Fonterra’s Scope 3 emissions. These are therefore 
not considered to be material. For wastewater treatment, the energy used by the wastewater 
treatment facilities at our manufacturing sites is included in our scope 2 reporting.
GHG emissions (methane and nitrous oxide) from wastewater treatment is estimated to be less 
than 0.01% of Fonterra’s Scope 3 emissions and is therefore not considered to be material.

Category 7 – Employee commuting Fonterra has undertaken an estimation of emissions from employee commuting using 
national average data from Statistics New Zealand. Employee commuting is estimated to 
represent approximately 0.1% of Fonterra’s Scope 3 emissions and is therefore not 
considered to be material.

Category 8 – upstream leased 
assets

Fonterra does not lease any assets that are not already accounted for in our Scope 1 and 2 
emissions.

Category 9 – Downstream 
transportation and distribution

The majority of products sold by Fonterra are intermediate products, with many potential 
downstream applications - Fonterra is therefore unable to reasonably estimate the 
downstream end-of-life emissions associated with the various end uses of the intermediate 
product. As per the guidance contained in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value 
Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, Fonterra is therefore able to exclude 
this downstream emission from its report. 
In a recent Life Cycle Analysis completed for liquid milk consumer products sold in New 
Zealand, the GHG emissions from consumer use and end-of-life disposal represented less 
than 0.8% of the total footprint.

Category 10 – Processing of sold 
products
Category 11 – Use of sold products
Category 12 – End-of-life treatment 
of sold products

Category 13 – Downstream leased 
assets 

We do not own downstream assets that are leased to third parties.

Category 14 – Franchises We have a small number of franchisees in our NZ domestic market but we purchase the 
electricity for their product storage and this is considered under our scope 2 emissions. 
The emissions from their transportation activities would be considered under our scope 3 
transportation and distribution emissions but has been estimated to be immaterial in this 
context. There is therefore nothing materially relevant left to report under this category.

Category 15 – Investments Most equity investments held by Fonterra fall under our management control and therefore 
the emissions are accounted for under our Scope 1 and 2 reporting. Emissions associated 
with other investments are excluded due to low materiality and lack of available data.

1. Many countries report energy use in net calorific value (lower heating value) terms where the latent heat available in the water formed during 
combustion is excluded from the available energy. Typically, the gross values are about 5% higher than net values for solid and liquid fuels and up 
to 10% higher for gaseous fuels.
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Water use and discharge

Scope
We report water use and wastewater discharge globally for the manufacturing sites where we have operational control. The data is 
reported using an inventory method. 
During FY22, we improved the completeness of our data by including our dairy research facility in New Zealand (less than 0.05% of 
total water withdrawn) and separating out identifiable volumes which we provide to third parties for their use under our consent or 
other agreements.
A small number of water withdrawal and discharge locations are excluded from our reporting. We have assessed each of these 
individually and the associated volumes and potential impacts are considered immaterial. In total, these locations are estimated to 
account for less than 1% of our total water volumes.
We also report our water data via the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), with our first submission completed in 2020.

Water discharge by destination
We do not discharge any volumes of wastewater directly to groundwater. Under regulatory conditions we irrigate some wastewater 
in Australia and New Zealand to land. Given the options available to meet GRI reporting guidelines we use groundwater as the 
closest match to irrigation to land.

Water quality – Total Dissolved Solids
Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) is a standard indicator of water quality globally. A representative or median result is used to categorise the 

Most of our manufacturing sites are in New Zealand where TDS is not commonly used as a measure of water quality. During FY22, we 
commenced a TDS surveillance testing program to improve the accuracy of the categorisation of our water sources and discharges. 
Using these results we have restated all water data to reflect the most recently available fresh water quality categorisations.
Where TDS data is still unavailable, alternative information has been assessed by internal subject matter experts to estimate water 
source and wastewater discharge quality. For example, representative conductivity (EC) measurements can be converted using a 
correlation ratio derived from research for fresh water or typical dairy effluent to estimate a TDS equivalent.
The correlation ratios we have used are: k = 0.55 for freshwater and k = 0.64 for dairy effluent.
Equation:  TDS (mg/l) = Correlation ratio (k) * EC (μS/cm)

Water quality – Chemical oxygen demand
Chemical oxygen demand (COD) is a common water quality measure in the dairy industry and used by many of our manufacturing 
sites. We have therefore chosen to report on discharge water quality using COD.
Where biological oxygen demand (BOD) results are used rather than COD, we have converted the BOD results to COD using a 
conversion factor derived from research into typical compositions for wastewater from dairy manufacturing sites (COD = BOD/0.6).
Water quality sampling frequency varies between sites and destination of wastewater but is in line with the requirements of 
relevant regulations or permits. At some sites it is tested internally to a procedure approved by the relevant authority while at other 
sites it is analysed by external laboratories.

Aggregation of global wastewater quality data
For each site outlet, the overall COD result for the reporting period is calculated as an average from the individual test results for 
that outlet. The average is generally calculated as a median but in some cases a mean is used. 
To aggregate these into global results per discharge destination, a weighted average is calculated based on the volume discharged 
for each overall COD result. 
If a facility provides a volume but is unable to provide the matching COD or BOD, that volume has been excluded from the global 
aggregation calculation.

Water in areas of water stress
Using the Aqueduct water risk atlas1 we have identified four of our manufacturing facilities as being in areas considered under 
current water stress. Our threshold recognises baseline water stress, where the current indication is high or extremely high. When 
prioritising actions, we also consider factors such as water quality and regulatory or reputational risk.

Water Storage
Water storage facilities are one method for improved water management. By collecting water when it is plentiful, it can be stored 
for future use during dryer periods. The data reported (see page 65) reflects the change in significant storage facilities, such as 
lagoons, at the end of the reporting year. The impact of precipitation and evaporation is not accounted for.

Data changes

Acquisitions and Divestments
For reporting progress against targets, we have adopted the approach recommended by the GHG Protocol. This means that, where 
the target depends on a baseline value in a given financial year, we have adjusted the baseline value and all subsequent years to 
reflect acquisition or divestment of the businesses and reported progress on a like-for-like basis (i.e. as if we had never owned that 
business or always owned the business).
There were no new acquisitions or divestments during FY22 but please refer to the next section for a retrospective update for FY21.

Restatements of prior year results
During FY21, we acquired two small manufacturing facilities in Australia. Production, energy use, and emissions for the period they 
were under Fonterra control were included in the FY21 inventory reporting, but they are deducted from comparative measures until 
an appropriate baseline adjustment could be developed. Data for water withdrawal, wastewater and solid waste to landfill was not 
available. In FY22 we collected data for water and solid waste to landfill and we have used this to restate FY21 to include an 
appropriate estimate for the period we had operational control.
Manufacturing Scope 1 and 2 emissions have been updated to reflect minor adjustments including the change in approach for the 
New Zealand electricity emission factor which we adopted in FY21 but did not apply retrospectively to FY18 and FY19. The 
combined impact to reported emissions in any year was less than 0.3%. 
Scope 3 emissions have been restated for all years since the 14/15 season to reflect the findings of the latest LCA assessment for 
milk sourced in New Zealand during the 2020/2021 season (see page 31). This latest LCA adopted the IPCC AR6 GWP factors so for 
consistency, all on-farm LCAs have been recalculated to use IPCC AR6 (see page 31). These changes were also applied to the small 
number of farms where we have operational control leading to a restatement of scope 1 and 2 emissions. At the same time we have 
further improved the completeness of our reporting by also including the emissions arising from some dry stock on these farms. 
The combined impact of these changes has meant an increase of between 7% and 11% for on farm emissions in any given season.
Scope 3 emissions for prior years have also been restated for Distribution. More complete data has been obtained for coastal 
shipping within New Zealand. This improvement in data quality results in an increase of less than 0.2% in reported emissions 
related to distribution.
Water data has been restated to reflect the outcome of specific quality testing performed this year (see ‘Water use and discharge’ 
on the previous page). At the same time, we have also included minor corrections to historical data, such as data from operations 
divested in FY19, and the removal of an insignificant volume previously incorrectly classified as wastewater.
A reassessment of water stress was performed this year using recognised methodology. One additional manufacturing site has been 
identified as potentially at risk of water stress, consequently the data for all years have been updated to reflect this re-
categorisation. 

1. Aqueduct is a peer reviewed global water risk mapping tool provided by the World Resources Institute (WRI)  www.wri.org/data/aqueduct-water-
risk-atlas
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Materiality assessment

Determining what’s important
In FY21, we refreshed our materiality assessment. Starting from the results of 
previous assessments, we identified potential topics of importance based on 
industry guidance and reports, customer reports and emerging issues derived from 
risk assessments and media coverage. This long list of topics was assessed and 
clustered into a set of topics at a common level of granularity for further analysis.
The relative importance of the topics to our stakeholder groups was determined by a 
combination of specific surveying, findings of specific engagement workshops and 
interviewing owners of existing relationships. We engaged directly with more than 
400 individual stakeholders, who in turn represented many more from their 
respective stakeholder group. The findings for each stakeholder group were 
combined into an overall ordered list of importance, treating all stakeholder groups 
on an equal basis.
We also assessed the significance of our impact on society for each topic by 
considering the positive and negative impact of our activities against five criteria: 
the extent of our impact (i.e. local, regional, global), the severity of our impact, the 
duration of our impact, Fonterra’s ability to influence this impact and the likelihood 
of the impact occurring.
Using the combination of importance to stakeholders and the significance of our 
impact, we generated an order list of topics that was discussed with our 
Sustainability Advisory Panel and approved by the Fonterra Management team.
The final findings were also reviewed with and supported by external stakeholders, 
including dairy sector representatives in New Zealand and Australia and a 
sustainable business organisation.
This materiality assessment process was conducted by Sustainability Professionals 
from the Fonterra Sustainability Team with prior experience of conducting 
materiality assessments, dairy farming and product manufacturing.

Peneleope, Tararua
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Material topics

TOPIC SCOPE

STAKEHOLDER GROUPS  
THAT RAISED THE TOPIC  
MOST STRONGLY OUR RESPONSE

Ensuring the food safety and quality of the products we deliver. All food products we sell, including ingredients, foodservice and consumer products. All except Iwi and NGOs. See Food safety and quality on page 14
Adapting to the effects of climate change, while mitigating our impacts. Our contribution to climate change from the activities in our value chain, including sourcing, farming, 

manufacturing and distribution;
and the potential impact on those activities arising from predicted climate change.

All See Climate change on page 30

Using water responsibly, including water quality, availability and disposal. The water used by, and the potential impact on water quality arising from, our manufacturing sites 
and the farms which supply us with milk.

All except Investors and Vendors See Land and water on page 25

Protecting the health and safety of people at work, including their wellbeing. The health and safety of employees and contractors working at Fonterra sites and visitors to those 
sites. The wellbeing of our employees and farmers. Influencing the health and safety at work on 
supplying farms and the other businesses which provide us with goods and services.

Employees
Iwi
Vendors

See Health, safety and wellbeing on page 16

Protecting animal health and welfare within our supply chain, including 
caring for our cows and responsible use of antibiotics

All dairy animals on farms directly or indirectly supplying fresh milk to Fonterra. Customers 
Consumers
Employees

See Animal wellbeing on page 42

Supporting the livelihood of thousands of people through meaningful 
employment and sustainable income creation, including the milk price for our 
farmers

Local economies in the locations where we operate and source milk, goods and services from, 
including our impact on the national New Zealand economy.

Farmers
Government
Iwi

See Employment and income creation on 
page 56

Protecting soil health which is essential for sustainable food production, 
including nutrient management.

Directly on Fonterra-managed farms, and influencing best-practice on farms directly supplying fresh 
milk to Fonterra.

Farmers
NGOs

See Land and water on page 25

Contributing to nutrition and health through the products and information we 
deliver, including obesity and under-nutrition

The nutritional profile, impact and accessibility of our products, and our role in promoting healthy, 
balanced diets.

Investors See Nutrition and health on page 10

Maintaining ethical business practices fundamental to the way we work, 
including anti-corruption and fair competition

All activities undertaken by, or on behalf of, Fonterra, in all markets. Vendors
Iwi

See Ethical business practices on page 54

Using responsible procurement to influence environmental, social and 
economic performance along our supply chain

All direct procurement of goods and services. Iwi See Working with Farmers on page 47 and 
Working with Vendors on page 49

Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and the underlying ecosystem services 
we rely upon, including the impact of deforestation

The direct impact of our operations and supplying farms, and the indirect impact through 
procurement of goods, including procurement of animal feed by our farmers.

Governments
Iwi
NGOs

See Land and water on page 25
See Working with farmers on page 47
See Working with vendors on page 49

Protecting the employment rights and working conditions of our people, 
including diversity and inclusion, women’s empowerment, and 
learning and development.

All Fonterra permanent and temporary employees, and those working at our sites Customers and consumers See Investing in people on page 19

Minimising post-consumption waste, including product packaging and 
food waste.

All Fonterra consumer branded products and packaging of ingredients products No stakeholder group raised this 
particularly highly.

See Packaging and waste on page 39

For reporting, we have focussed our disclosure on those topics which rated medium or 
above for importance to stakeholders or significance of impact. The table above lists 
these topics, in order, and where we cover our response in this report. For each topic, 
we have assessed and defined the scope of our impact and identified which stakeholder 
groups raised the topic most strongly.

Protecting the human rights of individuals impacted by our business actions, 
including modern slavery, did not make the materiality threshold for inclusion in this 
report but we recognise our responsibility to care for the human rights of people 
directly or indirectly impacted by our operations and decisions. 

Rather than manage human rights as a standalone topic, our approach is to embed 
our respect of human rights across our range of policies and standards including our 
Code of Business Conduct (see page C&S-03). This means our main activities are 
covered already covered in our reporting: see Investing in people page 19, Health, 
safety and wellbeing page 16, Working with vendors page 49 and our Modern 
Slavery Statement.
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GRI Content Index
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards: Core option. The GRI Standards 
are the world’s most widely used standards for sustainability reporting, enabling organisations to measure and report their most 
important sustainability topics. 
For more information see www.globalreporting.org 

REF TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

GRI 102: GENERAL DISCLOSURES 2016

102-1 Name of the organisation Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited X1

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services About us. See page AR-04 X

102-3 Location of headquarters Headquarters. See page 89 X

102-4 Location of operations About us. See page AR-04 X

102-5 Ownership and legal form Co-operative Status. See page C&S-21 X

102-6 Markets served About us. See page AR-04 X

102-7 Scale of the organisation About us. See page AR-04 X

How we create value. See page AR-11

Financial Statements. See pages FS-02, FS-27

102-8 Information on employees and other workers Employee Data. See page 71 X

102-9 Supply chain How we create value. See page AR-11 X

Working with farmers. See page 47

Employment and income creation. See page 56

102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and 
its supply chain

None. X

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach Managing operations. See page 45 X

102-12 External initiatives External initiatives. See page 89 X

102-13 Membership of associations Membership of associations. See page 89 X

102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker Message from the Board Chair. See page AR-05 X

Message from the Board Chair and CEO. See page 03

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of 
behaviour 

Our Values. See page AR-09 X

Code of Ethical Behaviour. See page C&S-03

REF TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about 
ethics

Code of Ethical Behaviour. See page C&S-03 X

102-18 Governance structure Governance of sustainability. See page C&S-09 X

102-20 Executive-level responsibility for economic, 
environmental, and social topics 

Governance of sustainability. See page C&S-09 X

102-23 Chair of the highest governance body Principle 2: Division of Roles. Corporate Governance Statement. 
See page C&S-04

X

102-24 Nominating and selecting the highest 
governance body

Principle 2: Board Composition and Performance. Corporate 
Governance Statement. See page C&S-04

X

102-25 Conflicts of interest Principle 1: Code of ethical behaviour. Corporate Governance 
Statement. See page C&S-03

X

Entries in the Interests Register. Statutory Information. See page 
C&S-26

102-28 Evaluating the highest governance body’s 
performance

Principle 2: Assess Performance. Corporate Governance 
Statement. See page C&S-06

X

102-33 Communicating critical concerns Principle 1: Code of ethical behaviour. Corporate Governance 
Statement. See page C&S-03

X

102-40 List of stakeholder groups How we create value. See page AR-11
Responding to what’s important. See page 08
Materiality assessment. See page 79

X

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements Investing in people. See page 19 X

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements 

For the list of entities see page FS-63 X

102-46 Defining report content and topic 
boundaries

Materiality assessment. See page 79 X

102-47 List of material topics Responding to what’s important. See page 08 X

102-48 Restatements of information See Data reporting notes. See page 78. X

See Our performance. See page 62 and 67.

102-49 Changes in reporting No significant changes. X

1. X – Within scope of assurance.
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REF TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

102-50 Reporting period Period is 1 August 2021 – 31 July 2022 X

102-51 Date of most recent report September 2021 for period 1 August 2020 – 31 July 2021 X

102-52 Reporting cycle Annual X

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the 
report 

Email: sustainability@fonterra.com X

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the 
GRI Standards

About this report. See page 02 X

102-55 GRI content index Global Reporting Initiative Standards. See page 81 X

102-56 External assurance Bureau Veritas Assurance Statement. See page 88 X

GRI 201: ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 2016 – Employment and income creation. See page 56

201-1 Direct economic value generated and 
distributed

About us. See page AR-04 X

Doing Good Together. See page AR-16

Remuneration. See pages C&S 11-14, C&S 21-25, FS-20

GRI 205: ANTI-CORRUPTION 2016 – Ethical business practice. See page 54

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and 
actions taken.

Anti-corruption. See page 54 X

GRI 206: ANTI-COMPETITIVE BEHAVIOR 2016 – Ethical business practice. See page 54

206-1 Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, 
anti-trust, and monopoly practices

Legal compliance. See page 55 X

ENVIRONMENTAL TOPIC DISCLOSURES

GRI 302: ENERGY 2016 – Climate change. See page 30

302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation Our performance. See page 65 X

302-3 Energy intensity Our performance. See page 34 X

GRI 303: WATER AND EFFLUENTS 2018 – Land and water. See page 25

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared resource Land and Water. See page 25 X

303-2 Management of water discharge-related 
impacts

Improving wastewater treatment. See page 26 X

303-3 Water withdrawal Water withdrawal. See page 62-64 X

303-4 Water discharge Water discharge. See page 62-64 X

303-5 Water consumption Water consumption. See page 65 X

GRI 305: EMISSIONS 2016 – Climate change. See page 30

305-1; Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions Our performance. See page 66 X

305-2; Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions Our performance. See page 67 X

REF TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

305-3; Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions Our performance. See page 67 X

305-4 GHG emissions intensity Our performance. See page 68 X

GRI 307: ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 2016 – Managing operations. See page 45

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws 
and regulations

Environmental compliance. See page 45 X

GRI 308: SUPPLIER ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 2016 – Working with farmers. See page 47  

308-2 Negative environmental impacts in the 
supply chain and actions taken

Working with farmers. See page 48 X

SOCIAL TOPIC DISCLOSURES

401 EMPLOYMENT 2016 – Investing in people. See page 19

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover See page 73 X

403 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 2018 – Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-1 Occupational health and safety management 
system

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and 
incident investigation

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-3 Occupational health services Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and 
communication on occupational health and 
safety

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and 
safety

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-6 Promotion of worker health Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational 
health and safety impacts directly linked by 
business relationships

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health 
and safety management system

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

403-9 Work-related injuries Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 16

404 TRAINING AND EDUCATION 2016 – Investing in people. See page 19

404-2 Programmes for upgrading employee skills 
and transition assistance programmes

Learning and development. See page 20
Employee Assistance Programme. See page C&S-04

405 DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 2016 – Investing in people. See page 21

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and 
employees

Employee data. See page 72 X
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REF TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of 
women to men

Gender pay. See page 22 X

406 NON-DISCRIMINATION 2016 – Investing in people. See page 19

406-1 Incidents of discrimination and corrective 
actions taken

The Way We Work Hotline  See page C&S-03
Non-discrimination. See page 22

X

415 PUBLIC POLICY 2016 - Ethical business practice. See page 54

415-1 Political contributions Responsible political involvement. See page 55

416 CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY 2016 – Food safety and quality. See page 14

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts 
of product and service categories

Food safety and quality. See page 14 X

419 SOCIOECONOMIC COMPLIANCE 2016 – Ethical business practice. See page 54

419-1 Non-compliance with laws and regulations in 
the social and economic area

Legal compliance. See page 55
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New GRI Standards - Content Index
From FY23, new versions of the GRI Standards will apply. Although we have continued to align primarily with the 2016 version of 
the GRI Standards, the following table provides an index to key content using the new version of GRI Standards.

NEW GRI REF NEW TOPIC TITLE
CURRENT  
GRI REF CURRENT TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

Disclosure 2-1 Organizational details 102-1 Name of the organisation Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited

102-3 Location of headquarters Headquarters. See page 89

102-4 Location of operations About us. See page AR-04 

102-5 Ownership and legal form Co-operative Status. See page C&S-21

102-7 Scale of the organisation About us. See page AR-04

How we create value. See page AR-11

Financial Statements. See pages FS-02, FS-27

Disclosure 2-2 Entities included in the organization’s sustainability reporting 102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements For the list of entities see page FS-63

Disclosure 2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact 
point

102-50 Reporting period Period is 1 August 2021 – 31 July 2022

102-51 Date of most recent report September 2021 for period 1 August 2020 – 31 July 2021

102-52 Reporting cycle Annual

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report Email: sustainability@fonterra.com

Disclosure 2-4 Restatements of information 102-48 Restatements of information See Data reporting notes. See page 78

See Our performance. See pages 62-67

102-49 Changes in reporting No significant changes.

Disclosure 2-5 External assurance 102-56 Policy and practice for external assurance. Bureau Veritas Assurance Statement. See page 88

External assurance 

Disclosure 2-6 Activities, value chain and other 
business relationships

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services About us. See page AR-04

102-6 Markets served About us. See page AR-04

102-9 Supply chain How we create value. See page AR-11

Working with farmers. See page 47

Employment and income creation. See page 56

102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and its supply chain None.

Disclosure 2-7 Employees 102-8 Information on employees and other workers Employee Data.  See page 71

405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to men Gender pay. See page 22
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NEW GRI REF NEW TOPIC TITLE
CURRENT  
GRI REF CURRENT TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

Disclosure 2-9 Governance structure and composition 102-18 Governance structure Governance of sustainability. See page C&S-09

102-20 Executive-level responsibility for economic, environmental, and 
social topics 

Governance of sustainability. See page C&S-09

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees Employee data. See page 72

Disclosure 2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body 102-24 Nominating and selecting the highest governance body Principle 2: Board Composition and Performance. Corporate Governance Statement. See 
page C&S-04

Criteria used for nominating and selecting the highest governance 
body

Disclosure 2-11 Chair of the highest governance body 102-23 Chair of the highest governance body Principle 2: Division of Roles. Corporate Governance Statement. See page C&S-04

Disclosure 2-15 Conflicts of interest 102-25 Conflicts of interest Principle 1: Code of ethical behaviour. Corporate Governance Statement. See page C&S-03
Entries in the Interests Register. Statutory Information. See page C&S-26

Disclosure 2-16 Communication of critical concerns 102-33 Communicating critical concerns Principle 1: Code of ethical behaviour. Corporate Governance Statement. See page C&S-03

Disclosure 2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body 102-28 Evaluating the highest governance body’s performance Principle 2: Assess Performance. Corporate Governance Statement. See page C&S-06

Disclosure 2-22 Statement on sustainable development 
strategy

102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker Message from the Board Chair. See page AR-05
Message from Board Chair and CEO. See page 03

Disclosure 2-23 Policy commitments 102-11 Precautionary principle or approach Managing operations. See page 45

102-12 External initiatives External initiatives. See page 89

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour Our Values. See page AR-09
Code of Ethical Behaviour. See page C&S-03

Disclosure 2-25 Processes to remediate negative 
impacts

308-2 Negative environmental impacts in the supply chain and actions taken Working with farmers. See page 48

Disclosure 2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and 
raising concerns

102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics Code of Ethical Behaviour. See page C&S-03

Disclosure 2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations 307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations Environmental compliance. See page 45

419-1 Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and economic 
area

Legal compliance. See page 55

Disclosure 2-28 Membership associations 102-13 Membership of associations Membership of associations. See page 89

Disclosure 2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 102-40 List of stakeholder groups How we create value. See page AR-11
Responding to what’s important. See page 08
Materiality assessment. See page 79

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised

Disclosure 2-30 Collective bargaining agreements 102-41 Collective bargaining agreements Investing in people. See page 19

Disclosure 3-1 Process to determine material topics 102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries Materiality assessment. See page 79

Disclosure 3-2 List of material topics 102-47 List of material topics Responding to what’s important. See page 08
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SASB1 Content Index
While we do not claim alignment with SASB Reporting Standards, the following index is provided as alternative approach to finding 
common disclosures associated with the SASB Food & Beverage – Meat, Poultry & Dairy Standard.

REF TOPIC TITLE REFERENCE

FB-MP-000.A Location of operations About us. See page AR-04

FB-MP-110a.1 Gross global Scope 1 emissions. Our performance. See page 66

FB-MP-110a.2 Discussion of long-term and short-term strategy or plan to manage Scope 1 emissions, emissions reduction targets, and an analysis of performance 
against those targets

Climate change. See page 30
Our performance. See page 65

FB-MP-130a.1 (1) Total energy consumed
(2) Percentage grid electricity
(3) Percentage renewable

Climate change. See page 34
Our performance. See page 65

FB-MP-140a.1 (1) Total water withdrawn,
(2) Total water consumed, percentage of each in regions with High or Extremely High Baseline Water Stress

Water withdrawal. See pages 62-64
Water consumption. See page 65

FB-MP-140a.3 Number of incidents of non-compliance with water quality permits, standards, and regulations Environmental compliance. See page 45

FB-MP-160a.3 Animal protein production from concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs) None

FB-MP-250a.2 Percentage of supplier facilities certified to a Global Food Safety 
Initiative (GFSI) food safety certification program

Food, safety and quality. See page 14

FB-MP-250a.3 (1) Number of recalls issued
(2) Total weight of products recalled

Food, safety and quality. See page 14

FB-MP-250a.4 Discussion of markets that ban imports of the entity’s products Nutrition and health. See page 13

FB-MP-320a.1 (1) Total recordable incident rate (TRIR)
(2) Fatality rate

Health, safety and wellbeing. See page 60

1. SASB – Sustainability Accounting Standards Board.
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Disclaimer

This report contains some forward-looking statements, targets and projections relating to 
Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited (Fonterra) and its subsidiaries (the Fonterra Group) that 
are based on the beliefs of the Fonterra Group’s management as well as assumptions made by 
and information currently available to the Fonterra Group’s management. 

There can be no certainty of outcome in relation to the matters to which the forward-looking 
statements, targets and projections relate. These forward-looking statements, targets and 
projections involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important 
factors that could cause the actual outcomes to be materially different from the events 
or results expressed or implied by such statements, targets and projections. Those risks, 
uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors are not all within the control of the 
Fonterra Group and cannot be predicted by the Fonterra Group.

While all reasonable care has been taken in the preparation of this report, none of Fonterra or 
any of its respective subsidiaries, affiliates and associated companies (or any of their respective 
officers, employees or agents) (Relevant Persons) makes any representation, assurance or 

guarantee as to the accuracy or completeness of any information in this report or likelihood of 
fulfilment of any forward-looking statement, target or projection or any outcomes expressed or 
implied in any forward-looking statement, target or projection. The forward-looking statements, 
targets and projections in this report reflect views held only at the date of this report. None of 
the forward-looking statements, targets or projections in this report shall be construed as profit 
or revenue forecasts.

Accordingly, no-one should place reliance on any forward-looking statements, targets or 
projections in this report. All forward-looking statements, targets and projections in this report 
are qualified by reference to the cautionary statements set forth in this section.

Statements about past performance are not necessarily indicative of future performance. 
Except as required by applicable law or any applicable Listing Rules, the Relevant Persons 
disclaim any obligation or undertaking to update any information in this report.

This report does not constitute investment advice, or an inducement, recommendation or offer 
to buy or sell any securities in Fonterra or the Fonterra Shareholders’ Fund.

Non-GAAP measures

Fonterra uses several non-GAAP measures when discussing financial performance. These 
measures include normalised profit after tax, normalised EBIT, EBIT, normalised earnings per 
share, normalisation adjustments and total Group measures. Total Group measures present the 
combined financial performance of the Group’s continuing and discontinued operations. Non-
GAAP financial measures are not defined or specified by NZ IFRS. 

Management believes that these measures provide useful information as they provide valuable 
insight on the underlying performance of the business. They are used internally to evaluate the 
underlying performance of business units and to analyse trends.

These measures are not uniformly defined or utilised by all companies. Accordingly, these 
measures may not be comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies. Non-
GAAP financial measures should not be viewed in isolation nor considered as a substitute for 
measures reported in accordance with NZ IFRS. Non-GAAP measures are not subject to audit 
unless they are included in Fonterra’s audited Financial Statements.

Please refer to the Non-GAAP Measures section in Fonterra’s 2022 Annual Review for further 
information about non-GAAP measures used by Fonterra, including reconciliations back to 
NZ IFRS measures. Definitions of non-GAAP measures used by Fonterra can be found in the 
glossary included within Fonterra’s Business Performance Report.

External initiatives
Fonterra is a supporter of the following voluntary initiatives:

INITIATIVE DATE ADOPTED

CDP 2015

Science-based targets initiative 2020

Dairy Sustainability Framework 2013

New Zealand Climate Leaders Coalition 2017

Rainbow Tick 2019

Global food safety initiative (AUS/NZ forum) 2019

TupuToa 2018

New Zealand Plastic Packaging Declaration 2019

The Australian Packaging Convenant 2011

Chilean Plastics Pact 2019

Membership of associations
Fonterra is a member of the following organisations:

International Dairy Federation

Global Dairy Platform

Dairy Companies Association of New Zealand

Sustainable Agriculture Initiative Platform

Roundtable for Sustainable Palm Oil

Business New Zealand

Sustainanable Business Council

Sustainable Business Network

Fwd: Buyer

The Aoteroa Circle

Dairy Womens’ Network

Registered office
Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited
Private Bag 92032
Auckland 1010
New Zealand

Headquarters
Fonterra Centre
109 Fanshawe Street
Auckland Central
Auckland 1010
New Zealand
Phone +64 9 374 9000
Fax +64 9 374 9001
Email: sustainability@fonterra.com

insightcreative.co.nz  FONTERRA099_SR
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Fonterra recognises the critical role governance plays in the 
success of the Co-operative. Fonterra’s Board, Co-operative 
Council and Management are committed to achieving the 
highest standard of corporate governance, representation 
and leadership and have developed governance systems to 
reflect Fonterra’s unique characteristics and requirements 
as a globally competitive New Zealand based dairy 
co-operative. These are regularly reviewed and updated 
to align with best practice.

Compliance with Best Practice 
Governance Standards

–

–

–

–

–

Principle 1: Code of Ethical Behaviour

Code of Ethics

FONTERRA – CODE OF ETHICS

Board Code  
of Conduct

The Way We Work
Board Charter

Global Ethical 
Behaviour Policy

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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Employee Assistance Programme

Securities Trading Policy

Principle 2: Board Composition and Performance

Board Charter

Board Appointments

Elected Director Selection Process

Appointed Director Selection Process

Changes to the Fonterra Board

–

–

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Disclosure

Diversity and Inclusion 

Board Gender Composition

BOARD GENDER

TOTAL MALE FEMALE GENDER DIVERSE UNDECLARED

7 – –

7 – –

Officer Gender Composition 

OFFICERS GENDER

TOTAL MALE FEMALE GENDER DIVERSE UNDECLARED

– –

– –

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Ongoing Training

–

–

–

–

Assess Performance

Director Independence

Division of Roles

Principle 3: Board Committees

–

–

–

–

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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COMMITTEE OR GROUP MEMBERSHIP AS AT 31 July 2022 PURPOSE

–

–

–

COMMITTEE OR GROUP MEMBERSHIP AS AT 31 July 2022 PURPOSE

–

–

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Board and Committee Attendance

BOARD
AUDIT, FINANCE AND 

RISK COMMITTEE
CO-OPERATIVE 

RELATIONS COMMITTEE
DISCLOSURE  
COMMITTEE1

DIVESTMENT 
REVIEW COMMITTEE1 MILK PRICE PANEL

PEOPLE, CULTURE AND 
SAFETY COMMITTEE

SAFETY AND RISK 
COMMITTEE2 

Eligible to 
attend

Attendance
Eligible to 

attend
Attendance

Eligible to 
attend

Attendance
Eligible to 

attend
Attendance

Eligible to 
attend

Attendance
Eligible to 

attend
Attendance

Eligible to 
attend

Attendance
Eligible to 

attend
Attendance

– – – – – – 7
– 7 7 7 – – – –

– – – –
– – 7 7 – –
– – – – – – – –

– – – – – – – – – –
– – – – – – – –

– – – – – – – –
– 7 – – – –
– – – – – – – – –
– – 7 7 – –

Audit, Finance and Risk Committee

Majority Independent Directors – Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee and People, Culture and Safety Committee

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Milk Price Panel

Nominations Committee

Governance of Sustainability

–

–

Takeover Offer
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Principle 4: Reporting and Disclosure

Disclosure Policy

Website Disclosure

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Non-Financial Reporting

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

10CONTENTS



Principle 5: Remuneration

Director Remuneration

Remuneration of Fonterra’s People

Role of the People, Culture and Safety Committee

Remuneration Strategy

–

–

–

Executive Remuneration Framework

ATTRACT AND RETAIN 
KEY TALENT

A STRONG LINK 
BETWEEN BUSINESS 

PERFORMANCE 
AND REWARD

REWARD OUR PEOPLE 
EQUITABLY

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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FIXED ELEMENT SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE (STI) LONG-TERM INCENTIVE (LTI)

Cash Cash Cash (delivered after six years)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–
–

–

–

Remuneration Framework Changes for FY23

FY23 On Target pay-mix 22%33%45%

Base Remuneration Short Term Incentive Long Term Incentive

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Remuneration Framework for FY22

Executive Remuneration Benchmarking 

FIXED ELEMENT VARIABLE ELEMENT

FIXED REMUNERATION EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE PLAN (EIP)

Cash Cash (with a cash component deferred for three years)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

FY22 On Target pay-mix 17%38%45%

Base Remuneration Short Term Incentive Long Term Incentive

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022

13CONTENTS



Chief Executive Officer Remuneration

Total Remuneration Paid FY22

FIXED REMUNERATION PAY FOR PERFORMANCE TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID

SALARY BENEFITS1 EIP PAID

Total Remuneration Earned FY22

FIXED REMUNERATION PAY FOR PERFORMANCE TOTAL REMUNERATION 

SALARY BENEFITS1 EIP EARNED
(70%)

EIP DEFERRED 3 YEARS
(30%)

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Principle 6: Risk Management

Risk Management Framework

Key Risks

KEY RISK RISK DESCRIPTION RISK MITIGATIONS

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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KEY RISK RISK DESCRIPTION RISK MITIGATIONS
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KEY RISK RISK DESCRIPTION RISK MITIGATIONS
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KEY RISK RISK DESCRIPTION RISK MITIGATIONS

Risk Management Focus in FY22 Covid-19

–

–

–

–

–

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Principle 7: Auditors

Auditor Framework

(

Annual Meeting

Internal Audit

–

–

–

Principle 8: Shareholder Rights And Relations

Website

Co-operative Council

Farmer Communications

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Farmer Meetings

Fonterra.com and Farm Source™ Digital Tools

Annual or Special Meeting

Annual Report

Other Disclosures

Voting

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Statutory information

Co-operative Status

–

•

•
•

–

–

Employee Remuneration Framework

–

–

–

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Employee Remuneration

REMUNERATION RANGE ($)
NEW ZEALAND 
HEAD OFFICE1

REGIONAL 
NEW ZEALAND 1 OFFSHORE2 CESSATIONS3 TOTAL

7

7

7
7

7

REMUNERATION RANGE ($)
NEW ZEALAND 
HEAD OFFICE1

REGIONAL 
NEW ZEALAND 1 OFFSHORE2 CESSATIONS3 TOTAL

7

7

7

7
7

7

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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REMUNERATION RANGE ($)
NEW ZEALAND 
HEAD OFFICE1

REGIONAL 
NEW ZEALAND 1 OFFSHORE2 CESSATIONS3 TOTAL

Employee Remuneration CONTINUED

REMUNERATION RANGE ($)
NEW ZEALAND 
HEAD OFFICE1

REGIONAL 
NEW ZEALAND 1 OFFSHORE2 CESSATIONS3 TOTAL

Totals 833 5,304 1,951 352 8,440

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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TOTAL

New Zealand total 6,137

TOTAL

Global total 8,440

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Director Remuneration

BOARD FEES
COMMITTEE 
CHAIR FEES

DISCRETIONARY 
POOL

TOTAL 
REMUNERATION 

($)

– –
–

–

– –
–

–

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Quoted Financial Products held at Balance Date

FSF UNITS¹ CO-OPERATIVE SHARES

–

–

–

Entries in the Interests Register

Directors’ interests in transactions

General disclosures of interest

Freedom Road Travel Director (ceased June 2022)

Marivan Holdings Limited Director and Shareholder (ceased January 2022)

Lincoln University Councillor (ceased August 2021)

Zespri China Advisory Board Member (ceased November 2021)

EastPack Limited Director (ceased May 2022)
Fonterra Farmer Custodian Limited Director and Shareholder (ceased February 2022)
Seven Mile Farms Limited Director and Shareholder (ceased June 2022)

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Securities dealings of Directors

New Disclosures

Co-operative share transactions

DIRECTOR

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 
ACQUIRED

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 

DISPOSED
CONSIDERATION  

$ DATE

–
–
–

Unit transactions

DIRECTOR

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 
ACQUIRED

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 

DISPOSED
CONSIDERATION  

$ DATE

–

Retail Bond transactions 

DIRECTOR

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 
ACQUIRED

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 

DISPOSED CONSIDERATION $ DATE

–

Wholesale Bond transactions 

DIRECTOR

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 
ACQUIRED

NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES 

DISPOSED CONSIDERATION $ DATE

–
–
–

Capital Note transactions

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Subsidiary Company Directors

Assessment Labs Limited:

Canpac International Limited:

Dairy Industry Superannuation Scheme Trustee Limited: 

Fonterra (Delegated Compliance Trading Services) Limited:

Fonterra (International) Limited:

Fonterra (Kotahi) Limited:

Fonterra (Middle East) Limited:

Fonterra (New Zealand) Limited:

Fonterra (North Asia) Limited:

Fonterra Brands (New Zealand) Limited:

Fonterra Commodities Limited:

Fonterra Dairy Solutions Limited:

Fonterra Equities Limited:

Fonterra Farming Ventures Limited:

Fonterra Finance Corporation Limited:

Fonterra Ingredients Limited:

Fonterra LATAM Brands Limited:

Fonterra Limited:

Fonterra PGGRC Limited:

Fonterra TM Limited:

Glencoal Energy Limited:

Kotahi GP Limited: 

Lactanol Limited:

MIH Limited:

Milktest GP Limited:

MyMilk Limited:

New Zealand Dairy Board:

New Zealand Milk (International) Limited:

New Zealand Milk Brands Limited:

NZAgbiz Limited:

RD1 Limited:

SAITL Limited:

Tangshan Dairy Farm (NZ) Limited:

Whareroa Co-Generation Limited:

Anchor Insurance Pte. Limited [Singapore]:

Anmum (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. [Malaysia]:

Australasian Food Holdings Pty. Limited [Australia]:

Bonland Cheese Trading Pty. Limited. [Australia]:

Comercial Dos Alamos S.A. [Chile]:

Comercial Santa Elena S.A. [Chile]:

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Dairy Enterprises (Chile) Limitada [Chile]:

Dairy Partners Americas Brasil Limitada [Brazil]:

Dairy Partners Americas Nordeste-Produtos Alimenticios 
Limitada [Brazil]:

Dairymas (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd [Malaysia]:

Darnum Park Pty. Limited. [Australia]:

Fonterra (Beijing) Farm Management Consulting Company 
Limited [China]:

Fonterra (Brasil) Limitada [Brazil]:

Fonterra (Canada), Inc. [Canada]:

Fonterra (China) Limited [Hong Kong]:

Fonterra (CIS) Limited Liability Company [Russian Federation]1:

Fonterra (Europe) Coöperatie U.A. [Netherlands]:

Fonterra (France) SAS [France]:

Fonterra (Ing.) Limited [Mauritius]:

Fonterra (Japan) Limited [Japan]:

Fonterra (Korea) Limited Liability Company [Korea]:

Fonterra (Logistics) Limited [United Kingdom]:

Fonterra (Mexico) S.A. de C.V. [Mexico]:

Fonterra (SEA) Pte. Ltd. [Singapore]:

Fonterra (Thailand) Limited [Thailand]:

Fonterra (USA) Inc. [United States]:

Fonterra Australia Holding Company Pty. Ltd. [Australia]:

Fonterra Australia Pty. Ltd. [Australia]:

Fonterra Brands (Asia Holdings) Pte. Ltd. [Singapore]:

Fonterra Brands (Australia) Pty. Ltd. [Australia]:

Fonterra Brands (Far East) Limited [Hong Kong]:

Fonterra Brands (Guangzhou) Ltd. [China] (in liquidation):

Fonterra Brands (Hong Kong) Limited [Hong Kong]:

Fonterra Brands (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd [Malaysia]:

Fonterra Brands (New Young) Pte. Ltd. [Singapore]:

Fonterra Brands (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. [Singapore]:

Fonterra Brands (Thailand) Ltd. [Thailand]:

Fonterra Brands (Viet Nam) Company Limited [Vietnam]:

Fonterra Brands Indonesia, PT [Indonesia]:

Fonterra Brands Lanka (Private) Limited [Sri Lanka]:

Fonterra Brands Manufacturing Indonesia, PT [Indonesia]:

Fonterra Brands Myanmar Co. Ltd. [Myanmar]:

Fonterra Brands Phils. Inc. [Philippines]:

Subsidiary Company Directors CONTINUED

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
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Fonterra Chile SpA [Chile]:

Fonterra Commercial Trading (Shanghai) Company Limited [China]:

Fonterra Commercial Trading (Tangshan) Company Limited 
[China] (in liquidation):

Fonterra Egypt Limited [Egypt]:

Fonterra Europe Manufacturing B.V. [Netherlands]:

Fonterra Europe Manufacturing Holding B.V. [Netherlands]:

Fonterra Foodservices (USA), Inc. [United States]:

Fonterra Global Business Services Asia Sdn Bhd [Malaysia]:

Fonterra Hangu (HK) Limited [Hong Kong]:

Fonterra India Private Limited [India]:

Fonterra Ingredients Australia Pty. Ltd. [Australia]:

Fonterra Investments Pty Ltd [Australia]:

Fonterra Milk Australia Pty. Ltd. [Australia]:

Fonterra Tangshan Dairy Farm (HK) Limited [Hong Kong]:

Fonterra Venezuela, S.A. [Venezuela]:

Inversiones Dairy Enterprises S.A. [Chile]:

Key Ingredients, Inc. [United States]:

Kotahi Logistics Australia Pty Limited [Australia]:

Milk Products Holdings (North America) Inc. [United States]:

New Tai Milk Products Co. Ltd. [Taiwan]:

New Zealand Milk (Australasia) Pty. Ltd. [Australia]:

New Zealand Milk (Barbados) Ltd. [Barbados]:

New Zealand Milk (LATAM) Ltd. [Bermuda]:

New Zealand Milk Products (Ethiopia) SC [Ethiopia]:

Newdale Dairies (Private) Limited [Sri Lanka]:

NZMP Fonterra Nigeria Limited [Nigeria]:

Prolesur S.A. [Chile]:

Sociedad Agrícola y Lechera Praderas Australes S.A. 
(“Pradesur”) [Chile]:

Soprole Inversiones SA [Chile]:

Soprole S.A. [Chile]:

Tangshan Fonterra Dairy Farm Limited [China]:

United Milk Tasmania Pty. Limited [Australia]:

Subsidiary Company Directors CONTINUED

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
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Directors’ Indemnity and Insurance Analysis of Shareholding

FCG Largest Recorded Share Holdings¹

NAME NUMBER OF SHARES % OF SHARES

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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Substantial Product Holders

SUBSTANTIAL PRODUCT HOLDERS
NUMBER OF  

VOTING SECURITIES
DATE OF MOST  

RECENT NOTICE

FCG Fonterra Co-operative Shares

FROM-TO  HOLDER COUNT %  HOLDING QUALITY %

Analysis of Capital Note and Retail Bond Holding

FCGHA Capital Notes

FROM-TO
HOLDER  

COUNT %
HOLDING  

QUANTITY %

FCG040 $150 million Retail Bond issue

FROM-TO
HOLDER  

COUNT %
HOLDING  

QUANTITY %

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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FCG050 $100 million Retail Bond issue

FROM-TO
HOLDER  

COUNT %
HOLDING  

QUANTITY %

Current Credit Rating Status

Exchange Rulings and Waivers

NZX Trading Halts

Stock Exchange Listings

FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022
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At Fonterra, people matter - in our workforce, 
in our supply chain, and in the communities 
in which we operate. We believe that everyone 
has value and the right to be treated with 
respect and dignity, regardless of background 
or circumstances.

Our approach to addressing Modern Slavery is 
part of our commitment to human rights.

Peter McBride, Chair

Miles Hurrell, Chief Executive OfficerIsmail & Neil, Te Rapa
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We are a Co-operative formed and owned 
by Aotearoa New Zealand dairy farmers. 
Fonterra farmers sit at the very heart of our 
Co-op, producing the high quality, sustainable 
milk sought by our customers around the 
world. We’re committed to producing dairy 
nutrition in a way that cares for people, 
animals and the environment, and brings 
value to our communities. 

Reporting Entities

–

–

–

Fonterra Structure, 
Operations and 
Supply Chain

FONTERRA MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT 2022 04CONTENTS  FONTERRA STRUCTURE, OPERATIONS AND SUPPLY CHAIN 



Our Supply Chain 

Manufacturing 
sites

48 
28

8

8

4

Revenue1  
($ Million)

22,953 
FY21: 20,565

2,140  

1,726  
4,827 

6,244  

8,016  

Employees  
(FTE)

19,608 
FY21: 19,354

11,992

3,300 

2,225 

654

1,437  

Raw milk collected2  
(million litres)

18,455* 
FY21: 19,295

1,356 

16,402 

661
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Fonterra has been undertaking Human Rights 
Due Diligence for several years and in 2022 built 
on the assessments undertaken in 2020 and 2021 
to better understand our modern slavery risks.

Operational Footprint:

–
–
–
–
–
–

Supply Chain Footprint:

–
–

–

Key modern slavery risk indicators:

–
–
–

–

We have identified the following key modern 
slavery risks: 

–
–

–
–
–
–

Understanding our 
modern slavery risks

Enoch & Woody, Palmerston North
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Assessment of potential modern slavery risks  
across Fonterra’s operational and sourcing activities

Fonterra footprint
Modern Slavery Risk or  
Indicators of Modern Slavery Activities 

–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–

–

–

As at 31 July 2022 we have not identified any specific instances of modern slavery across our value chain.

Key areas of potential risk

On-farm workers

–

–

–

–Blair, Tararua
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Worker exploitation in the Palm Oil 
industry (and PKE sourcing)

Impact of COVID-19 on 
modern slavery risks 

–

–
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Actions to treat 
and mitigate risks 
Our approach to modern slavery is Co-operative-
wide. Outlined below are the global policies, 
programmes and frameworks in place to mitigate 
human rights and modern slavery risks in our 
operations and supply chain. 

Policy Framework

Policy/Code Purpose

Mark, Michelle & Katie, Auckland
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International Union of Food 
(IUF) Obligations

Minimum Labour Standards (ILO Conventions):
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

The Way We Work Code of Conduct 

–

–

–

Supplier Sustainability Code 
of Practice 

–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Lex & Taylor, Crawford Street
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Governance and 
Risk Management

Fonterra's sustainability governance 

Fonterra’s approach to 
Risk Management 

Risk mitigation activities

1. Human Rights Due Diligence

2. Independent evaluation and 
certification of sites

3. Employee training and development 

4. Non-Milk Vendor assessments 

Reporting and monitoring of 
grievance mechanisms 
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Fonterra does not currently have any key 
risk indicators specific to modern slavery. 
We regularly review and assess the effectiveness 
of policies, standards and frameworks as part 
of our risk management framework. We will 
continue to develop and modify our approach 
as we formally identify our risks and implement 
mitigation measures. This will include developing 
metrics that enable us to track the progress 
and effectiveness of our actions over time, as 
we look to continually improve. The impacts of 
COVID-19, combined with supply disruptions 
and more salient risk priorities have delayed 
the development of metrics; however, we are 
looking to develop these over the coming years. 
Quantifiable metrics might include measuring 
access to collective bargaining across our supply 
chain, and grievance mechanisms in place and 
being used. 

Assessing the effectiveness 
of our actions 

Chris & Andrew, Canterbury
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All Fonterra entities operate under a common 
set of governance policies and programmes. This 
includes the programmes through which modern 
slavery risks in both our operations and supply 
chains are assessed and addressed by Fonterra. 
A process of consultation across Fonterra and 
some of our reporting entities was undertaken 
during the Human Rights due diligence process 
which contributed to the identification on 
salient modern slavery risks, and to help with 
the drafting of this statement. This included 
engagement with procurement, food safety and 
quality, third party manufacturing and our Farm 
Source teams. We will look to expand this as we 
continue our Modern Slavery journey.

Consultation and 
looking ahead

–

–

Blair, Tararua
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This statement was prepared to meet our 
Australian regulatory disclosure requirements. 
It complements our existing sustainability 
disclosure on the Fonterra website and in our 
2022 Suite of Reports. The table adjacent 
references where the mandatory criteria 
are disclosed for the Australian Modern 
Slavery Act 2018.

Mandatory criteria Location of information

Identify the reporting entity )

Describe the reporting entity’s structure, 
operations and supply chains ( )

Describe the risks of modern slavery practices in 
the operations and supply chains of the reporting 
entity and any entities it owns or controls

)
)

Describe the actions taken by the reporting 
entity and any entities it owns or controls to 
assess and address these risks, including due 
diligence and remediation

)

)

Describe how the reporting entity assesses the 
effectiveness of these actions

)

Describe the process of consultation with any 
entities the reporting entity owns or controls 

)

Appendix

insightcreative.co.nz  FONTERRA101_MS
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For the season ended 31 May 2022
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2022 Season Farmgate Milk Price

The primary purpose of this Statement is to help Fonterra farmer 
shareholders, unitholders in the Fonterra Shareholders’ Fund and 
other interested parties better understand the Farmgate Milk Price.

The Farmgate Milk Price is the average price paid by Fonterra for 
each kilogram of milk solids (kgMS) supplied by Fonterra’s farmer 
shareholders under Fonterra’s standard terms of supply1. It is 
calculated in accordance with the Farmgate Milk Price Manual 
(the Manual). The Manual is maintained by the Fonterra Board in 
accordance with the Dairy Industry Restructuring Act 2001 (DIRA) 
and the Fonterra Constitution.

$9.30

– divided by

–

–

–

–

– Cash Costs:

– Capital Costs:

– Additional Commodity Milk Payments and Standard Supply 
Adjustments3:

2022 Season Farmgate Milk Price

$9.30 per  
kgMS

Billie, Tararua
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2022 Season Farmgate Milk Price CONTINUED

2022 Season 2021 Season 2020 Season

11.26

(1.40)

(1.30)
7.14

(0.49)

8.93

(1.29)

(0.55)

(0.49)

(0.01)

(0.01)
(0.01)

9.33

7.54

9.30

Net Revenue Cash Costs Capital Costs Farmgate Milk PriceAdditional Commodity Milk Payments
and Standard Supply Adjustments

Figure 1: Changes in the Farmgate Milk Price Between Seasons 
$ per kgMS
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2022 Season Farmgate Milk Price CONTINUED

Table 1: Farmgate Milk Price Summary

SEASON
2022

$ MILLION
2021

$ MILLION
2020

$ MILLION

Net Revenue 16,637 14,366 13,553

Aggregate Farmgate Milk Price 13,746 11,611 10,829

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FARMGATE MILK PRICE STATEMENT
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Farmgate Milk Price Revenue uses a combination of actual Fonterra 
results and key assumptions:

–

–

–

–

Milk Supply, Production and Sales Volumes

–

–

–

Figure 2: Timing of Supply, Production and  
Sales Volumes
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Figure 3: Average Lag Between When Prices 
Were Struck and Shipment
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Farmgate Milk Price Revenue 
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Table 2: Weighted Average USD Contract Price4

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE PRICE 
(USD) PER MT 2022 2021 2020

2022/2021 
% CHANGE

2021/2020 
% CHANGE

Farmgate Milk Price Revenue CONTINUED

Impact of NZD/USD Foreign Exchange Rate Movements 

Table 3: Impact on the Farmgate Milk Price of 
Fonterra’s Hedging, Relative to Not Hedging

SEASON 2022 2021 2020

Impact on Milk Price of hedging, 
relative to not hedging ($ per kgMS)

(0.48) 0.53 (0.38)

Prices

–

–

–

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Figure 4: Foreign Exchange NZD/USD Spot Vs 
Conversion Rate

0.60

0.65

0.70

0.75

Aug-18 Aug-19 Aug-20 Aug-21 Aug-22 Aug-23

Fonterra’s quarterly smoothed
conversion rate

Illustrative future 18 month
hedge profile

NZD/USD spot rate

Farmgate Milk Price Revenue CONTINUED

Lactose

Table 4: Purchased Lactose and Price

SEASON 2022 2021 2020
2022/2021
% CHANGE

2021/2020
% CHANGE
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Farmgate Milk Price Cash Costs 

Farmgate Milk Price Cash Costs reflect:

–

–

–

Figure 5: Sources of Movements in Average Cash Costs 
$ per kgMS

2021
Season

Volume 
Impact

Cost / Price 
Movements

Structural 
Changes

One-Off 2022
Season

1.29

1.40

0.04

0.08 –

(0.01)
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Farmgate Milk Price Cash Costs CONTINUED

Table 5: Summary of Movements in Cash Costs

$ MILLION 20216 VOLUME COST/PRICE STRUCTURAL ONE-OFF 2022
% CHANGE 

COST/PRICE
TOTAL % 
CHANGE

– –

– –

– – –

– –

– –

Total Cash Costs 1,986 (27) 123 – (8) 2,074 6.2% 4.5%

–

Movements between the 2021 and 2022 seasons were due to:

–

–

–

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Farmgate Milk Price Capital Costs

Farmgate Milk Price Capital Costs provide for:

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Table 6: Capital Costs, Book Value of Fixed Asset Base 
and Average Net Working Capital

$ MILLION 2022 2021 2020

WACC % (post-tax) 5.00% 4.90% 5.00%

Total Capital Costs 806 754 746
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Appendix 1: Independent Reasonable Assurance Report
TO THE DIRECTORS OF FONTERRA CO-OPERATIVE GROUP LIMITED

Opinion

–

–

Information subject to assurance

Criteria

Net Sales

–

–

–

Key Assurance Matters

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Appendix 1: Independent Reasonable Assurance Report CONTINUED

Standards we followed

Assurance Engagements other than audits or reviews of historical 
financial information

Assurance Engagements on Compliance

–

–

–

How to interpret reasonable assurance and material 
misstatement and non-compliance

Use of this Assurance Report

Milk Price Group’s responsibility for the Farmgate Milk 
Price and Farmgate Milk Price Statement

Our responsibility

–

–

Our independence and quality control

KPMG 
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Appendix 2: Updates to the Farmgate Milk Price Manual and Calculation

Farmgate Milk Price Manual Updates

Changes in Approach to the Calculation of the 
Farmgate Milk Price

Michael, Kiri & Alan, Rerewhakaaitu
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Appendix 3: Farmgate Milk Price Overview

Rationale for Farmgate Milk Price

–

–

–

–

Rationale for Reference Commodity Products Farmgate Milk Price Governance

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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Appendix 3: Farmgate Milk Price Overview CONTINUED

BOARD MAKES DECISIONS ON THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE MILK PRICE PANEL

2 x Fonterra Board-Appointed  
Directors (one being Chair)

1 x Fonterra Farmer  
Shareholder-Elected Director

2 x Co-operative Council Nominees

1 x Ministerial Nominee

+ 

Farmgate Milk Price Manual

MILK PRICE PANEL

MILK PRICE GROUP

EXTERNAL ADVISORS

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

COMMERCE COMMISSION

EXTERNAL

FONTERRA SENIOR 

MANAGERS

INTERNAL AUDIT

INTERNAL

7 21

6 5

4

3

 Milk Price Panel

–

–

–

1

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
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 External Auditor

 Commerce Commission

 Internal Audit

 Fonterra Senior Managers

4

5

6

7

Appendix 3: Farmgate Milk Price Overview CONTINUED

 Milk Price Group

–

–

–

–

–

 External Advisors

2

3

Stephanie, Waiuku
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Appendix 4: Milk Supplied and Production Volumes

MILK SUPPLIED (MILLION KGMS) PRODUCTION OF FINISHED PRODUCT (000’S MT)

WMP SMP BUTTER AMF BMP TOTAL

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

251 259 250

1,098 1,127 1,145

878 938 934

607 633 581

TOTAL 1,478 1,539 1,517 1,919 2,080 1,921 506 479 561 214 223 221 139 121 150 55 53 58 2,834 2,957 2,911

Appendix 5: Sales Volumes

SHIPMENTS OF FINISHED PRODUCT (000’S MT)

WMP SMP BUTTER AMF BMP TOTAL

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

330 370 379

917 967 1,014

728 788 774

603 741 644

256 90 100

TOTAL 1,919 2,080 1,921 506 479 561 214 223 221 139 121 150 55 53 58 2,834 2,957 2,911
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Appendix 6: Average Number of Months Prior to Shipment that Prices were Struck

AVERAGE NUMBER OF MONTHS PRIOR TO SHIPMENT

WMP SMP BUTTER AMF BMP

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

TOTAL 2.6 3.1 2.7 3.0 3.1 3.0 2.8 3.1 2.9 2.8 2.9 2.7 2.5 2.6 2.6

Appendix 7: Average % of Sales Contracted in Each Month Prior to Shipment

AVERAGE % SALES CONTRACTED IN EACH MONTH PRIOR TO SHIPMENT

WMP SMP BUTTER AMF BMP

NUMBER OF MONTHS 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
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Appendix 8: Average USD Prices

USD / MT OF FINISHED PRODUCT

WMP SMP BUTTER AMF BMP

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICE 4,019 3,323 3,110 3,750 3,012 2,755 5,601 4,117 4,140 6,425 4,792 4,891 3,946 3,194 2,833

FULL SEASON GDT-ONLY PRICES 3,978 3,288 3,069 3,706 2,966 2,719 5,557 4,039 4,108 6,367 4,726 4,835 3,947 3,141 2,758

FONTERRA ANNUAL REVIEW 2022
FARMGATE MILK PRICE STATEMENT 

20CONTENTS



2022 2021 2020

FONTERRA’S AVERAGE 
CONVERSION RATE SPOT EXCHANGE RATE

FONTERRA’S AVERAGE 
CONVERSION RATE SPOT EXCHANGE RATE9

FONTERRA’S AVERAGE 
CONVERSION RATE SPOT EXCHANGE RATE

REVENUE-WEIGHTED ANNUAL AVERAGE 0.6884 0.6616 0.6677 0.7067 0.6638 0.6375

Appendix 9: Average NZD/USD Conversion and Spot Rates
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Glossary

Additional Commodity Milk Payments

Aggregate Farmgate Milk Price

AMF

BMP

Detailed Rules

DIRA

Farmgate Milk Price

Farmgate Milk Price Capital Costs

Farmgate Milk Price Cash Costs

Farmgate Milk Price Manual Manual

Farmgate Milk Price Revenue

Financial year

Fixed Asset Capital Charges

Fonterra

Global Dairy Trade GDT

kgMS

Methodology

Milk Price Principles Principles

MT

Net Working Capital Charges

NZD

Reference Commodity Products RCP
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Standard Supply Adjustments
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Winter Milk

WMP
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Distribution Notice 

Section 1: Issuer information 

Name of issuer Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited 

Financial product name/description Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited Shares 

NZX ticker code FCG 

ISIN (If unknown, check on NZX website) NZFCGE0001S7 

Type of distribution 

(Please mark with an X in the 

relevant box/es) 

Full Year X Quarterly  

Half Year  Special  

DRP applies   

Record date  29/09/2022 

Ex-Date (one business day before the 
Record Date) 

28/09/2022 

Payment date (and allotment date for DRP) 14/10/2022 

Total monies associated with the 
distribution1 

$241,923,838 

Source of distribution (for example, retained 
earnings) 

Retained earnings 

Currency  NZD 

Section 2: Distribution amounts per financial product 

Gross distribution2 $0.15000000 

Gross taxable amount3 $0.15000000 

Total cash distribution4 $0.15000000 

Excluded amount (applicable to listed PIEs) Not Applicable 

Supplementary distribution amount Not Applicable 

 
1 Based on the number of units on issue at the date of the form. 
2 “Gross distribution” is the total cash distribution plus the amount of imputation credits, per financial product, before the deduction of Resident 

Withholding Tax (RWT).   
3 “Gross taxable amount” is the gross distribution minus any excluded income.  
4 “Total cash distribution” is the cash distribution excluding imputation credits, per financial product, before the deduction of RWT.  This should include 

any excluded amounts, where applicable to listed PIEs.  



 
Fonterra Co-operative Group 

 Page 2 
 

Section 3: Imputation credits and Resident Withholding Tax5 

Is the distribution imputed Fully imputed  

Partial imputation  

No imputation  

If fully or partially imputed, please state 
imputation rate as % applied6 

Not Applicable 

Imputation tax credits per financial product  Not Applicable 

Resident Withholding Tax per financial 
product 

0.04950000 

Section 4: Distribution re-investment plan (if applicable) 

DRP % discount (if any) Not Applicable 

Start date and end date for determining 
market price for DRP 

Not Applicable Not Applicable 

Date strike price to be announced (if not 
available at this time) 

Not Applicable 

Specify source of financial products to be 
issued under DRP programme (new issue 
or to be bought on market) 

Not Applicable 

DRP strike price per financial product Not Applicable 

Last date to submit a participation notice for 
this distribution in accordance with DRP 
participation terms 

Not Applicable 

Section 5: Authority for this announcement 

Name of person authorised to make this 
announcement 

Anya Wicks 

Contact person for this announcement Anya Wicks 

Contact phone number (09) 374 9341 

Contact email address Anya.Wicks@fonterra.com 

Date of release through MAP 22/09/2022 

 

 

 
5 The imputation credits plus the RWT amount is 33% of the gross taxable amount for the purposes of this form.  If the distribution is fully imputed the 

imputation credits will be 28% of the gross taxable amount with remaining 5% being RWT. This does not constitute advice as to whether or not RWT 
needs to be withheld.  

6 Calculated as (imputation credits/gross taxable amount) x 100. Fully imputed dividends will be 28% as a % rate applied. 
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